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“DIPLOMATIC ASSURANCES” ON TORTURE: A
CASE STUDY OF WHY SOME ARE ACCEPTED
AND OTHERS REJECTED

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 15, 2007

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS,
HumMmAN RIGHTS, AND OVERSIGHT,
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 3:22 p.m. in room
2337, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Bill Delahunt (chair-
man of the subcommittee) presiding.

Mr. DELAHUNT. The Subcommittee on Oversight will come to
order.

First, let me apologize for our delay. But as I am sure many are
aware that we have been having votes on the floor, as well as a
moment to wish Dennis Hastert, the former Speaker of the House,
a fond farewell. Let me begin.

Protecting America’s borders is a matter of great concern to the
American people. Both Republicans and Democrats have expressed
alarm about the possibility that terrorists could penetrate our bor-
ders as they did on 9/11.

It turns out that this concern is not unwarranted, because in
April 2005 an individual illegally entered the United States. He
has a reputation as a notorious terrorist known to law enforcement
not only in this country, but throughout the hemisphere. He has
a well-documented history of violence. Many believe that he was a
mastermind, the intellectual author of the destruction of a civilian
airliner with 73 innocent people on board.

Curiously, he did not go immediately underground to become
part of some sleeper cell or otherwise hide his identity, though it
was widely reported that he had entered the United States ille-
gally; and his lawyer announced that he was requesting political
asylum. I sent a letter to the Department of Justice requesting that
media reports of his presence be investigated, and without objec-
tion, I will enter that into the record of the hearing.

[The information referred to follows:]
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INTERNATH ONS

WILLIAM D, DELAHUNT

TENTH DETRIC sEvT:

Cangress of the nited States
%}ﬁﬂgg of }:\gpgcggntarmgg COMMITTEE C'\l(“—:h JUHUARY
Washington, DL 2051532110

May 4, 2005

The Honorable Alberto Gonzales
Attorney General of the United States
Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530-0001

Dear General Gonzales:

After the horrific terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, President Bush put the world on
notice: “Either you are with us, or you are with the terrorists.”

Last month, a self~confessed foreign terrorist announced through his lawyer that he is in
the United States and is seeking political asylum. As our nation’s chief law enforcement
officer, I respectfully request that you make clear that the United States will never be a
refuge for any terrovist.

Luis Posada Carriles is a Venezuelan citizen of Cuban origin who, after taking part in the
failed Bay of Pigs invasion, devoted his life to violent opposition to the regime of T'idel
Castro, The crimes with which he has been associated include: kifling 73 people,
including a number of teenagers on the national fencing team, by blowing up a civilian
Cuban airliner in 1976; escaping from a Venezuelan jail in 1985 while facing charges in
that bombing; masterminding a series of attacks in Cuba in 1997 that killed an Ttalian and
wounded several other non-combatants; and endangering public safety while planning
Castro’s assassination during a regional surmmit in 2000.

If such a dangerous terrorist has entered the US and remained free for nearly a month, it
demonstrates a failure of our nation’s ability to detect and respond to threats ~ and a
sertous breach in our homeland security.

According to the Associated Fress {5/3/03) Assistant Secretary of State for the Western
Hemisphere Roger Noticga declared that the US “has no interest in giving quarter to
someone who has committed criminal acts;”™ at the same time, however, Noriega denied
the claims of Posada’s lawyer that the fugitive is in Florida, saying “T don’t even know if
he [Posada] is in the United States.”



To my knowledge, however, there has been no official declaration from the Deparlment
of Justice that it is trying to determine if this terrorist is actuaily in the US; that he is
wnwelcome here; and that, if he i3 actually here, he will be immediately detained and
deported. [ suggest an official announcement to that effect be made forthwith.

The war on tervor depends on multilateral cooperation and collaboration. We put that at
serfous risk il we remain officially silent. Any reservation on our part with regard to a
particular terrorist threatens to undermine the fundamental credibility of our global effort,
There arc mounds of histerical evidence — reportedly including US intelligence memos —
that link Posada to numerous terrorist incidents. But he is an anti-Castro Cuban — not an
Arab or Muslitn. Two other notorious terrorists, Orlando Bosch and Ermmanuel
Constant, already enjoy refuge in the US. Like Posada, their violence was directed
against foreign nationals (Cubans and Haitians, respectively) whose leaders were reviled
by this Administration. And, like Posada, they are neither Arab nor Muslim.

Unfortunately, for many around the world, the inference could be made that the lack of
clarity about Posada’s purported presence in the US derives from the fact that the target
of his acts of violence was Fidel Castro — and that Posada is not an Arab or Muslim.

The disparity between our rhetoric and the Justice Department’s lack of action regarding
Posada’s possible presence is made all the more glaring by Monday's announced increase
— which, according to published news reports, vou personally approved ~ in the reward
for the capture ol Joanne Chesimard, whom FBI officials have labeled a “domestic
terronst.” Chesimard was convicted in 1977 of murdering a New Jersey State Trooper,
but was broken out of prison in 1979. Ironicaily, she received political asylum in Cuba in
1984, whose government the State Department harshly criticized last week for providing
“safe-haven to terrorists,” specifically citing her case as an cxample.

We should forthrightly reaffirm that our war on terror applies to afl terrorists. f we
exempt certain terrorists from prosecution because we have political differences with
their targets, then we play right into the hands of al Qaeda and the insurgents in Iraq —
who, like Posada and his defenders, justily their violence by arguing that “one man’s
terrorist is another man’s freedom lighter.”

The President was crystal clear after September 11, That clarity has now been shaken by
the assertion that Posada could cross our border unimpeded — and that we are doing little
to determine whether that, in fact, is the case. Just last month, the Vice President
acknowledged that we are losing the public diplomacy portion of the war on terror; and
the White House cxplicitly elevated that mission, which I support. 1 respectfully observe
that our adversarics and allics alike will assess our seriousness more by what we do than
what we say.

In my capacity as the Ranking Member on the Oversight and Investigations
Subcommitiee of the House International Relations Committee, [ have already asked our
panel’s leaders to undertake a formal investigation int this matter. But, since I also



serve on the House Tudiciary Committee, | am mindfid of the responsibilities of the
Justice Department in the war against terrorism.

To that end, [ respectfully request your answers to the following questions:

1) Has an investigation been initiated to determine if Posada is actually in the US?
If one has been initiated, by what agency is it being conducted? If one has not
been initiated, please explain why not, and who made that determination.

2) If an investigation has been initiated, but his location nevertheless remains
unclear, are you increasing the personnel and resources available to the inquiry, in
order to more quickly determine whether he is in this country?

3) Ifhis location is clear, why has he not yel been arrested or detained?

4) Have plans been made to detain him?

5) Have plans heen made to deport him if he is detained?

6) if no plans have been made to deport him if he is detained, will we respect all of
our bilateral treaties regarding exwadition?

7) Is it possible that Posada has been assisted, both in entering the US and during his
stay here, by people under US jurisdiction, including permanent residents or US
citizens?

8) Tsit not a crime to provide linancial and material assistance to terrorists?

9} Da you plan to investigate whether Posada has received such assistance?

10)1f it is determined that he has been assisted by people under US jurisdiction, do
you plan to arrgst and prosecute them? If you do not intend to take any action,
please explain why.

The answers to these questions are critical © a clear understanding of what your
Department is doing regarding the Posada casc — and to ensuring our nation’s continued
credibility in the war on terrorism.

T would appreciate the courtesy of a prompt written response. Please feel fiee to contact
me or my staff at (202) 223-3111 with any questions or for more information. Thank you.

Singgerel
Tl fi

V\ illiam D. Delahum

CC: The Honorable Robert S. Mueller, Director, Federal Bureau of Investigation
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Mr. DELAHUNT. But it turned out to be unnecessary because he
called another press conference. But this was too much even for
this administration. They were forced to arrest him.

His name is Luis Posada Carriles. Compelling evidence exists im-
plicating Posada in the worst single act of international terrorism
in this hemisphere prior to 9/11, the bombing of Cubana Air Flight
Number 455 on October 6, 1976. After two explosions that flight
sank into the sea. There were no survivors.

The victims included Cuban teenagers celebrating their success
in an international athletic competition, as well as high school
graduates from Guyana who had won full scholarships to medical
schools in Cuba. And today we will hear from Roseanne Nenninger,
whose brother was one of those victims. We will hear about the
nightmare that she has endured for the past 31 years.

The evidence of his guilt is substantial. It includes declassified
FBI and CIA documents that link him to the bombing. One of our
witnesses, Peter Kornbluh, will present some of those declassified
documents as part of his testimony.

Not surprisingly, the FBI has determined that Luis Posada
Carriles is a threat to our national security. The Justice Depart-
ment’s own filings in a Federal Court describe him—and this is
their language—as “an unrepentant criminal and admitted master-
mind of terrorist plots and attacks.” But when the Bush adminis-
tration finally apprehended Mr. Posada, incredibly they brought a
charge against him that would have resulted in a maximum sen-
tence of 6 to 12 months under the U.S. sentencing guidelines, a
case that has proven to be an embarrassment and earned a stain-
ing rebuke from a Federal judge who dismissed the case noting
that he had already been detained for over a year.

It is vitally important to understand that pursuant to a provision
in the PATRIOT Act, the Attorney General could have, and should
have in my opinion, designated Posada as a terrorist and detained
him based on the government’s own abundant evidence. I found
this lack of action so egregious that I sent a letter to Attorney Gen-
eral Gonzalez asking why the PATRIOT Act was not invoked. The
response was a resounding silence.

I am bewildered by this reaction. After all, this is the administra-
tion that has repeatedly vowed to give no quarter to terrorists and
has condemned those nations that do. It was President Bush him-
self who proclaimed that if you harbor terrorists, then you are a
terrorist. This administration claims to be unrelenting in its pur-
suit of terrorists, except perhaps in the case of Luis Posada
Carriles.

The fact that they did not pursue their authority under the PA-
TRIOT Act is not the end of the story. The administration has not
even formally responded to a request for Posada’s extradition by
the Venezuelan Government with whom we have a legally binding
extradition treaty. When Posada’s lawyers argued that he might
face torture if sent to Venezuela, the administration failed to seek
so-called “diplomatic assurances” that he would not be tortured.
And yet when Venezuelan officials publicly provided assurances
that he would be treated humanely and not rendered to Cuba, the
administration’s response was, once more, silence.
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However, the administration has repeatedly accepted “diplomatic
assurances” from countries that are known to practice torture. Last
month, this subcommittee heard that the Bush administration ac-
cepted such assurances from the Government of Syria, that our
own State Department routinely identifies as practicing torture.

They did this in the case of a Canadian national by the name of
Maher Arar, who was rendered to Syria from JFK Airport over his
objections and without notifying the Canadian Government. It
should be noted that an independent inquiry in Canada established
his innocence and the Prime Minister personally apologized. And
yet, for that hearing we had to have Mr. Arar testify by video-
conference because he is still not allowed to enter this country.

Meanwhile, Luis Posada Carriles is comfortably and openly liv-
ing in Miami. Just recently, he was lionized as an artist, whose
paintings were proudly displayed at the Fontainebleau in Miami,
and the affair was covered in the local press. It is clear that Luis
Posada has not hidden himself in obscurity because he hasn’t been
the terrorist needle in the haystack whom the United States Gov-
ernment had to hunt down. No, he is the haystack flaunting his
presence in this country. And we wonder why our prestige and
credibility have fallen. When testifying before the 9/11 Commission,
then-National Security Adviser Condoleezza Rice said the fol-
lowing:

“Terrorism is terrorism is terrorism. We don’t make a distinc-
tion between different kinds of terrorism. Terrorism is never
appropriate. It is never a justified response just because of po-
litical difficulties and differences.”

Those are noble words. Ones that I think we all embrace. But the
presence of Luis Posada Carriles in this country casts such noble
words into question. If we wish to claim the mantle of moral au-
thority that sets us apart among the family of nations, America
cannot have two rules for terrorists. There are no good terrorists
or bad terrorists; there are just simply terrorists.

This case offers an opportunity for some self-reflection. We must
insist on answers about the disparity of treatment provided him on
one hand and to Maher Arar on the other, in order to restore our
credibility and improve our security.

That is my intention. This will be the first in a series of hearings
to achieve that goal. We must demonstrate that we apply our laws
fully and equally without regard to political ideology if we want to
ensure international cooperation regarding terrorism. And with
that, I yield to my distinguished ranking member and friend, my
colleague from California, Mr. Rohrabacher.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And this is going
to be a hearing in which I am going to make sure that I learn a
lot from this hearing, and I appreciate your calling this hearing.

Let me just say from the start, targeting and killing of innocent
civilians in order to achieve some political objective is totally unac-
ceptable under any context. If the subject of our hearing today,
Luis Posada Carriles, is guilty of blowing up a civilian airliner or
any other civilian target to achieve whatever his political ends
were, he deserves the same treatment as any other terrorist in the
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world. And as you are aware, I am not someone who believes that
terrorists should be treated lightly.

In today’s hearing we will hear all about one of our witnesses—
in today’s hearing we will hear all but one of our witnesses who
will be adamantly against Mr. Posada. They believe that he is
guilty of a major crime against these people who were the victims
and, thus, a crime against humanity—so, all of our witnesses ex-
cept for one.

But it is important that we hear what they have to say, as well
as those people on the other side of the case. And we have a wit-
ness on the other side of the case as well. So those people who are
testifying and do so adamantly and aggressively, I am certainly
going to listen carefully to the specific points they have to make;
and I think everyone should. We do not have necessarily an equal
balance, but we will have someone on the other side.

Luckily, we were able to scramble and locate Mr. Posada’s de-
fense attorney. And at very short notice he came here today in
order to make sure that we had both sides of this issue. And I real-
1ydwould like to express my appreciation to him for joining us
today.

Let me just note that as we hear these witnesses, I will suggest
that I and, I would hope, everyone on this committee has an open
mind and listens carefully. The story of Mr. Posada is a long and,
yes, a complex story. What he is accused of is not complex, whether
or not he was engaged in the murder of innocent civilians in order
to further a political agenda.

Let us note, he was a valuable asset to the CIA during some of
the most dangerous years in our country’s history, a time when the
Soviets were using Castro’s Cuba as a base to destroy America, at
one point stationing missiles there that would have threatened tens
of millions of American lives. Mr. Posada Posada helped us defeat
those efforts.

Later, in the 1980s, Mr. Posada helped the United States in Cen-
tral America at a time when the Soviet Union had invested billions
of dollars of military equipment into Nicaragua and into other Cen-
tral American countries in order to spread their brand of Marxist-
Leninism dictatorship.

What is the question today, however, is whether or not Mr. Po-
sada—during his tenure of helping the United States fight com-
munism in those days, whether or not he crossed the line and tar-
geted and killed innocent civilians. That is the issue at hand today.
If he did, you are satisfied that he did, he should be treated like
any other murderer and terrorist. More witnesses today will say
that is what he did, he crossed the line and he murdered this large
number of civilians.

In the first and only trial held in the matter, a Venezuelan mili-
tary tribunal—which in itself, of course, leads to question—acquit-
ted Mr. Posada of this crime. However, 8 years later in a Ven-
ezuelan prison, while he was awaiting retrial, Mr. Posada escaped,
and since then the matter has gone unresolved.

Mr. Chairman, I do not know if this man is guilty or innocent.
If he is guilty of bombing the Cubana Airlines flight, he should be
subject to the same consequences of any other terrorist in any
other murder. And while the Communist regimes in Cuba and the
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dictatorship that seems to be emerging in Venezuela uses this case
as an attempt to embarrass our country and as propaganda against
us, I know that what we have to do is what is right no matter
where this comes down.

Our greatest defense is that we are trying to do what is truthful
and right. And I know that this hearing is intended to help us de-
termine what the truth is and what the right course of action is.
I look forward to hearing the witnesses and making my determina-
tion with an open mind.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Mr. Rohrabacher, for a very thought-
ful statement.

Mr. Carnahan.

Mr. CARNAHAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Ranking Member
Rohrabacher. I too look forward to hearing the testimony of the
witnesses today.

I would just ask unanimous consent to put my opening remarks
in the record so we can get on to hearing the panel today. I think
the chairman and ranking member framed the issues well, and I
look forward to hearing the testimony.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Without objection so ordered.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Carnahan follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE RUSS CARNAHAN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF MISSOURI

Mr. Chairman, thank you for hosting this hearing to examine the case of Luis Po-
sada Carriles and its relevance regarding diplomatic assurances on torture.

The account of Mr. Posada as an anti-Castro activist trained in the United States
is a story with a sordid past. The image of Mr. Posada as either a freedom fighter
or a terrorist depends on what side of the issue you are standing. From the written
testimony of Ms. Nenninger, who lost her brother, Raymond, in the 1976 bombing
of a Cuban airliner, Mr. Posada is a terrorist. Others have labeled him as an activ-
ist fighting to bring about change in communist Cuba.

This case is a prime example of the double standards the Administration has ap-
plied to this alleged “war on terror.” A few weeks ago, the Foreign Affairs Com-
mittee heard from Maher Arar, a Canadian citizen who was detained by the United
Stated government and sent to Syria for alleged ties to terror—which have proven
to be totally false. The Administration refuses to neither acknowledge any wrong
doing in the handling of his case nor apologize to Mr. Arar. Mr. Posada represents
the flip side of this coin. Mr. Posada was trained here in the United States and had
served as a C.I.A. operative in the past. He has a know history of violence and re-
peated requests from the Venezuelan government for his extradition have gone un-
answered.

As we try to reengage in diplomatic relations with other countries, we need to
hold ourselves to the high standard that we project. If we expect other countries to
co:)iperate engage us diplomatically, we must hold ourselves to these same stand-
ards.

I am eager to hear our witnesses’ evaluations of Mr. Posada’s case. Thank you
for taking the time out of your busy schedules to appear before us today. I look for-
ward to hearing your testimonies.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me first go—I want to acknowledge the pres-
ence of the ranking member of the Subcommittee on the Western
Hemisphere, the gentleman from Indiana, Mr. Dan Burton, and I
will ask him if he wishes to make any opening remarks. But I
think I should—because of protocol, the rules of this subcommittee,
which we adhere to meticulously, I should first go to the gentleman
from Arizona to determine whether he wishes to make any opening
remarks, Mr. Jeff Flake.



9

Mr. FLAKE. I just want to say thank you, Mr. Chairman, for hold-
ing this hearing. I look forward to hearing the witnesses.

This is something that has long troubled me. If we are going to
have any moral standing in the world, we need to make sure that
we deal forthrightly with those who are accused of terrorist activi-
ties, just like anybody else, no matter what the politics involved.
So this is an important hearing. I thank the chair.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Burton.

Mr. BURTON. Mr. Chairman, I don’t have any opening remarks.
I think that the statements that you made and Mr. Rohrabacher
made were very comprehensive and don’t need any additional com-
ments.

But I would just like to ask when we—and I am not a member
of this subcommittee. But as a member of the full committee, there
is a policy that is not a rule, but to let the minority know when
there are new witnesses being asked to testify. And I understand
some of these witnesses were called at the last minute. I would just
like to ask, in the future, if it would be possible to give us a little
more notice.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Of course, Mr. Burton.

Mr. BURTON. Thank you, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me begin by introducing our witnesses. And
I will begin first with Attorney Arturo Hernandez.

Welcome, Mr. Hernandez.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. DELAHUNT. He graduated—I am going to give your resume
out here

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Be my guest.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Take this opportunity for some free publicity.

He graduated from the University of Florida in 1977. He entered
graduate school at the University of Miami, and secured his mas-
ter’s degree, and then went to law school at the Broad Sheppard
School of Law, Nova University in Fort Lauderdale. He received his
juris doctor degree in 1980. In the same year, he was hired by Ben-
net Brummer, Dade County Public Defenders Office, for the 11th
Judicial District of Florida.

The initiation of his career as a public assistant defender coin-
cided with the “Mariel Boat Lift” that resulted in a mass sea bound
exodus from Cuba of over 150,000 Cubans to the south Florida
area. As a result of the unexpected influx of migrants and concomi-
tant increase in all types of crimes, young public defenders were
quickly promoted up the ranks in order to address the increased
felony case load. Mr. Hernandez was one of those and he quickly
distinguished himself as one of the most aggressive and caring as-
sistant public defenders.

From 1980 to 1983, Mr. Hernandez took to trial many serious
cases, including capital, first and second degree murder cases,
many of which resulted in acquittals. By 1983, Mr. Hernandez was
recognized as one of the up-and-coming trial lawyers in the Miami-
Dade County area.

In 1983, he ended his career as an assistant public defender and
entered private practice. He quickly distinguished himself in the
private sector, obtaining important acquittals in the cases of
United States v. Jorge Valdez; United States v. Habibe, one of the
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largest drug and money laundering conspiracies in U.S. history;
United States v. Humberto Hernandez, a former Miami commis-
sioner; and more recently, United States v. Santiago Alvarez,
wherein he represented a prominent Cuban American developer
charged with conspiracy to possess illegal firearms.

In addition to the above, he has been tapped to be the lead coun-
sel in several high-profile Federal indictments around the country.
He is lead counsel in Riverside, California, in a Federal indictment
charging possession of the largest private gun caché in the history
of the United States.

And in early 2007, Mr. Hernandez scored a victory of seemingly
epic proportions in the case of United States v. Luis Posada
Carriles, a case which I referred to in my opening remarks, which
he describes as a politically charged and internationally renowned
case in which he succeeded in getting the government’s indictment
against the lifetime Cuban exile militant dismissed.

After more than 100 trials and 27 years of the practice of law,
Mr. Hernandez is regarded by his colleagues as a top criminal de-
fense attorney. He has received the highest rating by Martindale
& Hubbell and is a member in good standing of the Florida bar,
NACDL and FACDL, and the Cuban American Bar Association—
and those are prominent criminal defense counsel associations.

So welcome, Mr. Hernandez.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Thank you. It is a pleasure to be here, Mr.
Chairman.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And before you proceed, I am going to introduce
Mr. Blake Fleetwood.

Mr. Fleetwood was formerly on the staff of the New York Times
and has written for the New York Times magazine, New Yorker
Magazine, the New York Daily News, the Wall Street Journal, USA
Today, the Village Voice, Atlantic and the Washington Monthly on
a number of issues.

He was born in Santiago, Chile, and moved to New York City at
the age of 3. He graduated from Bard College and did graduate
work in political science and comparative politics at Columbia. He
also has taught politics at NYU.

Welcome, Mr. Fleetwood.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Thank you. I am pleased to be here.

M(Il‘ DELAHUNT. And why don’t we proceed with you, Mr. Her-
nandez.

STATEMENT OF MR. ARTURO V. HERNANDEZ,
ATTORNEY-AT-LAW

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Members of the subcommittee, as Chairman
Delahunt has just indicated, my name is Arturo V. Hernandez.
Thank you so much for this invitation and opportunity to address
you on the important issues that comprise the focus of this hearing.

I appear before you today in order to present a needed counter-
balance to the rhetoric and misinformation—often, misinforma-
tion—that has emanated from Cuba and Venezuela and their aco-
Iytes in our own country on the subject of my client, Luis Posada
Carriles.

As you may be aware, I am an attorney who specializes in Fed-
eral criminal defense. It was in that capacity that I came to be in-
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volved as lead counsel in the defense of Luis Posada Carriles. He
was charged by indictment in El Paso, Texas, in a seven-count in-
dictment alleging, in sum and substance, that he had made false
statements during the course of his application for naturalization.

After 5 months of litigation and on the eve of trial, United States
District Court Judge, the Honorable Kathleen Cardone, dismissed
all charges against him. In dismissing all charges against him, the
court stated, and I quote:

“This Court will not set aside rights, nor overlook government
misconduct because the defendant is a political hot potato. This
Court’s concern is not politics; it is the preservation of criminal
justice.”

As a result of the judge’s ruling, Mr. Posada Carriles was condi-
tionally released back to his community in Miami, Florida. This en-
tire matter is now under appeal by the government and is before
the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals that sits in New Orleans, Lou-
isiana. Today, Mr. Posada lives quietly in Miami, Florida, awaiting
the conclusion of the appellate process, where he is joined by his
wife, his children and his grandchildren, all of whom are United
States citizens for many years.

Members of the subcommittee, Mr. Posada Carriles is now al-
most 80 years old. His is the story of a man’s singular mission to
combat Castro’s violent revolutionary communism in all its mani-
festations and permutations wherever it has reared its ugly head
and at whatever personal cost to him. His individual struggle
against communism was in a very real sense the often unobserved
struggle of our own hemisphere to avoid the Sovietization of Latin
America as part of the great ideological and strategic contest be-
tween the United States and the Soviet Union that we all know as
the “Cold War.”

Mr. Posada Carriles, who, I remind the committee, served as a
second lieutenant in the United States Army and volunteered to
fight in Vietnam for this country, was a valiant soldier in that Cold
War on behalf of the interests of the United States and Venezuela
during the decades of the 1960s through and including the 1980s.
And it is no exaggeration today to suggest that more than just a
few South American and Central American countries owe their de-
mocracies to the sacrifices incurred by men and women such as Mr.
Posada Carriles.

It is a point of incredible historical irony that a terrorist nation
such as Cuba that systematically has trained and armed entire ar-
mies of terrorists over four decades, resulting in the deaths of hun-
dreds of thousands of innocent civilians in our hemisphere, should
now be heard on the international stage accusing Mr. Posada
Carriles of being a terrorist and the United States of hypocrisy in
the war on terror.

These voices over and over again repeat the accusation that Mr.
Posada Carriles was involved in the downing of the Cubana Air-
liner Flight 455 over the ocean near Barbados in the year 1976.
But the true facts of this tragedy, however, refute their contention.
No American jury would convict Mr. Posada Carriles on these facts.
The forensic evidence alone proves that he is innocent, the metal
shards found embedded in the bodies of the victims showed that
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the explosion came from the cargo hold, a secure area of the air-
craft that Mr. Posada Carriles, or anyone on his behalf, would not
have had access to and not from, as the prosecution contended,
from the bathroom area.

Forensic examinations were secretly conducted at the behest of
the countries of Trinidad and Venezuela by a British Government
laboratory by the name of “Lararde”—which is an acronym for
Royal British Forensic Examinations Laboratory; in other words, it
is a function of the British Government—and a forensic expert
from England by the name of Eric Newton, who performed tests on
whatever evidence was left from the bombing. Both failed to con-
firm the chemical signature of the explosives that the prosecution
contended had come from the bathroom.

Those are just some of the multiple reasons why a Venezuelan
military tribunal, after a full trial and over 3 years of investigation
acquitted Mr. Posada Carriles of all charges. It is further the rea-
son why, after a seemingly endless round of reviews, the Ven-
ezuelan civilian prosecutors recommended that the verdict of ac-
quittal that had been entered into as a result of the military tribu-
nal’s 4 years of examination be affirmed.

Despite this recommendation, and purely for political reasons to
appease Fidel Castro, Mr. Posada Carriles was not released from
custody and served an additional 8 years of prison waiting for the
court’s endless reviews to conclude. When it became apparent to
him that the legal process in Venezuela was being subverted by the
influence of international considerations, primarily pro-Castro ele-
ments within the Government of Venezuela, he decided to escape
from prison.

In the final analysis, the historical record is clear, Cuba has
stood for years as a poisonous dagger aimed at the side of the
United States. Mr. Posada Carriles, as an ally of the United States,
does not deny that he confronted Cuban-trained and rebel
insurgencies in Venezuela and in other countries in defense of their
democracies. It would be unfair, we submit, years after the collapse
of the Soviet Union, to look back now and sort piecemeal through
the events of those decades, the decades of the Cold War, and iso-
late persons and events without respect to the times in which they
occurred.

Members of the committee, there is always the danger that in a
time of war against terrorism, the moniker of “terrorist” can be-
come so flexible that it loses all meaning. Mr. Posada Carriles is
not and has never been a terrorist. His lifelong ambition has been
to bring democracy and freedom to his place of birth, Cuba. He has
been, throughout his life, a staunch ally of the United States. To
many in the Cuban American community he is a hero. He is now
simply an old man who tried to do his duty as he best saw that
duty and to live out the remaining days of his life in peace.

What may not reasonably be denied is that Cuba and Venezuela
are purposefully manipulating the case of Mr. Posada Carriles as
an instrument of their own foreign policy that seeks to undermine
our legitimate goal of eradicating terrorism. Their desire, I assure
you, is not to seek justice against an accused terrorist, but rather
to satisfy a base need to retaliate against a hated enemy. Cuba’s
Government and, increasingly, the Government of Venezuela, an-
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swer to no law, domestic or international, or any convention or
treaty. They respond only to the will of its dictators.

There is no doubt, members of the subcommittee, that neither
Cuba nor Venezuela would hesitate to torture and kill Mr. Posada
Carriles if he were ever to fall into their hands. That is why, after
a full evidentiary hearing before a United States Immigration
Judge, the court determined that Mr. Posada Carriles was a remov-
able alien, but ruled that he could not be removed to either Ven-
ezuela or Cuba because of the likelihood that this 80-year-old man
would be subjected to torture and certain death.

The great scientist Galileo once observed that to accuse a man
of heresy is simple; all you need is a tongue. There have been no
shortages of tongues in the case of Luis Posada Carriles. But what
there has not been is credible evidence of wrongdoing. Most of the
allegations found in the declassified materials that you will hear
about today are over three to four decades old and are based on du-
bious double hearsay from unidentified sources.

The truth of the matter is—the truth of the matter is that Mr.
Posada Carriles does not represent a threat to anyone, but he espe-
cially does not represent a threat to the United States, a country
that he loves and has sought to protect throughout his entire life.

Thank you, members of the subcommittee.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hernandez follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MR. ARTURO V. HERNANDEZ, ATTORNEY-AT-LAW

Members of the subcommittee, my name is Arturo V. Hernandez, thank you for
this invitation and opportunity to address you on the important issues that comprise
the focus of this hearing. I appear before you today in order to present a needed
counter balance to the rhetoric and misinformation that has emanated from Cuba
and Venezuela and their acolytes in our country on the subject of my client, Luis
Posada Carriles. As you may be aware, I am an attorney who specializes in federal
criminal defense. It was in that capacity that I came to be involved as lead counsel
in the defense of Luis Posada Carriles. He was charged by indictment in El Paso,
Texas, in a seven count indictment alleging, in sum and substance, that he had
made false statements during the course of his application for naturalization. After
five months of litigation, and on the eve of trial, United States District Court Judge,
the Honorable Kathleen Cardone, dismissed all charges against him.

In dismissing all charges against him the Court stated: “. . . . this Court will not
set aside such rights, nor overlook Government misconduct because Defendant is a
political hot potato. This Court’s concern is not politics; it is the preservation of
criminal justice.”

As a result of the Judge’s ruling, Mr. Posada Carriles was conditionally released
back to his community in Miami, Florida. This entire matter is now under appeal
by the Government and is before the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. Today Mr. Po-
sada lives quietly in Miami, Florida, awaiting the conclusion of the appellate proc-
ess, where he is joined by his wife, his children and grand children, all of whom
are United States Citizens for many years.

Members of the subcommittee, Mr. Posada Carriles is now almost 80 years old.
His is the story of a man’s singular mission to combat Castro’s violent revolutionary
communism in all its manifestations and permutations wherever it has reared its
ugly head and at whatever personal cost to him. His individual struggle against
communism was in a very real sense the often unobserved struggle of our hemi-
sphere to avoid the sovietization of Latin America as part of the great ideological
and strategic contest between the United States and the Soviet Union known as the
“Cold War.” Mr. Posada Carriles, who served as a second lieutenant in the US Army
and volunteered to fight in Vietnam, was a valiant soldier in the Cold War on behalf
of the interests of the United States and Venezuela during the decades of the 1960’s
through the 1980’s, and , it is no exaggeration to suggest that more than a few
South American and Central American countries owe their democracies to the sac-
rifices incurred by men and women such as Mr. Posada Carriles.
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It is a point of historical irony that a terrorist nation such as Cuba that system-
atically trained and armed entire armies of terrorist over four decades resulting in
the deaths of hundreds of thousands of innocent civilians, should now be heard on
the international stage accusing Mr. Posada Carriles of being a terrorist and the
United States of hypocrisy in the war on terror.

These voices over and over again repeat the accusation that Mr. Posada Carriles
was involved in the downing of the Cubana Airliner flight 455 over the ocean near
Barbados in 1976. The true facts of this tragedy, however, refute their contention.
No American jury would convict Mr. Posada Carriles on these facts. The forensic
evidence alone proves that he is innocent. The metal chards found imbedded in the
bodies of the victims, showed that the explosion came from the cargo hold, a secure
area of the aircraft that Mr. Posada Carriles would not have had access to, and not
from the bathroom area as the prosecution contended during the trial.

Forensic examinations conducted by British Government laboratory “Lararde,”
and a forensic expert named Eric Newton, failed to confirm the chemical signature
of the explosives the prosecution contended had come from the bathroom.

Those are just some of the multiple reasons why a Venezuelan military tribunal
after a full trial and over three years of investigation, acquitted Mr. Posada Carriles
of all charges. It is further the reason why, after a seemingly endless round of re-
views, the Venezuelan civilian prosecutors recommended that the verdict of acquit-
tal be affirmed. Despite this recommendation, Mr. Posada Carriles was not released
from custody and served nine years of prison waiting for the Court’s reviews to con-
clude. When it became apparent to him that the legal process was being subverted
by the influence of pro Castro elements within the government of Venezuela, he de-
cided to escape from prison.

In the final analysis, the historical record is clear that Cuba has stood for years
as a poisonous dagger aimed at the side of the United States. Mr. Posada Carriles,
as an ally of the United States, does not deny that he confronted Cuban rebel
insurgencies in Venezuela and in other countries in defense of their democracies.
It would be unfair, years after the collapse of the Soviet Union, to look back now
and sort piecemeal through the events of those decades, the decades of the cold war,
and isolate persons and events without respect to the times in which they occurred.

There is always the danger that in a time of war against terrorism that the mon-
iker of “terrorist” can become so flexible that it loses all meaning. Mr. Posada
Carriles is not and has never been a terrorist. His life long ambition has been to
bring democracy and freedom to his place of birth, Cuba. He has been throughout
his life a staunch ally of the United States. To many in the Cuban American com-
munity he is a hero. He is now simply an old man, who tried to do his duty, as
he best saw that duty, and to live out the remaining days of his life in peace.

What may not reasonably be denied is that Cuba and Venezuela are purposely
manipulating the case of Mr. Posada Carriles, as an instrument of their foreign pol-
icy that seeks to undermine the legitimate goal of the eradication of terrorism. Their
desire is not to seek justice against an accused terrorist, but rather to satisfy a base
need to retaliate against a hated enemy. Cuba’s government, and increasingly the
government of Venezuela, answer to no law, domestic or international, or any con-
vention or treaty. They respond only to the will of its dictators. There is no doubt,
members of the subcommittee, that neither Cuba or Venezuela would hesitate to
torture and kill Mr. Posada Carriles if he were ever to fall into their hands. That
is why after a full evidentiary hearing before a United States Immigration Judge,
the Court determined that Mr. Posada Carriles was a removable alien, but ruled
that he could not be removed to either Venezuela or Cuba because of the likelihood
that this 80 year old man would be subjected to torture and certain death.

CONCLUSION

The great scientist Galileo once observed that to accuse a man of heresy is simple,
all you need is a tongue. There have been no shortage of tongues in the case of Luis
Posada Carriles. But what there has not been is credible evidence of wrongdoing.
Most of the allegations found in the declassified materials are over three to four dec-
ades old and are based on dubious double hearsay from unidentified sources. The
truth of the matter is that Mr. Posada Carriles does not present a threat to anyone
but he especially does not represent a threat to the United States—a country that
he loves and has sought to protect throughout his entire life.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Mr. Hernandez.

And now we will go to Mr. Fleetwood for his statement.
Please proceed.
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STATEMENT OF MR. BLAKE FLEETWOOD, FREELANCE
JOURNALIST

Mr. FLEETWOOD. In early 1977, I became—I was a young re-
porter and I became interested in the assassination of Orlando
Letelier in Dupont Circle not far from here. I contacted Eugene
Propper, who was the U.S. Attorney investigating the matter, and
he seemed very frustrated. He said the man who may know about
this is Orlando Bosch—and Luis Posada. He said, “I spent several
weeks in Venezuela, but I could not get close to them. They were
in jail, arrested for the bombing of the Cubana flight.”

I went to Venezuela and I managed to infiltrate the prison on the
outside on the outskirts of Caracas. I wandered around the prison
and soon found myself face-to-face with Luis Posada and Orlando
Bosch. I had a tape recorder.

Between them, according to their admissions to me, they had or-
chestrated hundreds of bombings and assassinations. They were
being held in connection with the bombing, as I said before.

They were both extremely angry and feeling betrayed. The Ven-
ezuelans and the CIA, they claimed, had locked them away to keep
them silent. Over the din of homemade drums in a nearby court-
yard, they poured out their story to me for more than 6 hours. I
realized I had an extraordinary opportunity that few journalists
would ever have to penetrate the world of Cuban exile terrorists by
state-sponsored secret agencies.

Posada told me he was on a CIA draw, and he bragged to me,
“The CIA helped me set up my detective agency”—this would be in
the middle-1970s—“from which we planned the actions.” “Actions”
was a code word that Posada used to describe bombings and assas-
sinations. They spoke about the murder of two Cuban diplomats in
Argentina, the bombing of the Mexican Embassy in Buenos Aires,
the bombings of the Air Panama office in Bogota, the Cubana Air-
lines office in Panama, and finally, the Cubana Airlines bombing.

“It is true,” Bosch and Posada told me, “we had a great meeting
in the Bonao Mountains in the Dominican Republic, plotting bomb-
ings and killings.” Everything was planned there. The meeting was
to coordinate terrorist actions in the hemisphere. Both men were
very proud of what they had done.

Hernan Ricardo, who worked for Posada’s detective agency, was
arrested in Trinidad and confessed to planting a bomb on the civil-
ian airliner, to the Trinidad police chief. The night before, Bosch
and Posada told me, they had met with Hernan Ricardo in the very
same Aunaco Hilton in Caracas where I was staying.

After the interview, I felt very nervous about what I had heard
and what my notes and my tapes indicated. I called Eugene
Propper in Washington, and he couldn’t believe I had the taped
interviews. He told me to sit tight and he would get back to me.
Within a few moments, he was on the phone again and seemed
scared. “The CIA told the secret police, the Venezuelan secret po-
lice, everything. They are out to get you. You are in great danger.”

I asked Propper if I should go back to the Embassy. He told me
that he thought it would be the worst place for me to go. “I have
no power down there. You are on your own.”

We were both aware of the reputation of the notorious secret po-
lice and their death squads that had caused the disappearance and
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murder of hundreds of dissidents, politicians and journalists over
the last few years. “Get out of there,” he told me in no uncertain
terms. “You are not safe.”

Posada, parenthetically, worked for the secret police in Ven-
ezuela and was an active participant in the death squads.

I later learned that the secret police had issued an arrest war-
rant for me and were closely watching the airports and ports. U.S.
Ambassador Viron Vaky had learned of my interview, and instead
of rejoicing over its potential for assisting in Propper’s
antiterrorism investigation, he was not happy. Venezuelan Presi-
dent Perez had personally ordered the secret police to arrest me.

Then the Venezuela Government sent a formal protest to the
United States Embassy claiming I was a CIA agent working with
Propper. The CIA and Propper were clearly on opposite sides, but
that didn’t stop the Venezuelan Government from declaring that
my interview was a breach of faith between the United States and
Venezuela.

Back in the United States, I let Propper copy my tapes, which
he then used to question Cuban suspects in the Letelier investiga-
tion. I published my interviews in the New Times magazine and
caused a certain stir in the Miami Cuban community, as well as
political upheaval in Central and South America.

In September 2005, I contacted Dean Boyd of the Department of
Homeland Security and told him I had notes and tapes that clearly
implicated Posada in many, many terrorist activities. As I said, he
was proud of these activities. I contacted Dean Boyd, and within
a few days I was contacted by Jo Ellen Ardinger, an attorney with
the Department of Homeland Security.

She seemed excited by my information and phoned and e-mailed
me. She asked me to fax it down and e-mail it to her. She told me
this information was exactly what the U.S. Government needed to
prevent Posada from entering the U.S. The information would help
make a case that he was a terrorist. She asked me if I was willing
to testify; I said that I was.

There was a trial on these matters shortly thereafter, and I wait-
ed for the Department of Homeland Security to get back to me and
ask for my notes and tapes that would link Posada with terrorism.

They never did.

Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Fleetwood follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MR. BLAKE FLEETWOOD, FREELANCE JOURNALIST

In 1977 I interviewed two of the most deadly terrorists of the twentieth century,
Luis Posada and Orlando Bosch in a Venezuelan prison. I had a tape recorder.

Between them, they had orchestrated hundreds of bombings and assassinations.
They were being held in connection with the bombing of a civilian Cubana Airline
plane that had killed 73 civilians five months earlier in October 1976.

“How did you get in here?” Bosch asked me suspiciously. When I told him, Bosch
seemed happy for the chance to tell his story to a foreign reporter. He took me into
his well-appointed cell and introduced me to Luis Posada, a long-time ally and cell-
mate.

“Would you like a cigar?” Luis Posada asked me. “America may have an embargo
against Cuban cigars, but we don’t.”

They were extremely angry and felt betrayed. The Venezuelans and the CIA had
locked them away to keep them silent. Over the din of homemade drums in a near-
by courtyard, they poured out their story for more than six hours.
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I realized that I was being given an extraordinary opportunity that few journalists
would ever have—an extended, taped interview with terrorists who proudly bragged
of their complicity in hundreds of murders, bombings and assassinations throughout
the world, supported and financed, and sometimes betrayed, by state-sponsored ne-
farious secret agencies, including the CIA.

“I was on a CIA draw of $300 plus all expenses,” Posada bragged to me. “The CIA
helped me set up my detective agency from which we planned actions.” “Actions”
was a code word that Posada used to describe bombings and assassinations. They
spoke about the murder of two Cuban diplomats in Argentina, the bombing of the
Mexican embassy in Buenos Aires, the bombings of the Air Panama office in Bogota,
the Cubana Airlines office in Panama and, finally, the Cubana Airlines bombing
which killed 73 civilians.

“It is true,” Bosch and Posada told me. “We had a great meeting in the Bonao
mountains in Dominican Republic . . . Plotting bombings and killings. Everything
was planned there.”

The meeting was to coordinate all terrorist actions in the hemisphere. Both men
were proud of what they had accomplished. Hernan Ricardo, who worked for Posa-
da’s detective agency, was arrested in Trinidad and confessed to planting the bomb
on the civilian airliner to the Trinidad Police chief. The night before he had met
with Bosch and Posada in the lobby of the very same Aunaco Hilton in Caracas
where I was staying.

Back at the Hilton, I was feeling a little nervous and called Eugene Propper, the
Assistant US Attorney in Washington, who was investigating the Orlando Letelier
murder in Washington, D.C. He couldn’t believe I had the taped interview. He told
me to sit tight and that he would get right back to me. Within a few moments he
was on the phone again and seemed scared. “The CIA told the secret police every-
thing. They are out to get you. You are in great danger.”

I asked Propper if I should go back to the Embassy. He told me that he thought
that would be the worst place for me to go. “I have no power down there. You are
on your own.”

We were both aware of the reputation of the notorious secret police and their
Death Squads that had caused the disappearance and murder of hundreds of dis-
sidents, politicians and journalists over the last few years. “Get out of there” he told
me in no uncertain terms. “You are not safe.”

I later learned that the secret police had indeed issued an arrest warrant for me
and were closely watching the airports and ports. US Ambassador Viron Vaky had
learned of my interview and, instead of rejoicing over its potential for assisting in
Propper’s anti-terrorism investigation, he was not happy. Venezuelan President
Perez had personally ordered his secret police to arrest me. Then, the Venezuelan
government sent a formal protest to the US Embassy claiming that I was a CIA
agent working with Propper. The CIA and Propper were clearly on opposites sides,
but that didn’t stop the Venezuelan government from declaring that my interview
was a “breach of faith” between the US and Venezuela. Back in the US, I let
Propper copy my tapes which he then used to question Cuban suspects in the
Letelier investigation. I published the interview in New Times Magazine and it
caused a certain stir in the Miami Cuban community, as well as political upheaval
in Central and South America.

In September of 2005 I offered this information, notes and tapes, to the Depart-
ment of Homeland Security.

I was contacted by Jo Ellen Ardinger, an attorney with DHS. She seemed excited
by my information and phoned and emailed me. She told me that this information
was exactly what the US government needed to prevent Luis Posada from entering
the US. The information would help make the case that he was a terrorist.

She asked me if I was willing to testify. I said that I was.

There was a trial on these matters in Texas a few months later and I waited for
the Department of Homeland Security to get back to me to ask for my notes and
tapes.

They never did.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Mr. Fleetwood.

And I expect and anticipate we will have two rounds with this
particular panel.

But let me begin by posing a question to you, Mr. Hernandez. In
your written testimony you indicated a full evidentiary hearing was
done before the immigration judge.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That is correct, sir.
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Mr. DELAHUNT. Are you aware that there was only one witness
at that particular hearing?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That is incorrect, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. That is incorrect? What other witnesses were
there?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Mr. Posada testified and Joaquin Chaffardet
testified. Two witnesses.

Mr. DELAHUNT. So there were two witnesses. Well, thank you.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. You are welcome.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Chaffardet was testifying on behalf of Mr.
Posada?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He was called by the respondent, Mr. Posada.
And my understanding, if my recollection serves me correctly, is
that—his name escapes me, but Immigration and Customs Enforce-
ment also provided one witness who testified on behalf of the peti-
tioner of the United States.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I reviewed that record. I can’t find any witness
called by the government.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. It predates my entry as a criminal lawyer. I
was not involved in the immigration proceedings.

Mr. DELAHUNT. But you are aware, of course, that Mr.
Chaffardet was the lawyer in Venezuela for Mr. Posada?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I am aware that he was one of the lawyers, yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And that Mr. Chaffardet was a subordinate of
Mr. Posada in the Venezuelan secret police, the so-called DISIP?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That fact, I am not aware.

I know that Mr. Chaffardet—and I have had a couple of con-
versations with him—was one of the lawyers that represented Mr.
Posada Carriles.

The secret police that you are referring to is the Directory of In-
telligence and Special Services and Forces, which is an organism
of the Venezuelan Government that has existed for the entire
length of time of its democracy.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Right. And Mr. Chaffardet was a subordinate,
according to the information that I have, of Mr. Posada.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I have never heard that fact. I am not aware
of that fact.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Are you aware that he was the business partner
of Mr. Posada in the detective agency?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, I am not aware of that either.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Do you know that he was indicted, Mr.
Chaffardet, as a result of the escape of Mr. Posada from jail?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I know that recently he has been the subject of
a—

Mr. DELAHUNT. No, this would have been back in 1985.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, I am not familiar with that part of his his-
tory, but it would not surprise me.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Right.

Well, I guess what I am suggesting is, at a full evidentiary hear-
ing, this information was never brought to the attention of the im-
migration judge—I think his name is Abbott—and so I am sur-
prised at the government. I am not being critical of counsel for Mr.
Posada. But I am very surprised that the counsel for the govern-
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ment, the Department of Homeland Security, would not have
brought this information to the attention of the immigration judge.

But I guess it is just another surprise.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. If I may, Chairman Delahunt.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Please.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Again, neither you nor I were present. But I
have reviewed the record of the proceedings, and I am satisfied
that the government was adequately and appropriately represented
during those proceedings and that they very much sought to liti-
gate and defend the interest of the United States insofar as those
hearings were concerned.

The bottom line is that a judge, after an evidentiary hearing,
concluded that there was a reasonable likelihood that the Govern-
ment of Venezuela would not be able to or would willingly permit
Cuban agents to enter into Venezuela, and that there was that risk
that he could be—“he” being Mr. Posada

Mr. DELAHUNT. I am not disagreeing with the conclusion, and I
think you report that accurately, but I guess where we find our-
selves in disagreement is the characterization of the hearing as a
full evidentiary hearing.

To be candid with you, Mr. Hernandez, I can’t say that I am par-
ticularly pleased with the competence in the presentation of the
government in this particular matter. But let me go on to another
subject.

Mr. Fleetwood indicated that he was interested in the case of Or-
lando Letelier who was, along with an American, assassinated here
in Washington, DC. Would you agree with me that that was a ter-
rorist act?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I also noted that in the report of the art show
at the Fontainebleau, that your client, Mr. Posada, during that ex-
hibition had a number of his paintings. The report was interesting
because it indicated that he has become an artist of some note, but
that he shared that particular exhibition with one Jose Suarez,
Jose Dionisio Suarez. Are you familiar with that individual?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. You were present at that art exhibit?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I was not present at the Fontainebleau, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. You weren’t there?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. You were present at the first one?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I was present at one of the art exhibits, but it
was not at the Fontainebleau.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Do you know if your client and Mr. Suarez are
friends?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I do not.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Have they worked together in the past?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I do not.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Do you know anything about Mr. Suarez’s back-
ground.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I do not.

Mr. DELAHUNT. So you are unaware of the fact that he pled
guilty in the case of Orlando Letelier?
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Mr. HERNANDEZ. That would be a matter of record. I have no
reason to refute that or not to believe it if that is what the record
reflects.

Mr. DELAHUNT. The record does reflect that he pled guilty and
served 12 years for the assassination of a former foreign diplomat,
an American citizen here in Washington, DC, and actually served
12 years.

If I am accurate in that matter, I think we could agree that he
would aptly fit the definition of terrorist.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, one of the things that —and my short
answer to your question is that, yes, that as we define terrorism
today——

Mr. DELAHUNT. How do you define terrorism?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, how I personally define terrorism?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Sure.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, I think that the use of violence to accom-
plish a political end could be broadly defined as being terrorism.

If you defined it so broadly, then all of the Framers of our Con-
stitution and most of the individuals who at one point or another
have taken arms against oppressive governments and have used vi-
olence in which civilians have died could be qualified under that
definition as being terrorists.

Our actions in Iraq, for example, have had collateral damage,
and we have done it for the purpose of bringing democracy to Iraq.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me

Mr. HERNANDEZ. If I may just conclude this thought, and then
I will allow, or I will listen to your question.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Sure.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. If an action is taken by a government, it is not
terrorism. If an action is taken by an individual, it probably fits the
definition of terrorism. And these distinctions we draw from a his-
torical perspective.

But I would agree with the chairman that the bombing of an am-
bassador in a foreign country, or in our own country, for a political
point is terrorism, and I would condemn it.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Again, I appreciate your definition.

You invoked Iraq. And I think what I found somewhat ironic,
somewhat tragic really, was that in the case of Orlando Letelier
and Ronni Moffitt, it was a car bomb, it was a car bomb that was
used. And the United States attorney who prosecuted that case was
referenced by Mr. Fleetwood.

And you should know that I have never met Mr. Fleetwood until
this moment. Mr. Eugene Propper, I have never met him either.

But there are people who, you know, maybe the spotlight of his-
tory doesn’t shine on them necessarily. I would suggest we are all
kind of footnotes. But a man of great courage, Mr. Propper, because
I think that was a case that disturbed all Americans of both polit-
ical parties, of any political persuasion, to imagine that a foreign
diplomat and an American citizen were the objects of a car bomb
here in Washington, DC.

That is disturbing. And I found it—I don’t want to use the term
“disturbing,” but I found it ironic that your client would be sharing
a venue with an individual whom I would suggest is a terrorist.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He is a convicted terrorist; is that right?
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Mr. DELAHUNT. He pled guilty and has served 12 years.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. In prison, and he served his time, is that cor-
rect Mr. Chairman?

Mr. DELAHUNT. He did. He served his time. And as a former
prosecutor myself, Mr. Hernandez, I understand when someone
serves their time, there is redemption for all of us. So this is
not—

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Understood. But please understand that in
Cuba, and perhaps in Venezuela, that due process would not have
occurred.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Believe me, I have condemned what goes on in
Cuba on multiple occasions. In fact, you should know that I have
intervened on behalf of a number of individuals who have been im-
prisoned in Cuba over and over, and over again. So this is not
about Cuba.

I am sure there is much that we could agree and disagree with
when it comes to Cuba. But let us talk about, not individuals, but
the blowing up of an airliner with 73 individuals on board——

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT [continuing]. Some of whom were teenagers com-
ing back from an international athletic competition. Some of
whom—and we will hear from the sister of a victim in the next
panel, a young man coming from Guyana, a Third World country,
to go to medical school. He had a dream.

The intentional destruction of an airliner with 73 innocents on
board: Would you agree with me that that is an egregious act of
terror?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you. We are going to have a second round.

I am going to go to my friend, Mr. Rohrabacher.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Mr. Hernandez, you have just agreed that
the bombing of that airliner was an egregious terrorist act, but I
guess it is your belief that your client did not do that bombing; is
that correct?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. It was the belief of the Venezuelan tribunals,
the Venezuelan prosecutors, both in the military and civilian sec-
tors.

When the chairman was discussing a little bit about the chro-
nology of what happened in Venezuela, there are some facts that
I think are very, very telling about how it happened. Mr. Posada
Carriles was charged with treason. I think it was in fact, Congress-
man Rohrabacher, yourself who questioned why it was in a mili-
tary tribunal. It was in a military tribunal because the act itself
jurisdictionally should not have been brought to trial in Venezuela.
It should have been brought to trial in either Barbados or Trinidad
because the incident itself occurred within the territorial waters of
Barbados.

So in order for it—and I don’t wish to digress too much and take
up the Congressman’s time for questions, but the reason why it
ends up being in Venezuela was a kind of jurisdictional gymnastics
exercise that was undertaken by a variety of countries in order to
bring it to Venezuela. And in order to bring it to Venezuela, they
had to charge Mr. Posada Carriles with treason, that the act of
sabotage was treasonous to the country, the state of Venezuela, by
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bringing the state of Venezuela to a point of war with Cuba, which
was a stretch to say the least.

Originally, the file, which, by the time it left Trinidad, was over
850 folios long—by the time it makes it to Venezuela, it goes actu-
ally to a civilian court, a judge by the name of Estaba. And she
managed to so bungle the process, the judicial process, that almost
as an act of desperation, she turned it over to a military tribunal.

So that is the short course of the history.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I am not a lawyer, and my chairman, of
course, is a lawyer, but I know how lawyers think about procedure,
and various things that are done exactly right procedurally are im-
portant.

I don’t really give a damn about those things. I want to know
what the truth is, and I ask you a question: Do you think your cli-
ent did this?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. That is what I asked originally.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. And the physical evidence, Congressman, I
think very clearly shows that the signature, the chemical signa-
ture, based on these reports of the explosives was not a C—4 explo-
sive.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. But you know your client, you have talked to
your client a lot now, and you are here telling us that you are
swearing before God and before your country that you believe this
man is innocent.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I believe he is innocent of the bombing of the
Cubana flight.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. That is what the question is.

And I take it you believe in God.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I am a firm believer. I am a Catholic.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Good. And so you are swearing before God
now, that is what you honestly believe, that he is innocent of that
crime?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I honestly believe that.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. All right. That is what I am asking.

Do you have a comment on any of the points made by our free-
lance journalist here?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I will try not to be legalistic, Congressman. Of
course, I have comments. As a lawyer, I deal with evidence in
courtrooms, as I am sure the chairman, as a former prosecutor,
would appreciate.

Where are these tapes? I would ask to see the tapes. I would like
to see what my client allegedly made in these conversations.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Do you have a transcript of the tapes?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Not with me.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Would you please—would you submit them to
this committee?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. I can submit what I have. It is 30 years old.
Yes.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. They are the tapes that you had from these
interviews?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Right.

[The information referred to is included in the Congressional
Record.]
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. All right. So you will have a chance. And
afterwards we will have a chance to have a critique of those tapes.

By the way, you went down there to freelance, down to Ven-
ezuela to meet these guys?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes, I had talked to a magazine editor in New
York, and he had encouraged me, yes.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And who was paying your bill? I mean, that
is—I was a freelance journalist. That is quite a trip down there to
have to pay for all of your expenses. And you mentioned the hotel
that you were staying at, which seemed to be a pretty high-priced
hotel. Who was paying your bill?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. I paid my own bill. And I was trying to make
a mark as a journalist.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And you were paying your own bill? When I
was a freelance journalist, I was starving to death. I wasn’t a very
good one. But if I would have been a better journalist, I probably
wouldn’t be here today.

Let me ask you, it says here that you talked to these two guys
and they bragged about these various instances; they spoke about
the murder of two Cuban diplomats—they spoke about. Did that
mean that they themselves said that that is what they had been
involved in, that they themselves had been involved in the murder
of the Cuban diplomats?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. They, Mr. Posada and Mr. Bosch, were involved
in raising monies down there from the exile community to——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. So they didn’t

Mr. FLEETWOOD [continuing]. To finance these actions. They cut
a deal with the Government of Venezuela that they couldn’t do ac-
tions. This is what they told me.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay, they spoke about. I have to tell you,
the way your wording is—and you are a good wordsmith—that
made it sound like they were involved in that murder.

How about, did they say that they are personally involved in the
bombing of the Mexican Embassy in Buenos Aires? Did they plant
the bombs there? Is that what they told you?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. They told me that that they were involved, yes.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay, they told you that—mow, remember,
you are under oath, and we are going to listen to your tape.

So they told you that they were personally involved with planting
the bombs at the Mexican Embassy?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. They told me that they were responsible for the
bombs. I don’t know whether they were physically at the Mexican
Embassy, but they were responsible and were financing these ac-
tions.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. In any of these things where it says,
“They spoke about,” at any of those things did they tell you that
they personally were involved in the actual execution of these inci-
dents?

You have a number of times here you say “spoke about.” In any
one of those, did they say they actually participated in the actual
execution of that terrorist act?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. At this point, I can remember that Mr. Posada
told me that he personally infiltrated Cuba and was involved in
bombing civilian targets in Cuba, which he felt would help
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, we are not talking about that. You list-
ed a whole bunch of things here. “He spoke about the murder of
two Cuban diplomats in Argentina, the bombing of the Mexican
Embassy in Buenos Aires, the bombing of the Air Panama office in
Bogota, the Cubana Airlines office in Panama and, finally, the
Cubana Airlines bombing that killed 73 civilians.”

At any time, did he tell you—you have this on tape; we are going
to hear it. He never said he personally executed those things.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. He said things like, “That was us.”

Mr. ROHRABACHER. “That was us.” And “us” could have meant
the United States of America for all you know.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. That is not the way I took it.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. Well, but did he go into detail about
how—it sounds like, to me, that it was pretty nebulous. Frankly,
a lot of people brag about a lot of things, and unless they get into
specifics, specifics, as a journalist, you should know that you ask
questions about, “Oh, really? When did it happen? Where did you
get the dynamite? How did you transport it to the office there in
Panama City?” You didn’t ask him any of those questions? Because
they just said, “We were involved,” and——

Mr. FLEETWOOD. You are perfectly right. They could have been
bragging and talking about things that they never were involved
in. That is what they told me, that they were involved.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. They could have been trying to put pressure
on the CIA to try to get them the heck out of there and saying that
we know things. But I am not saying that you right now are not
making the charge that these two men actually personally were in-
volved in executing any of these terrorist acts, are you?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. But they were involved in a conspiracy to exe-
cute

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Personally involved in executing that?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes, yes.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. When you get together and you are talking
in the mountains with a group of people, and that is where all this
terrorism—by the way, did they say, at the meeting, they were
there to coordinate all terrorist actions in the hemisphere? Did they
call ’E?hem “terrorist actions™ Did they use the word “terrorist ac-
tion”?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. They used the words that indicate that terrorist
actions——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, no, no. That is your definition. I am say-
ing, did they use the words “terrorist actions”?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. I would have to go back to the transcript.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Because you may consider an act against a
member of the Cuban secret police, for example, a terrorist act if
that Cuban secret policeman is in Venezuela or someplace—may or
may not be a terrorist act. I personally define terrorism as an act
of violence against civilians to achieve a political purpose. I don’t
include that when you have members of a regime, especially a dic-
tatorship, that is engaged in terrorism in their own country, I don’t
consider that a terrorist act necessarily.

But when you say their meeting was to coordinate all terrorist
actions in the hemisphere, isn’t that your way of explaining, using
that word? They didn’t actually use that word, did they?
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Mr. FLEETWOOD. That is what they were telling me.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, no. That is your definition of it. Did they
use the word “terrorist”? “We were there to plan terrorist actions”?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. They talked to me about actions, bombings,
killings and otherwise disrupting

Mr. ROHRABACHER. All bombings and not all actions are not ter-
rorists. Did they say “against civilian targets”?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. No, they did not say “against civilian targets.”

Mr. ROHRABACHER. So it is your definition of what terrorism—
and you would say anybody who is against Castro, who does things
against the Castro regime, and is not in uniform actually doing it
up front, is a terrorist. Now, I would suggest anybody who would
bomb an airline and kill Cuban civilians is a terrorist. But I
wouldn’t say, necessarily, if somebody was engaged, as they were
back in the 1970s and 1980s, where they basically were a hit-and-
run-type operation, where the Cuban secret police were killing
these people overseas and they were killing Cuban secret police-
man overseas—that is the type of thing that was going on in the
Cold War—that is not necessarily a terrorist act, simply because it
is not one army versus another army.

So let us get back to the planting of the bomb on the civilian air-
liner, which is what this is all about.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Right.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I mean, this is what led to it. They told you
and your tape, which you will give to us, is going to indicate that
they told you that they were involved in planting that bomb?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. They did not say to me explicitly—they told me
that this was part of what was set up in the Bonao Mountains
meeting. They told me that they were involved

Mr. ROHRABACHER. That specific airliner was set up way in ad-
vance.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. The idea of blowing up airliners was set up in
the Bonao Mountains.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay, so that is not—so some people got to-
gether and were mouthing off and talking about some things that
were illegal, like plane bombs. But you didn’t have a direct tie to
them and this specific airliner. Just, somewhere in the past, they
were actually engaged in discussing the bombing of airliners.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes. But they told me that they had met with
Hernan Ricardo, who was one of the people on that plane, who con-
fessed to the bombing——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay.

Mr. FLEETWOOD [continuing]. The night before.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. So they told you that they had met with him
the night before?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And this guy then admitted that he actually
was the one who bombed the airplane?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Posada admitted it?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, no. You said that they talked

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes, Hernan Ricardo confessed to bombing the
airplane.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. He confessed to bombing the airplane.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes.
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. And in your tape they said they had met him
the night before.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes. He was the right-hand man to Luis Po-
sada.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. That is a pretty good connection.

What you do you say about that, Mr. Hernandez?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I disagree with that. First of all, he confessed,
supposedly confessed, while he was in Trinidad. The Venezuelan
court refused to accept both the translation and refused to accept
the confession because it was, A, coerced and, secondly, there was
no interpreter.

And after a long series of hearings

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Is the confession he made on tape anywhere?
He has somebody on tape saying that we met with this guy the
night before, and the guy admits that he—now he said there is
some other tape somewhere where that guy admits that he was the
one who planted that bomb. And——

Mr. HERNANDEZ. To my knowledge, there is no tape regarding
Hernan Ricardo. I know that Hernan Ricardo

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Now, if he confessed, where do we get a copy
of his confession?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. It was taken by the police chief there, and there
are transcripts around.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. I would like to ask our staff——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Would my friend yield for a moment?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Sure.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Just a single question. It is a matter of record
that Hernan Ricardo was an employee of Mr. Luis Posada Carriles
in his detective agency.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes. It is also a matter of record

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you. I want to get back. I don’t want to
interrupt.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Say that again. He was what?

Mr. DELAHUNT. That Mr. Hernan Ricardo, who was charged with
and convicted of actually planting the bombs in the airliner, was
an employee of Mr. Luis Posada Carriles. We will hear some more
evidence to that with the next panel.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I just wanted to say that he did not just work
for Mr. Posada Carriles. He also worked for other people. For ex-
ample, he worked for Ricardo “Monkey” Morales, who was the divi-
sion chief of Section 54 of the counterintelligence.

Mr. DELAHUNT. That is Monkey Morales?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Monkey Morales. And, in fact, Monkey Morales,
under oath, about 10 years later in a deposition in Miami, Florida,
took responsibility for the bombing and indicated that he had had
a relationship with Hernan Ricardo and that Hernan Ricardo had
been asked to go on that flight, to take surveillance photographs
of the North Koreans who were on that flight. That is my under-
standing of the testimony. And he also said that the bomb had
been placed in Guyana, that it had not been placed in Trinidad,
Barbados.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, wherever the bomb was placed it is ir-
relevant. The bomb was placed on a civilian airplane and brought
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it down, all right? And we had lots of civilians killed. And whoever
did that is a murderer and a terrorist.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I don’t disagree with that.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Now, we are trying to determine—because
this is about Mr. Posada, that is who we are discussing, really,
today. And so far, the closest that we have come—I will have to
say, as a former journalist myself, I understand the use of words.
And except for this one point, your words don’t—that does not
bring any evidence to this case, except that last point that you
made, which was he told you—and you have this on tape—that the
night before the bombing that they had met together.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Right.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. So, thus, there would be—there is going to be
some kind of evidence that we have that this man actually did the
bombing, rather than this Monkey—whatever his name is.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, Monkey Morales is a notorious figure,
Congressman. But I do not wish

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Notorious what?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He is a notorious figure, subsequently was shot
and killed in a bar fight.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Terrorist, is that accurate?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. He is a notorious guy. Okay.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. And there is a lot to say about him.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, he is claiming that he did it, and right
now we have a suggestion that this other fellow that worked for
Posada is the guy who actually planted the bomb and that Posada
actually talked to him the night before, and that is what he had
told you.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Right. And he told me the next day after the
bomb went off that he was called by Hernan Ricardo, and Hernan
Ricardo made a number of phone calls, and was told that he need-
ed help, that he was in a lot of trouble. And that is as far as——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. Now, when he told you that he met
with this guy the night before the bombing, was he telling you that
he had done the bombing, that he had helped plan the bombing?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. He didn’t tell me directly that he helped plan
the bombing.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Now, wait, you are a journalist now. Are you
trying to tell me that this guy told you that he had met with the
man who planted the bomb the night before and you didn’t ask him
whether or not he was involved with the planting of the bomb, the
bomb on the plane? You didn’t ask him that?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. In a long conversation, it was understood that
he was not going to tell me directly that he had planned the bomb.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And you didn’t ask him?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. No, I didn’t. He did tell me directly that he was
involved in these other assassinations, which were primarily civil-
ian targets, as he told me.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, let me put it this way. There were lots
of people getting killed during that time period, who were, as I
say—this was one of those—as John Kennedy called it, the twilight
struggle was going on, where Castro was sending out his people,
knocking people off. And there were Cubans who wanted democ-
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racy in their country who were fighting those people. And there
was this almost, like, gangland warfare.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Would the gentleman yield?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And, at some point, if they target civilians to
accomplish their end, it becomes terrorism at that point, but only
at that point.

Knocking off somebody who is a member of Castro’s secret police
or involved with the secret police would not have been an act of
terrorism, as far as I am concerned, just like if somebody had tried
to kill somebody in the KGB or something like that. These are dic-
tatorships. It is not a democratic country, where you just have
someone who is in charge of protecting their country. If you have
a democratic government, it is different than with a dictatorship
which has a secret police.

Sure, I would yield.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I think that some of our colleagues are getting
a bit—let me go to

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I would yield back the balance of my time.
Thank you.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I will go to the vice chair of the committee, Mr.
Carnahan from Missouri. And then I will go to Mr. Flake, and then
we will go to Mr. Meeks, and then we will go to my good friend
from Indiana.

Mr. CARNAHAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you, panel, for your detailed descriptions about this case
and your knowledge of it.

We heard of another case, as referenced by the chairman, in a
prior hearing, Mr. Arar, and on the issue of diplomatic assurances
from other countries, assuring that the person in question would
not be tortured.

In your experience in this case or others, how are these assur-
ances obtained? What types of channels are used to obtain them?

And I want to get your comment about that first, and then I
have a follow-up question.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Are you directing, Congressman, the question to
me?

Mr. CARNAHAN. Yes, I will start with you, Mr. Hernandez.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. My understanding is that, in the affairs be-
tween countries, through their diplomatic corps, written assurances
are delivered that are, for the most part, binding upon those coun-
tries who make those agreements.

However, I think that I am not very familiar with the Syrian-Ca-
nadian that was referenced in the chairman’s opening comments,
and I am certainly not offering any opinion about whether or not
the assurances coming from Syria or coming from another country
should or not be accepted by the United States.

The point is that, as you draw a direct connection to the Posada
situation and you ask the question, would diplomatic assurances
coming, for example, from Venezuela, given the nature and the evo-
lution of the Venezuelan Government as we are observing it
today—should the United States be in a position to accept those as-
surances because they actually, in the real world, mean anything?

And I would respectfully submit to the Congressman that, in the
case of Venezuela, you may very well have an element of the Ven-
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ezuelan Government that does in good faith give these assurances
with every intention of following suit, but there is absolutely, in my
judgment, no guarantee that, as Judge Abbott noted in his removal
order, denying Venezuela the right to be a country who would ac-
cept the removal of Mr. Posada Carriles and said that there is no
assurance and no guarantee that Cuba would not be allowed to
bring in agents who would extraordinarily render Mr. Posada
Carriles back to Cuba or who would, in fact, interrogate him in a
Venezuelan prison, inject him with whatever they wanted to inject
him with, and showcase him to the rest of the world and embarrass
the United States or perhaps even get information that is part of
our right to protect as secrets.

And I would, again, respectfully submit to the Congressman two
things: That if Luis Posada Carriles is removed or extradited to ei-
ther Cuba or Venezuela, that I personally have absolutely no doubt
that within a month’s time we are going to see Mr. Posada Carriles
being paraded in front of cameras and that they will have their
way with him and that they will get an absolute public-relations
harvest, which is what they really want out of this case.

Because I want to further assure the Congressman that neither
Chavez nor anyone in the Government of Venezuela has any seri-
ous intention of proceeding and having a trial about this airliner
back in 1976. Cuba has consistently, for the last 30 years, resisted
any attempt to salvage the aircraft, which might have answered
the questions of the international community about how that air-
plane was downed.

And this is nothing but a political sideshow, that they would
want to be able to get their hands on Posada Carriles, get out of
him whatever they think they can get of him, parade him in front
of the cameras and embarrass the United States of America.

And all those people who do not think that that will happen I
think are very naive in understanding the ways of the Castro re-
gime and now the regime of Mr. Chavez.

Mr. CARNAHAN. Let me get Mr. Fleetwood to respond, as well.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Can you repeat the question? I am sorry.

Mr. CARNAHAN. Yes. I wanted to get your thoughts on the issue
of diplomatic assurances.

Mr. FLEETWOOD. I really don’t have much opinion on this. I
would favor sending Mr. Posada to a World Court-type thing where
they could try him, and that would be my preference.

Mr. CARNAHAN. And do either of you have any knowledge about
any dialogue that has taken place between the United States Gov-
ernment and Venezuela about this particular case?

And, again, I will start with Mr. Hernandez.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I do not have any direct knowledge. I do know,
only by public media reports, that there have been requests by the
Venezuelan Government to exercise its options under the Mutual
Assistance Treaty and the Treaty of Extradition, which, inciden-
tally, because Mr. Posada Carriles was fully tried and was fully ac-
quitted by not one but two tribunals in Venezuela, it does raise cer-
tain issues of comity and other issues having to do with whether
or not the United States would be bound if there ever was an ac-
tual extradition hearing on the matter to return him to Venezuela.
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But I do not have any access to any direct dialogue that may
have occurred between Venezuela and the United States. Although
I am making the assumption, as I testify here today, that there has
been.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I am going to ask the gentleman to yield and let
me recognize the gentleman from Arizona, Mr. Flake.

Mr. FLAKE. Thank you.

If you could answer just as briefly as possible, I will try to state
quickly so we can move on to the next panel as well and get the
other questioners.

Mr. Hernandez, you mentioned that “no American jury would
convict Mr. Posada” on charges related to the Cubana Airlines
bombing. How do you know that?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, I know it based on my intimate knowl-
edge of the rules of evidence and also my experience as a trial law-
yer. The rules of evidence, as you know probably, that, under Sec-
tion 803 of the Code, prevents the use of hearsay. You are talking
about matters that occurred 30 years ago. Most of it is double hear-
say.

Mr. FLAKE. That same sure knowledge leads you to believe—you
say that Posada escaped from prison in Venezuela because “it be-
came obvious that the legal process was being subverted by the in-
fluence of pro-Castro elements in the Government in Venezuela.”

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, sir.

Mr. FLAKE. Was Chavez in charge at that time?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No. A general by the name of Barrios was in
charge. And what happened there was that photographs subse-
quently were found that showed and evidence was produced that
showed that General Barrios, during the 4-year period of time he
was reviewing the acquittals, had traveled to Cuba, had been pho-
tographed embracing Fidel Castro and had connections to Fidel
Castro.

Mr. FLAKE. Back to Venezuela, you mentioned that he was ac-
quitted; you keep mentioning that. But Venezuela wants him back,
because he escaped before a civil trial could take place, correct?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, that is incorrect. It is correct that he es-
caped, but it is incorrect before the civil process had been under-
taken. To suggest that

Mr. FLAKE. So he escaped, then, after it took place?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He escaped when it became abundantly clear to
him, after 9 years in deplorable conditions, that his case was never,
ever going to be resolved because of all of the dysfunctions that had
occurred for a period of over 9 years. Eleven thousand folios were
produced over the course of these 9 years. After first going through
a civil process and being kicked over to a military process, being
acquitted after 4 years under the auspices of the military, it went
to a superior military tribunal that took another 3 years. And after
that 3-year period, Congressman, it got kicked back to a civil pro-
ceeding, and one of the judges said that we are going to start the
process all over again.

And these things happen in a political context. Castro had a lot
of influence on the government. And it became an international
problem. But I could expand upon that, if you would like.




31

Mr. FLAKE. Mr. Fleetwood, you mentioned that DHS talked to
you initially and expressed interest in having the tapes and the
transcript?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Yes.

Mr. FLAKE. Has the FBI ever contacted you?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. No. I mentioned this to a woman who said she
was an attorney at DHS, and a public information officer talked to
me. I e-mailed them information and notes and the kind of testi-
mony I would give and the notes and tapes that I would make
available to them. They never got back to me.

Mr. FLAKE. So we have somebody who is a suspected terrorist,
who enters the country illegally, is being held, and we have evi-
dence that could acquit him or convict him, and the U.S. Govern-
ment has not asked for that information from you. We have actual
tialpes?that might be relevant here, and they haven’t asked you for
them?

Mr. FLEETWOOD. Right. That is exactly true. The woman’s name
was Jo Ellen Ardinger. The e-mails I got from her, and talked to
her on the phone.

Mr. FLAKE. Mr. Chairman, I would suggest that if we take any-
thing from this hearing, it is—I am completely astonished at the
lack of curiosity on the part of our Government. If we truly want
to have any moral authority with regard to terrorism worldwide, to
not even request these documents, that just completely floors me.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Would the gentleman yield for one moment?

Mr. FLAKE. I am going to yield my time back. I would rather
move through quickly. Please, make it very, very fast.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Just to note that we do have the curiosity
about that transcript and those tapes. And my request for you spe-
cifically is the transcript and the tapes and a copy of the tapes, so
that we can make sure the transcript we get is accurate. And we
would love to see it, and we have a great deal of curiosity about
that.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I can assure the ranking member that, as I indi-
cated in the beginning, this is the beginning of a hard look at the
conduct of the Government and the administration. I want to be
very clear. This is not a panel to determine the guilt or innocence
of Mr. Posada.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Understood.

Mr. DELAHUNT. We all have opinions; we have articulated those
opinions. But this is about the administration’s handling of this
matter.

Alf{d, with that, I yield to the gentleman from New York, Mr.
Meeks.

Mr. MEEKS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And I am just curious—I am glad the chairman made that state-
ment, because I am concerned about what my Government did or
did not do. I am concerned in the answers in questioning that Mr.
Carnahan was asking, for example, the statement that the only
thing the Venezuelan Government wants to do is to use whatever
it is to embarrass the United States.

From my viewpoint, I want to know what was the United States’
involvement or not involvement, and if, in fact—you know, when I
look at the fact that, obviously, Mr. Posada had strong connections
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to the CIA, when I look at the fact that Mr. Posada then worked
for them in Panama, when I look at the fact that Mr. Posada then
entered this country illegally, and then still, in fact, we decide that
he can stay here, knowing that there is a request for extradition,
that concerns me, as to what our Government is doing, particularly
in light of the fact that, right now, we are very upset with another
country, Panama, because the chair of its national assembly,
though he was found innocent in a Panamanian court, he is still
wanted here. And we are putting tremendous pressure on the Pan-
amanian Government to extradite that individual here.

And then, you know, I know the chairman referenced earlier the
situation with a Canadian that we sent to Syria, where we knew
that they were being tortured. And I don’t know—and maybe you
can tell me—of any references of any immediate torture being
given to Venezuelan prisoners under the jurisdiction of Mr. Chavez.

The fact of the matter is, for me, you know, there was a coup
d’etat attempt in Venezuela not too long ago, and there were sev-
eral individuals caught red-handed. And Mr. Chavez, to my knowl-
edge, did not even torture those individuals who attempted a coup
d’etat against him.

So where is the evidence or how would you say that if someone
who is wanted in another country—and we do have an extradition
agreement with them—that a person should not go back simply be-
cause he is going to be tortured? I don’t know where the evidence
is of torture in Venezuela. I know where the evidence is of torture
in Syria, but yet we still do that.

So I am really befuddled by the actions of my Government, and
understanding that sometimes it is difficult dealing with Ven-
ezuela. I have currently my difficulties dealing with the Embassy
of Venezuela. But, given all that, we are talking about Mr. Chavez
and what he has or has not done. And I don’t see the evidence, un-
less you have some.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I certainly appreciate your comments, Con-
gressman Meeks. You have to see the big picture in this matter
and try to understand that the real coup d’etat that is occurring
in Venezuela is what is happening to the Venezuelan Constitution
in slow, progressive steps by Chavez and those that support him,
and that ultimately the new 21st-century totalitarianism is not
going to be like the 20th-century totalitarianism. It is going to be
a slow manipulation of democratic institutions and the institu-
tionalization of power in one man or perhaps in a few persons.

And I say, with all due respect to what you, the Congressman,
is saying, that that is what I see happening in Venezuela, unfortu-
nately. And that is why you see the youth movement in Venezuela
at the different universities. Very recently, I read in the press that
three students were shot and killed simply because they were pro-
testing. And over and over again, as the protests——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Would the gentleman yield?

I would like to see that report, because I tend to follow those in-
cidents very carefully, and you just made a statement that a stu-
dent was killed, and I have yet to see that.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, a student was killed in one of the univer-
sities protesting the new constitutional amendments that would
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allow the elimination of term limits in the Venezuelan Constitu-
tion. And what I see happening in Venezuela is that.

Now, as to your direct question, whether or not there is a direct
connection between Venezuela and whether or not, posing the ques-
tion, I could show here today that there is torture going on in Ven-
ezuela or not, no, I do not have a specific example that I can offer
to you.

But I would validate and echo the conclusion of the immigration
judge when he concluded that, because of the symbiosis in govern-
ment between Venezuela and Cuba and the closeness of the alli-
ance between Chavez and Castro, that—I don’t think anyone would
disagree with this—that, certainly, the Castro regime has a long
and storied history of torture. And I have no doubt in my own
mind, Congressman Meeks, that that opportunity would be pre-
sented to Castro with such a high-profile defendant such as my cli-
ent, who is a former CIA agent.

Mr. MEEKS. And I agree; I hear you. But here is my concerns
about, you know, my country. I can go and individuals are saying
some of the same things that you have said about us, when they
look at what is taking place in Guantanamo Bay, for example. And
there clearly seems to have been some sense of torture going on
there, in regards to us.

And so, you know, I always look where we are criticizing or say-
ing we are not going to do something without clean hands, and that
is why I ask for the evidence on the other part.

I also look at, based upon some of the same things that you have
indicated here, at our history. You know, being an African Amer-
ican in this country, I can think, in my lifetime, where there were
many, from the Black Panther party or others, that were talking
and protesting the Government, and our Government infiltrated
them and did certain things that I think were uncalled for. And
hopefully we have corrected that, and we will correct it within our
own institutions.

You know, I find some fault with, quite frankly, if you are just
talking about the politics of Venezuela, with the opposition there.
They chose not to run for re-election, et cetera. I was there when
there was recall elections. I saw people standing in lines, voting for
Hugo Chavez, in lines longer than—you know, I hadn’t seen such
since I saw Nelson Mandela being elected the President of South
Africa. Poor people, people who had never had the opportunities to
hear any of their concerns previously.

And so, then when I look at the justice system, the way it is—
and I am looking for torture. I mean, that is why I said, if there
is some evidence of it, give it to me. But if, in fact, there is a person
who has been in prison, escaped from prison, some alleged that he
bought his way out of prison, and the country says, “Well, we just
want justice to happen,” in my estimation, if, in fact, we would
want the same thing for anybody that is accused of wrongdoing in
this country, we would want them extradited here. I would think
that we have to live up to our commitments in the same way that
we would want someone else to live up to theirs.

I yield back. You can answer the question.
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Mr. DELAHUNT. I am going to try to move this along, and I am
going to ask the gentleman from New Jersey if he would submit
his questions in writing, along with the gentlelady from Texas.

I just wanted to note—let me wrap up, just addressing a few
questions to you, Mr. Hernandez.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Who else, besides you, represents Mr. Posada?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. In my team there were two other lawyers.
There was a local lawyer out of El Paso, Venezuela, a very fine per-
son; his name is Felipe Millon. And an appellate lawyer, who has
worked with me for the past 25 years, by the name of——

Mr. DELAHUNT. What about a woman by the name of——

Mr. HERNANDEZ [continuing]. Wanda Anderson.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And an individual by the name of Soto?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He handled, together with Mr. Millon, the im-
migration part of the case.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Because I will tell you, I ran across a state-
ment—and she will be testifying shortly—written by Ann Louise
Bardach. It was a November 12, 2006, news piece for the Wash-
ington Post. In there, she says, “While I was working on an article
about Posada for the Atlantic Monthly, one of his attorneys told me
that Posada’s case is being handled at the highest levels of the De-
partment of Justice. ‘All I have to do to detain Posada indefinitely,’
he explained, ‘is to have Attorney General Gonzales certify him as
a national security threat’”—which, I know you are familiar with
the PATRIOT Act, of course.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. “But they are not going to do that,” he added.
“That would create problems for the Bush people with their Cuban-
exile base in Miami.”

I take it you are not that lawyer that made those statements to
Ms. Bardach?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, I am not. Let me—mno, I am not. There is—
Mr. Soto is a possibility. I don’t know who may have made that
comment to her.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, I would ask you if you would inquire of
your team as to who made this statement to Ms. Bardach, so that
we would be inclined to have your colleague on your team, or
whomever, to come before the committee to explain that statement.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. If I may?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Of course.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. If I may, I believe that I did have a conversa-
tion with Ms. Bardach at one point before I became the lawyer for
Mr. Posada Carriles. It was a telephone conversation. I am not
quite certain—at the time, I did not know who she was. And

Mr. DELAHUNT. But you didn’t make this statement?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I do not recall making that statement, although
I do believe that the Posada case was being handled at the highest
levels of the Department of Justice.

Mr. DELAHUNT. But you didn’t make the statement that they will
not certify him as a national security threat

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, I did not make that statement.

Mr. DELAHUNT [continuing]. Because it would have presented
problems for the Bush administration with their base in Miami?




35

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No. No, I did not make that statement.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay. Thank you. That is fine.

Santiago Alvarez is also a client of yours.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That is correct. Not any longer, Mr. Chairman.
He was. I withdrew from the case in February of this year.

Mr. DELAHUNT. He is also a friend of Luis Posada Carriles.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That is correct, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Is he still in prison?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He is in prison.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay. And what was he convicted of?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He was convicted of possession of illegal fire-
arms.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And silencers?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. And silencers.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And a false passport?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, not that I am aware of.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay. And do you know how many years his sen-
tence was?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. He received, as I recall, a 48-month or 47-
month prison sentence.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And he refused to testify before a grand jury on
how Mr. Posada entered the country; is that correct?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, the quick answer is yes, and I think it is
a matter of public record. I just——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Right.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I do not think it infringes upon my attorney-cli-
ent privilege.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I won’t ask you to do that.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. But I think it is a matter of public record that
there was a refusal and that there was an indictment, but he has
not been convicted of that as of yet.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay. But he was actually the prime benefactor,
if you will, for your client, Mr. Posada. That has been reported in
the newspaper.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No. I

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, let me rephrase the question then. He was
one of the primary supporters for Mr. Posada and actually ar-
ranged for the press conference prior to Mr. Posada’s public appear-
ance?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I am not going to answer that question, respect-
fully, because I think that it calls upon when I was a lawyer with
Mr. Alvarez——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay.

Mr. HERNANDEZ [continuing]. And I think that it would be inap-
propriate for me to get into that.

I would acknowledge only this, that my answer——

Mr. DELAHUNT. That is fine. I respect your professionalism.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, the connection that you are drawing be-
tween Santiago Alvarez and Luis Posada Carriles is an accurate
one; they are friends. And I think I answered that question.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Is Mr. Posada Carriles a friend of Orlando
Bosch?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I would say that the answer to that is yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. They have worked together?
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Mr. HERNANDEZ. I think that that is a loaded question, Mr.
Chairman.

Mr. DELAHUNT. It is a loaded question.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. And I don’t know how to answer that. Please
define what you mean by “work.”

Mr. DELAHUNT. They collaborated.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. In which ways?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, I will withdraw that question.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. If you mean, have they collaborated in trying
to free Cuba?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Yes.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay. And Mr. Posada and Mr. Bosch have ex-
hibited their artwork together at the La Corda De Prin.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I am unfamiliar with that, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I thought you were there on that occasion.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I was not there.

Mr. DELAHUNT. It was reported that you were there and advised
Mr. Posada not to have any conversations with a newspaper re-
porter.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That is correct, but that was not

Mr. DELAHUNT. Which was good advice.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. That was not at that location.

Mr. DELAHUNT. It wasn’t. Okay.

Cll\/%". HERNANDEZ. If you would like to know, it was at the Big 5
ub.

ber. DELAHUNT. At the Big 5 Club. Which is part of the Fontaine-
eau.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, sir. It has no absolutely connection to the
Fontainebleau.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Okay. It is a nice venue, I imagine.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. You know, we may disagree or agree on that.
It was an appropriate venue because it is a social club for Cuban
Americans. And I just thought it was an appropriate venue for Mr.
Posada, who primarily paints Cuban-themed paintings. And for
that reason

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you.

Are you representing—there has been published reports. Did you
represent Mr. Posada in his application for a pardon from the Gov-
ernment of Panama?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, sir. No.

Mr. DELAHUNT. There have been published reports about a grand
jury proceeding in New Jersey involving Mr. Posada.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, that is correct.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And, again, this is reported in local papers, alleg-
ing that the Federal Government is investigating him for his in-
volvement in bombings in Havana, which resulted in injuries to 11
civilians as well as the death of an Italian tourist. Have you read
those stories?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. I have more than read them. I am aware of the
existence of that grand jury investigation.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Do you represent him in that matter?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Well, at this point, there is no reasonable pros-
pect that Mr. Posada is going to be called in front of the grand jury.
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If he were to be called, I would submit to you that probably I
would be the attorney. If, after 24 months and on the second grand
jury term, by the way, a grand jury in New Jersey ultimately ad-
mits an indictment against him and charges him with terrorist-ori-
ented charges for that death that you mentioned, then I would be
his lawyer, and I would represent him then.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Have you received a target letter?

Mr. HERNANDEZ. No, absolutely not. And, you know, not every-
one who is a target gets a target letter. As a matter of fact, the
general practice is that targets do not get target letters, unless and
until they move from being subject or witness in the grand jury to
one of being target.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I am going to read excerpts from an interview by
a reporter on Miami’s Channel 41 with Mr. Bosch regarding the
Cubana plane bombing, so bear with me.

Mr. HERNANDEZ. Yes, sir.

Mr. DELAHUNT. “If I tell you that I was involved, I will be impli-
cating myself. And if I tell you that I did not participate in that
action”—that is that term, again, “action” that Mr. Fleetwood re-
fers to—“you would say that I am lying. I am, therefore, not going
to answer one thing or another.”

But when the journalist asked Bosch to comment on the civilians
who died when the plane crashed off the coast of Barbados, Bosch
responded, “In a war such as us Cubans who love liberty wage
against the tyrant, you have to down planes, you have to sink
ships, you have to be prepared to attack anything which was with-
in your reach.”

He then was asked, “But don’t you feel a little bit for those who
were killed there, for their families?” He said, “Four members of
the Communist Party, chico. Who was there? Our enemies.”

“And the fencers?” He was referring to the fencing team from
Cuba, about the fencing team that had just won gold, silver and
bronze metals at a youth fencing competition in Caracas. “The
young people on board?”

This is Bosch’s reply: “I saw the young girls on television. There
were six of them. After the end of the competition, the leader of the
six dedicated their triumph to the tyrant. She gave a speech filled
with praise for the tyrant. We had already agreed in Santo Do-
mingo that everyone who comes from Cuba to glorify the tyrant
had to run the same risks as those men and women that fight
alongside the tyranny.”

He then asked the question, “If you ran into the family members
who were killed on that plane, wouldn’t you think it difficult?” the
reporter said. “No,” was Bosch’s reply, “because, in the end, those
who were there had to know they were cooperating with the tyr-
anny in Cuba.”

And we will take a recess. We have votes now.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Mr. Chairman?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Please.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. If you will indulge me with at least 1 minute
of balance here.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Sure.
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. Let me just note that the quotes, for exam-
ple, that you read that were unnamed, an unnamed source, some-
times, having been a former journalist myself, I can tell you

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, my friend, I am reading from an interview
done by a TV reporter directly with Mr. Bosch.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, I am talking about the first quote that
you gave.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Which one?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. The first one where you were mentioning and
asking Mr. Hernandez about the government is going to do this
and that, and there was a speculation by someone on the defense
team. And it was printed in a paper, which was the first part of
your quotes—the first quote that you gave us in your second round.

Let me just note that that quote, obviously, was a speculation
and that it was then portrayed by the journalist as something that
was some type of an authoritative analysis of why the government
was doing something. And being a former journalist myself, I look
very closely at these words and the way things are, and it appeared
to be speculation on the part of a member of that defense team and
not necessarily someone who knew what policy the government was
going to have.

Second of all, let me note, we mentioned the assassination—by
the way, again, let me reiterate: Anybody who is involved directly
in killing innocent civilians in order to obtain a political end,
whether it is Mr. Bosch or if the target of our hearing today was
involved, that person is a murderer and should be executed. And
I got no problems with that at all. We are just trying now to see
whether or not our Government has a double standard.

But let us know—I don’t have a double standard as well, when
I talk about Fidel Castro. And I understand these people’s rage. It
never excuses, however—these people are outraged about the mur-
ders that Castro committed against his people and organized
throughout Latin America—never excuses any type of attack on in-
nocent Cuban civilians or any other civilians.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well said, Mr. Ranking Member. We have to

Mr. ROHRABACHER. One last note. The Chilean Ambassador, Mr.
Letelier, was a Cuban agent. He was on the payroll of the Cuban
Government. At least that is the information I have. I will submit
that for the record——

Mr. DELAHUNT. I would like to have that. Thank you.

Mr. ROHRABACHER [continuing]. In detail. And if I am wrong by
that, I will take that out of the record.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. DELAHUNT. We are going to have to recess, because we have
votes. This panel is excused.

And when we return—I should announce to those particularly on
the panel that we will be in recess for approximately an hour. That
is how many votes that we have. So feel free to go feed yourselves
and then return.

[Recess.]

Mr. DELAHUNT. The committee will reconvene. And again, my
profound apologies for the delay. But this is not uncommon in this
institution. Votes are being called. But I understand that we have
an hour and a half. I also was informed by the ranking member
that he is receiving an award, one I am sure that is justly de-
served, and will make every effort to return as quickly as possible.
But with his consent, we will proceed and we will hear from this
very distinguished panel. Let me begin by introducing Ms.
Bardach. She has an extraordinary resume. She is the author of
the highly acclaimed Cuba Confidential: Love and Vengeance in
Miami and Havana. And the forthcoming Without Fidel: The Death
of Castro and Other Tales. 1 will be eagerly awaiting its publica-
tion.

She is also the editor of The Prison Letters of Fidel Castro, as
well as Cuba: A Traveler’s Literary Companion. Her work has been
anthologized in Killed: Journalism Too Hot to Print and Mexico in
Mind. She was a staff writer for Vanity Fair for 10 years, and has
written for the New York Times, Washington Post, and the Los An-
geles Times. She is a CBS news consultant on Fidel Castro and
Cuba, and has appeared on 60 Minutes, Today, Dateline, CNN, The
O’Reilly Factor, Charlie Rose, National Public Radio, and PRI’s
Marketplace.

She has written the Global Buzz column for Newsweek Inter-
national, and the Interrogation Column for Slate. She has won nu-
merous awards, including the PEN USA award for journalism in
1995 for her reporting on Mexican politics. She was a finalist in
1994 for her coverage of women in Islamic countries. Her book,
Cuba Confidential, was a finalist for the New York Public Library
Helen Bernstein Award for Excellence in Journalism, and the PEN
USA award for best nonfiction, and named one of the 10 Best
Books of 2002 by the Los Angeles Times. The book is a very impor-
tant contribution not just to the literature, but for those of us who
welcome its insights and its understanding of Cuba and the rela-
tionship of Cuba, particularly with the Cuban-American commu-
nity.

I am going to now introduce Dr. Roseanne Nenninger. As I said
in my opening remarks, she is a sister of Raymond Persaud, a Guy-
anese student who was killed in the bombing of Cubana Airlines
flight number 455. I don’t think she needs any other introduction.
And last, but certainly not least, Peter Kornbluh is the director of
the National Security Archives Chile Documentation Project and of
the Cuba Documentation Project. He has played an extremely sig-
nificant role in the campaign to declassify government documents
via the Freedom of Information Act relating to the history of the
U.S. Government’s support for the Pinochet dictatorship. He is the
author of several books, most recently The Pinochet File: A Declas-
sified Dossier on Atrocity and Accountability. Kenneth Maxwell
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wrote a review in November—December 2003 issue of Foreign Af-

fairs, creating a controversy about Henry Kissinger’s involvement

in Operation Condor, based on much of the work of Mr. Kornbluh.
Let me begin with Ann Louise Bardach.

STATEMENT OF MS. ANN LOUISE BARDACH, BARDACH
REPORTS

Ms. BARDACH. Thank you, Congressman. I am going to try to
help to facilitate tracking this complex story with just a brief his-
tory of Mr. Posada’s career as an anti-Castro militant, mostly based
on CIA, FBI, and State memorandum just very quickly as an over-
view. Of course, Luis Posada Carriles was born in Cienfuegos,
Cuba. He entered the United States on April 28, 1961, and he was
selected to be part of a Cuba infiltration team, the Black Falcons,
an anti-Castro group. And that is where he begins his career as an
anti-Castro militant. And very distinguished anti-Castro militant
with a lot of recommendations in his files for his work. In March,
1963, he enrolled in the U.S. Army Officer Candidate School at
Fort Benning. He received instructions in demolition, propaganda,
and intelligence. He left after around a year, when it became clear
that the United States had no intention of invading Cuba.

He received approximately $300 a month from the CIA, and was
selected to head of one of the three major anti-Castro groups. He
was terminated under some murky circumstances in July, 1967,
somewhat amicably, but the file also makes mention that there
were suspicions of some poor behavior, suggestions of some poor be-
havior, suggestions of problems with drug dealing and other sus-
picions that were brought to their attention. He then became the
head of DISIP, a division of the Venezuelan police, and but in
March, 1974, he lost his job—sorry about that. The microphone
wasn’t on.

All right. He lost his job in March, 1974, when there was a
change in the presidential leadership. Mr. Posada became of in-
tense interest, and for the purpose of this hearing, became of in-
tense interest to the CIA shortly after the October 6, 1976 crash
of a Cubana airliner off the coast of Barbados with 73 people
aboard. On October 7, 1976, a CIA memo states,

“This agency has conducted an investigation of the names sus-
pected in the involvement of the crash. We have determined
that this agency had a relationship with one person whose
name is mentioned in the reported bombing.”

They point out that both Lugo and Ricardo, the two who con-
fessed to the bombing, that their employer in Caracas is Luis Po-
sada Carriles. On November 8, 1976, we have another memo say-
ing some plans regarding the bombing of a Cubana airline dis-
cussed at the bar in the Hotel Anauco in Caracas, at which Frank
Castro, Gustavo Castillo, Luis Posada Carriles, and Mono Morales
were present. Posada was charged by Venezuela with the bombing.
He was tried and acquitted in a military court, but the acquittal
was deemed invalid due to a lack of jurisdiction.

And in 1985, while awaiting trial in a civil court, Luis Posada
escaped from a Venezuelan prison after 9 years of incarceration. He
remains, to this day, the subject of an extradition request from
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Venezuela. After his escape from Venezuela, Mr. Posada went to El
Salvador and reestablished ties with the CIA. He played a key role
there in supplying arms to the United States-backed Contras fight-
ing the Sandinistas in Nicaragua. In September, 1989, he moved
to Guatemala, and the following year he was the victim of an as-
sassination attempt. He was shot 11 times in the face and body.
In 1992, FBI Special Agents Michael Foster and George Kiszynski
conducted a detailed tape recorder interview of him in Tegucigalpa,
I—If(f)‘nduras, concerning his involvement and role in the Iran-Contra
affair.

So we are now up to date to the point where I want to talk about
the New York Times series, of which I was a co-author. The back-
ground of the New York Times series concerned a series of 11 hotel
and restaurant bombings that went off in Cuba from April 19,
1997, through September 4, 1997. One of these bombings killed
Fabio Di Celmo, an Italian tourist. Early on, Mr. Posada was ac-
cused by the Cuban Government and suspected and investigated by
United States authorities of having masterminded those bombings.
The bombings attracted extensive media attention,

The Miami Herald, at one point, quoted three Miami exiles iden-
tifying Mr. Posada as obtaining $15,000 from wealthy Cuban exiles
to pay the Salvadorans to commit the bombings and as part of com-
manding the operation. The New York Times Caribbean bureau
chief, Larry Rohter, and myself, began work on a series about
Cuban exile militant activities in early 1998. The Times published
our first article, “A Plot on Castro Spotlights a Powerful Group.”
This article described how in October 1997, the U.S. Coast Guard
boarded a cabin cruiser called La Esperanza near Puerto Rico and
found four Cuban exiles who claimed to be on a fishing trip, but
they had no fishing gear. One of them blurted out that he was
there—the rifles were present on the boat “for the purpose of assas-
sinating Fidel Castro.”

In June 1998, a colleague of Vanity Fair, where I worked for 10
years, put me in touch with a Cuban businessman living in Cara-
cas with close ties to Luis Posada. In the first week of June 1998,
I met with this businessman in New York City and asked him to
arrange an interview with Mr. Posada, although I had little hope
it would ever happen. Around the same time, a police source who
worked on the Havana bombings, the FBI being deeply involved in
the investigation at that point, told me that the FBI had sent
agents to Guatemala to interview a Cuban exile named Antonio Al-
varez, who represented a business firm there that employed two
men named Jose Alvarez, or “Pepe” Alvarez, and Jose Burgos.

Also frequently in this man’s office in Guatemala was another
Cuban exile who had a crushed, gravelly voice. His name was Luis
Posada Carriles. Antonio Alvarez related precisely how Mr. Posa-
da’s Cuba bombing operation worked, and identified its intended
targets when he was interviewed by the FBI. “We found him en-
tirely credible,” said one FBI agent who worked for years on the
case. “We thought it would be a slam dunk. We’d charge and arrest
Mr. Posada.” But then the agent said we had a meeting one day
and the chief said, “Hey, wait a minute, lots of folks around here
think Posada is a freedom fighter. We were in shock, and they
closed down the whole Posada investigation.” When we asked for
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a wiretap on Orlando Bosch, a famed militant who we knew was
working on bombing runs, “we were turned down.” Two weeks after
my New York meeting with the Cuban exile businessman I re-
ceived a message on my phone machine from a Ramon Medina. He
left a number and asked that I call back. I knew that Ramon Me-
dina was a nom de guerre of Luis Posada Carriles.

As I was working on the Times series, I phoned my editor, I
played him Mr. Posada’s message. He instructed me to call Mr. Po-
sada and arrange to meet him wherever as soon as possible. I did
speak with Mr. Posada again by phone several times, and we ar-
ranged to meet. Prior to meeting with Mr. Posada, I had gone to
Caracas, Venezuela, and Isla Margarita, where a Venezuelan offi-
cial had given me a copy of a fax sent from Mr. Posada to his part-
ners, Jose Alvarez and Jose Burgos in Guatemala in August 1977.

In the fax, Mr. Posada indicated that the two men would receive
“via Western Union, four transfers of $800 each from New Jersey.”
The fax also stated, “If there is no publicity the work is not useful.”
The United States newspapers don’t publish anything unless it is
confirmed, reflecting Mr. Posada’s concern that the Cuban Govern-
ment was, in fact, hushing up many of the summer bombings to
avoid creating panic in its tourism industry.

The fax was signed Solo, one of Mr. Posada’s code names, and
it was clear to us that the “Solo fax” concerned the Havana bomb-
ings. While I was in Caracas, my writing partner, Larry Rohter,
flew to Guatemala City to investigate Mr. Posada’s operations
there and the men who worked there. We then both flew to Aruba
in June 1998. Mr. Posada picked me up at the airport wearing Ber-
muda shorts and sandals. Mr. Rohter stayed long enough to ob-
serve Mr. Posada, watched for a while, and then he went to the
hotel to continue working on the story. Mr. Posada carried my bags
outside to a waiting van, and off we went to his gated safe house,
hidden from view by a high stucco gated wall.

He explained that he had granted the unprecedented interview
because publicity was necessary for the bombing campaign against
Cuba’s tourist industry. We also felt he wanted to see his side of
the story published, believing it would aid the anti-Castro cause.
During that first day, Mr. Posada spoke for several hours, and I
recorded much of the conversation. I continued to conduct taped
interviews of Mr. Posada over the next several days.

Not infrequently, he would turn the tape recorder off so he could
tell me some things that he would not want recorded. Sometimes
he would turn it on and off and then put it back on. I showed him
“the Solo fax” during one of our interview sessions, and he seemed
troubled by it. And he fretted that it could cause him problems
with the FBI. And he asked me my opinion of that situation. On
my last day in Aruba, Mr. Posada handed me three pages of notes
he had written in Spanish and English. “Ideology,” he had written
at the top in Spanish, but he made this observation:

“The absence of freedom of expression, of freedom of movement
for all hungry people oppressed and terrorized by Communist
oppression, this gives all free Cubans a right to take up arms
against the tyrant, using violence or whatever means at our
disposal to derail this terrible system and bring freedom to our
country.”
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At the bottom he wrote something in English. “He does not admit
the bombs in the hotels, but he does not deny either.” On the basis
of our review of all the CIA, FBI memoranda, of dozens of inter-
views with Mr. Posada’s collaborators, government investigators,
and the interview with Mr. Posada, we prepared three new articles
that appeared in the New York Times. Mr. Posada said he orga-
nized the wave of bombings in Cuba last year, and this is reading
from the New York Times series, so Luis Posada Carriles said he
organized the wave of bombings in Cuba last year at hotels, res-
taurants, and discotheques, killing an Italian tourist, and alarming
the Cuban Government.

Mr. Posada was schooled in demolition and guerilla warfare by
the Central Intelligence Agency in the 1960s. He described them as
acts of war intended to cripple a totalitarian regime by depriving
it of foreign tourism and investment. For several months the at-
tacks did indeed discourage tourism. With a rueful chuckle, Mr. Po-
sada described the sad fate of the Italian tourist as a freak acci-
dent, but he later declared that he had a clear conscience, saying,
“I sleep like a baby.”

A second article was based primarily on the interview with Anto-
nio Alvarez, the whistleblower in Mr. Posada’s office who notified
the FBI, who came to us at the New York Times, and who had been
alarmed by the bombing campaign. The Times also published with
this article a copy of the Posada “Solo fax” that he signed. Mr. Al-
varez claimed that for nearly a year he watched with growing con-
cern as two of his Cuban partners acquired explosives and deto-
nators, congratulating each other whenever a bomb went off in
Cuba. We reported that he said that he overheard men talk of as-
sassinating Fidel Castro at an upcoming conference summit to be
held in Margarita Island, Venezuela.

Mr. Alvarez reported this to the Guatemalan officials, and when
they did not respond he wrote a letter that eventually found its
way into the hands of Venezuelan intelligence agents as well as the
United States FBI. The article reported that the FBI showed little
interest in Mr. Alvarez’s information. According to Mr. Alvarez at
the time that we interviewed him in 1998, the FBI had contacted
him once by telephone, told him his life was in danger, and that
he should leave Guatemala, and never spoke with him again.

Mr. Alvarez told us about possible links between plotters in Gua-
temala and Cuban exiles living in Union City, who Mr. Alvarez
said were wiring the money to Mr. Posada. The article talked ex-
tensively about that fax, about the various men mentioned on the
fax, and about how three of the men whose names were mentioned
on the fax belonged to the Union of Former Political Prisoners.
This is an exile group whose members have served long and harsh
terms in Cuban jails, and are committed to Castro’s overthrow by
any means.

On July 13th, a third article appeared in which we wrote that
Mr. Posada did not fear prosecution by the U.S. “as Mr. Posada
sees it, because he does not stage his anti-Castro activities from
within the U.S., his activities should be of no concern to American
authorities.” “What I do is from Latin America, and my targets are
outside Cuba,” he said. “I am not a citizen, so they do not have
power over me.”
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On October 25, 1998, and this is the last prosecution in this case,
a United States grand jury in Puerto Rico indicted Angel Alfonso
Aleman, the man who was on the fishing boat who said the mission
was to assassinate Fidel Castro, and five others for various
charges, including conspiring to assassinate Fidel Castro. We pre-
pared a further article on this subject, “Cuban Exile Leader Among
Seven Accused of Plot.” We reported that the lawyer for Mr. Al-
fonso, Ricardo Pesquera, stated that “the government was opening
a Pandora’s Box they are going to regret.”

And he vowed to demand access to every CIA and FBI document
for the last 40 years. However, he need not be so concerned. The
judge decided that Mr. Alfonso’s confession that the rifles on the
boat were intended to assassinate Castro would not be used as evi-
dence. The defense, based upon the U.S. support of efforts to over-
throw Castro evidently worked, because they were all acquitted on
December 8, 1999.

In November 2000, Mr. Posada, along with three of his collabo-
rators, were arrested in Panama regarding an alleged plot to kill
Fidel Castro. The charges were dropped, but on April 20, 2004, he
was convicted of crimes against national security and counter-
feiting public records. He was sentenced to 8 years in prison, but
was released on August 25, 2004, after outgoing Panamanian
President Mireya Moscoso issued him a surprise last minute par-
don. On April 13th, Mr. Posada’s attorney at the time, immigration
attorney filed an application for political asylum, not long after he
had been seen around Miami. His lawyers would claim that on
March 26th, he had entered the United States illegally by crossing
the border of Mexico, and then making his way to Florida.

In the midst of the news of Mr. Posada’s return to the United
States, an FBI agent phoned me and asked me if I would volun-
tarily share my copies of FBI and CIA files regarding Mr. Posada.
When I asked why, he said, “Do us a favor. We can’t find ours.”
I wasn’t sure if he was joking.

Later I would learn that the Miami bureau of the FBI had done
the unimaginable, they had closed its file on Mr. Posada, and that
closure had green-lighted or allowed the destruction of extensive
evidence regarding him, reportedly some five boxes of materials.

On May 3rd, 2005, Venezuela approved an extradition request
for Posada. The same day in Washington, State Department Assist-
ant Secretary Roger Noriega stated somewhat incredibly that Po-
sada might not have been in the United States and that charges
against Posada “may be a completely manufactured issue.”

I heard from sources inside the FBI an astonishing story, that in
August 2003, the Miami FBI had closed its investigation of Luis
Posada. This, as I have said, allowed a green-lighted destruction of
the evidence that conscientious FBI agents had so meticulously
gathered against him for years, including some of the original ca-
bles from Union City and other documents.

FBI spokeswoman Judy Orihuela confirmed the destruction, but
explained it as “a routine cleaning” of the evidence room. Once the
case is closed, she said, it is green-lighted for destruction in order
to free up space in “the bulky.” That is what the evidence room is
called.
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So in other words, in order to make some room in the bulky,
rather than throw out maybe some drive-by shootings or a mug-
ging, this was the evidence that was selected in order to allow for
more room in the bulky was how it was explained to me. Therefore,
the reasoning went, it no longer warranted keeping his case file
open. And because, as Ms. Orihuela explained, they believed that
Posada had disappeared from sight and was out of action and his
location was unknown.

In fact, Luis Posada had rarely been more active. He had just
been front page news as to his exact location. He and his three
comrades were, in fact, in a Panamanian prison for their attempted
assassination on Fidel Castro at a summit held in Panama. Ms.
Orihuela told me that the supervisory agent in charge, or SAC,
Hector Pesquera, and the U.S. Attorney’s office of Marcos Jimenez
would have had to “sign off” on the file closure and destruction of
evidence of files in the case of Posada.

She added that the file had been reopened in 2005, after Posada
had reentered the country, and “is now a pending matter.” How-
ever, I learned from staff in the Miami FBI office that five boxes
of the most crucial materials had been destroyed. One can only
wonder why the FBI Special Agent in Charge and the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office would agree to close, then destroy much of the Posada
evidence. Does this not raise the question of possible obstruction of
justice? At the time the file closure took place, as I said, Mr. Po-
sada was in prison and was sentenced to prison.

However, on May 8, 2003, several south Florida Members of Con-
gress, including Representatives Ileana Ros-Lehtinen and Lincoln
Diaz-Balart had written on congressional stationery to President
Mireya Moscoso, asking for her to release Posada. The congres-
sional leaders reportedly then sent a second letter asking for Posa-
da’s release on November 5, 2003. The sequence of events dem-
onstrated to me that important U.S. officials were far keener on se-
curing Mr. Posada’s release than in pursuing a criminal prosecu-
tion against him.

I am going to jump ahead, because what happens next is really
quite incredible. While the FBI is destroying documents and files,
I received a subpoena. On October 6th—and I am jumping ahead
to my third subpoena, as there has been several of them—on Octo-
ber 6, 2006, my attorney, retained by the New York Times, received
a grand jury subpoena which directed me to appear and testify be-
fore the grand jury and to produce materials.

My attorney, Mr. Thomas Julin, on behalf of the New York Times
continues to fight to keep me out of the grand jury on First Amend-
ment grounds. At stake is not only my right, but the right of the
public to continue to have access to information that is critical to
its participation in our democracy. In this case, my independence
as a professional reporter allowed me to bring to the public through
the New York Times information on a private war that was being
conducted against a foreign nation, and the fact that the Justice
Department was doing little, if anything, to prevent these actions.

Moreover, the declassified FBI, CIA documents show that the
government has had extensive sources of information concerning
Mr. Posada’s involvement. These materials are now in the hands
of the Newark grand jury that was convened in 2005, and that they
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appear now to be looking at. If the government were seriously in-
terested in prosecuting Mr. Posada or others associated with his at-
tacks against Cuba, it had ample evidence for a very long period
of time, but chose not to do so. Instead, it has forestalled any pros-
ecution of him and others, and has sought to compel evidence from
me, thus compromising the reporter’s privilege.

And doing so after it had destroyed its own files regarding Mr.
Posada. I just want to add that in May 2007, U.S. District Judge
Kathleen Cardone dismissed the sole charge brought by the U.S.
Justice Department against Luis Posada, and issued a blistering
rebuke against the U.S. for basically trying to seek to attempt to
try a terrorism case in an immigration proceeding. She made some
interesting points.

Mr. Posada’s lawyers made much of a woeful interpreter who
conducted an interview with Posada about his career. They cited
several errors in translation. They won the Judge’s ire, et cetera.
However, no one pointed out that Luis Posada hardly did not need
a translator, having learned English as a young man when he
worked in the United States in Akron, Ohio, for the Firestone Tire
Company, and later when he served as a translator during Iran-
Contra for United States servicemen.

I also wanted to point out that when he joined the U.S. Army in
1963 you had to speak English. You had to have fluency. When I
interviewed him, he spoke mostly in English, as he did with Blake
Fleetwood for the New Times in 1976. And at no time did Mr. Po-
sada indicate to either of us that he did not understand something
in English. At no time. In fact, one of his previous attorneys who
handled his arraignment that I attended spoke to him exclusively
in English.

With all immigration charges dropped against him, Mr. Posada
walked out of jail on May 8th a free man, albeit one branded by
the U.S. Justice Department in their latest filings as “a dangerous
criminal, an admitted mastermind of terrorist plots.” But former
U.S. Attorney Alberto Gonzales had refused to declare Posada a se-
curity threat and arrest him. The PATRIOT Act, legislation that
Mr. Gonzales so carefully crafted and ardently supported, would
have allowed him to do so, but he declined to do so. Soon after re-
lease, Mr. Posada returned to Miami. He has been seen at El Club
Big Five with his old friends——

Mr. DELAHUNT. We have had testimony. If you could just wrap
it up.

Ms. BARDACH [continuing.] Where he was seen with his friend
and former cell mate Orlando Bosch. And the two have been seen
around town in Miami. On November 6th, a couple of days ago, the
DOJ announced they would appeal Judge Cardone’s ruling. Call me
a strict constructionist, but somehow I do not believe that our
Founding Fathers intended that our Government be allowed to raid
the news media for their work files after it bungles a case and de-
stroys crucial evidence. And that is exactly what happened in the
case of Luis Posada Carriles. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Bardach follows:]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF MS. ANN LOUISE BARDACH, BARDACH REPORTS

I first began reporting on the Cuban exile militant arena in the early 1990’s when
I was a staff writer for Vanity Fair magazine. In 1998, I co-authored a five part
series in the New York Times on the exile militant Luis Posada Carriles and his
cohorts in 1998. I also wrote extensively about Posada in my book Cuba Confiden-
tial: Love and Vengeance in Miami and Havana, and have done considerably more
research for my new book Without Fidel (to be published in 2008). Additionally, I
wrote a 10,000 word investigative article on the 1976 bombing of the Cubana airline
in The Atlantic Monthly in November 2006 http:/www.theatlantic.com/doc/200611/
cuba , http://www.theatlantic.com/doc/200610u/posada-qa?ca=0iOPA9JtNFepUh54A
%2BWhzsNXNmaGrDtEWQxfYBXgFzY%3D and http://www.theatlantic.com/doc/
200610u/posada-notes?ca=1QI74xpBzb1dzIWJ5{PwG65VGq6LhH1gAgqzG2Bzjzc
%3D.

Several other pieces by me on Luis Posada have appeared in The Washington Post
and other newspapers. To facilitate tracking this complex story, what follows is a
brief history of Mr. Posada’s career as an anti-Castro militant based on CIA, FBI,
and State Department memorandum.

POSADA’S DOCUMENTED HISTORY

Mr. Posada entered the United States at Miami from Cuba on April 28, 1961, and
was selected to be part of a Cuba infiltration team of the Black Falcons, an anti-
Castro commando group. (Exhibit 5 at 3). “Posada said he was planning to place
limpet mines on either a Cuban or Soviet vessel in the harbor of Veracruz, Mexico
and had 100 pounds of C—4 explosives and detonators.” (Exhibit 5 at 3).

In March 1963, Mr. Posada enrolled in U.S. Army officer candidate school at Fort
Benning and received instruction in demolition, propaganda and intelligence. He left
the Army, however, about one year later after it became clear that the United
States had no intention of invading Cuba. (Exhibit 6).

After leaving the Army, Mr. Posada joined Junta Revolucionaria Cubana, an anti-
Castro organization, and built a military training camp in Polk City, Florida for
guerillas who were planning to invade Cuba. (Exhibit 5 at 4).

Mr. Posada “has been of operational interest to [the Central Intelligence] Agency
since April 1965” and “was a member of the crew of a motor launch which was to
be used January 1965 by the Junta Revolucionario Cubana to infiltrate JURE lead-
er Manuel Ray Rivero into Cuba.” (Exhibit 7).

Mr. Posada received approximately $300 per month from the CIA and was se-
lected to head of three anti-Castro organizations. (Exhibit 8).

In the late 1970s, Mr. Posada told investigators from the House assassinations
panel that he had been trained as a CIA operative in the Florida Keys and had
quickly become a “principal agent” who “worked with the company direct” and had
had arms, boats, and a network of safe houses. (Exhibit 9).

Mr. Posada has been recognized as “a former Agent of CIA” who “was amicably
terminated in July 1967.” (Exhibit 10).

Mr. Posada then became head of the Counterintelligence Division of the Direc-
torate for the Services of Intelligence and Prevention (DISIP) for the Venezuelan Ci-
vilian Security Service, but that he lost his position with DISIP in March 1974 as
a result of a change in the Venezuelan government. (Exhibit 11).

Mr. Posada became of intense interest to the CIA shortly after the October 6,
1976, crash of a Cubana airliner off the coast of Barbados with 73 people aboard,
including teenagers from Cuba’s national fencing team. An October 7, 1976 CIA
memo states “This Agency has conducted an investigation of the names of persons
suspected of involvement in the 5 October 1976 crash of the Cubana airlines flight
. . . We have determined that this Agency had a relationship with one person
whose name has been mentioned in connection with the reported bombing. Both
[Freddy] Lugo’s and [Hernan Ricardo] Lozano’s employer in Caracas is Luis Posada
Carriles.” (Exhibit 12).

A November 8, 1976, declassified FBI memo notes that “Some plans regarding the
bombing of a Cubana Airlines airplane were discussed at the bar in the Anauco Hil-
ton Hotel in Caracas, Venezuela, at which meeting Frank Castro, Gustavo Castillo,
Luis Posada Carriles and [Ricardo “Mono”] Morales Navarrete were present. This
meeting took place sometime before the bombing of the Cubana DC-8 near Bar-
bados on October 6, 1976.” (Exhibit 13 at 2-3).

. The CIA and FBI memoranda as well as numerous press reports show that ulti-
mately, Mr. Posada was charged with Venezuelan authorities with the bombing,
tried and acquitted in a military court, but the acquittal was deemed invalid due
to lack of jurisdiction and in 1985, while awaiting trial in a civil court, Mr. Posada
escaped from a Venezuelan prison after eight years of incarceration. He remains the
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subject of an extradition request from the Venezuelan government for his alleged
involvement with the bombing.

After his escape from Venezuela, Mr. Posada went to El Salvador and re-estab-
lished ties with the CIA. He became involved there in supplying arms to the U.S.-
backed Contras fighting the Sandinistas in Nicaragua. (Exhibit 14) (R&R at 4).

In September, 1989, Mr. Posada moved to Guatemala. In February, 1990, he was
shot numerous times in the face and torso during an assassination attempt. (Exhibit
14) (R&R at 4).

On February 3, 1992, FBI special agents Michael S. Foster and George R.
Kiszynski conducted a detailed, tape-recorded interview of Mr. Posada in
Tegucigalpa, Honduras concerning Mr. Posada’s involvement in the Iran-Contra Af-
fair. (Exhibit 15).

THE NEW YORK TIMES SERIES

The background of the New York Times series concerned a series of eleven hotel
and restaurant bombings that went off in Cuba from April 11, 1997 through Sep-
tember 4, 1997. One of the bombings on September 1, 1997, killed Fabio Di Celmo,
an Italian tourist. Early on, Mr. Posada was accused by the Cuban government—
and suspected and investigated by US authorities of masterminding the bombings.
(Exhibit 14) (R&R at 5).

The bombings attracted extensive national media attention. For example, the Los
Angeles Times published an article on July 15, 1997, headlined, U.S. Denies Role
in Havana Hotel Blasts, and an article on September 11, 1997, headlined Salva-
doran Held in 4 Recent Explosions. On September 7, 1997, The Washington Post
published an editorial entitled Murder in Havana. The Miami Herald published the
results of its investigation of the Havana bombings on November 11, 1997, in article
headlined, Exiles Directed Blasts That Rocked Island’s Tourism, Investigation Re-
veals. The Herald article quoted three Miami exiles as identifying Mr. Posada as ob-
taining $15,000 from wealthy Cuban-American businessmen in Miami to pay the
Salvadorans to commit the bombings and as commanding the operation. (Exhibit
16).

THE BEGINNING OF THE NEW YORK TIMES SERIES

New York Times Caribbean Bureau chief, Larry Rohter, and I began work on a
series about Cuban exile militant activities in early 1998. The Times published our
first article, Plot On Castro Spotlights A Powerful Group, on May 5, 1998. (Exhibit
17). The 2200-word article described how in October, 1997, U.S. Coast Guard offi-
cials boarded a cabin cruiser called La Esperanza near Puerto Rico and found four
Cuban exiles who claimed to be on a fishing trip, but who had no fishing gear. In-
stead, the Coast Guard found two .50-caliber Barrett high-powered sniper rifles, reg-
istered to the president of the Cuban American National Foundation (CANF), and
that the cabin cruiser was registered to a company owned by Jose Antonio Llama,
a member of the CANF executive board. (Exhibit 17). One of the exiles on La
Esperanza, Angel Alfonso Aleman, reportedly blurted out during the search that the
rifles were “for the purpose of assassinating Fidel Castro.” (Exhibit 17). The article
also reported how the incident touched off an investigation of CANF, which had
raised more than $1 million for Republicans and Democrats and forged close ties
to every Administration from Ronald Reagan onwards. That is, until the current Ad-
ministration of George W. Bush, for whom they were judged to be insufficiently
hardline enough in regard to Cuba.

In this first article, Larry Rohter and I reported that the lawyer representing Mr.
Alfonso, Ricardo Pesquera, warned that if the Government tried his client, “we will
go after the Government very strongly” and “attack their hypocrisy.” We also re-
ported that Mr. Pesquera had a sheaf of declassified CIA documents about Govern-
ment efforts to overthrow the Cuban leader and complained that “for 30 years they
tried to kill Castro and now they say others can’t do the very same thing they were
doing.” (Exhibit 17).

The first article also reported that in August 1997, CANF “startled some in Miami
when it declined to condemn a string of bombings of hotels and restaurants in
Cuba” and took out a full page ad in The Miami Herald announcing that it would
continue using every means at its disposal against Cuba, without excluding violence.
(Exhibit 17).

In our New York Times article was an interview with Angel Alfonso Aleman of
Union City, N.J. in which he said “I am a Cuban patriot.” He also said that he had
visited the White House on four occasions, “once with Reagan, once with Bush, and
twice with Clinton,” and that he produced a photograph of himself alone with Mr.
Clinton. (Exhibit 17). We reported that the case was under investigation by the
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United States Attorney, Customs, the Coast Guard, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco
and Firearms, the Maritime Enforcement Agency, the CIA, the FBI and the State
Department. (Exhibit 17).

MY INTERVIEW WITH LUIS POSADA

In June 1998, a colleague at Vanity Fair, where I worked for 10 years as a Con-
tributing Editor, put me in touch with a Cuban businessman living in Caracas with
ties to Mr. Posada. In the first week of June, 1998, I met with the businessman
in New York City and asked him to arrange an interview with Mr. Posada.

Around the same time The Miami Herald published an article on Sunday, June
7, 1998, entitled An Exile’s Relentless Aim: Oust Castro. (Exhibit 18). The Herald
was unable to interview Mr. Posada, but it identified two of his co-conspirators in
Guatemala as Jose Alvarez and Jose Burgos, officers of three Guatemala City sub-
sidiaries of WRB Enterprises, a Tampa firm whose Guatemala operations were
headed up by Antonio Alvarez, a Cuban exile from Greenville, S.C.

A FBI agent who worked on the Havana bombing case told me that the FBI had
sent agents to Guatemala to interview Antonio Alvarez. Mr. Alvarez related pre-
cisely how Mr. Posada’s operation worked and identified its intended targets. “We
found him entirely credible,” said one FBI agent, who worked extensively on the
case. “We thought it would be a slam dunk: we’d charge and arrest Posada.” “But
then,” the agent said, “we had a meeting one day and the chief said, ‘Hey, wait a
minute. Lots of folks around here think Posada is a freedom fighter.” We were in
shock. And they closed down the whole Posada investigation. When we asked for
a wiretap on [famed militant] Orlando Bosch, who we knew was working on bomb-
ing runs, we were turned down.”

Two weeks after my New York meeting with the Cuban-exile businessman, I re-
ceived a message on my phone machine from “Ramon Medina. He left a number and
asked that I call him back. I knew that Ramon Medina was a nom de guerre of Luis
Posada Carriles. As I was working on The Times’ investigative series on exile mili-
tant groups, I phoned my editor, Steve Engleberg, and played Mr. Posada’s message.
He instructed me to call Mr. Posada back and to arrange to meet with him wherever
he might be.

I did speak with Mr. Posada again by phone several times and arranged to meet
him for an interview. Prior to meeting with Mr. Posada, I had gone to Caracas, Ven-
ezuela and Isla Margarita where a Venezuelan official gave me a copy of a FAX
from Mr. Posada sent to his partners, Jose Alvarez and Jose Burgos, in Guatemala
City in August, 1997. In the FAX, Mr. Posada indicated Alvarez and Burgos would
receive “via Western Union four transfers of $800 each . . . from New Jersey.” The
FAX also stated: “If there is no publicity, the work is not useful. The U.S. news-
papers don’t publish anything unless it’s confirmed,” reflecting Mr. Posada’s concern
that the Cuban government was hushing up many of the summer bombings to avoid
creating panic in its tourism industry. The FAX was signed “Solo,” one of Mr. Posa-
da’s code names and it was clear to us that Posada’s “Solo FAX” concerned the Ha-
vana hotel bombings. While I was in Caracas, my reporting partner, Larry Rohter,
flew to Guatemala City to investigate Mr. Posada’s operation there.

Mr. Rohter and I then flew to Aruba to meet Mr. Posada on June 18, 1998. Mr.
Posada picked me up at the airport wearing Bermuda shorts and sandals. Mr.
Rohter stayed long enough to observe Mr. Posada’s entrance and greeting of me,
then left by taxi to a hotel where he continued working on the story. Mr. Posada
carried my bags outside to a waiting van, and off we went to his gated safe house,
the home of a supporter, hidden from view by a high stucco gated wall. He ex-
plained that he had granted the unprecedented interview because publicity was nec-
essary for the bombing campaign he had launched in 1997 against Cuba’s tourist
industry. We also felt he wanted to see his side of the story published, believing it
would aid the anti-Castro cause.

During that first day, Mr. Posada spoke for several hours and I recorded much
of the conversation. I continued to conduct taped interviews of Mr. Posada over the
next several days. Not infrequently, Mr. Posada would turn the tape recorder off so
that he could tell me things that would not be recorded. I showed Mr. Posada the
“Solo FAX” during one of the interviews and he seemed troubled by it and fretted
that it could cause him problems with the FBI.

On my last day in Aruba, Mr. Posada handed me three pages of notes he had
written in Spanish and English. “Ideology,” he had written at the top in Spanish.
They included this observation:

The absence of freedom of expression, of freedom of movement for a hungry peo-
ple oppressed and terrorized by communist repression . . . This gives all free
Cubans a right to take up arms against the tyrant, using violence or whatever
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means at our disposal to derail this terrible system and bring freedom to our
country.

At the bottom he had written, in English: “He does not admit the bombs in the ho-
tels but he does not deny either.” (Exhibit 19).

THE JULY 1998 NEW YORK TIMES ARTICLES

On the basis of our review of declassified CIA and FBI materials, dozens of inter-
views we had conducted in Union City, Miami, Guatemala, and Venezuela with Mr.
Posada’s collaborators and government investigators, and my interviews of Mr. Po-
sada, Larry Rohter and I prepared three new articles. The Times published the first
article on page one on Sunday, July 12, 1998. under the headline A BOMBER’S
TALE('i: Taking Aim at Castro; Key Cuba Foe Claims Exiles’ Backing. The article
stated:

Luis Posada Carriles, said he organized a wave of bombings in Cuba last year
at hotels, restaurants and discotheques, killing an Italian tourist and alarming
the Cuban Government. Mr. Posada was schooled in demolition and guerrilla
warfare by the Central Intelligence Agency in the 1960’s. . . . .

Mr. Posada proudly admitted authorship of the hotel bomb attacks last year.
He described them as acts of war intended to cripple a totalitarian regime by
depriving it of foreign tourism and investment. . . .

For several months the attacks did indeed discourage tourism. With a rueful
chuckle, Mr. Posada described the Italian tourist’s death as a freak accident,
but he declared that he had a clear conscience, saying, “I sleep like a baby.”

(Exhibit 2).

This first article also reported that money had been delivered to Mr. Posada by
several friends, some of whom held key positions in the Cuban American National
Foundation that “was used for his living expenses and for operations” and that his
late friend, Jorge Mas Canosa, CANF’s former chairman, told him “he did not want
to know the details of his activities.” (Exhibit 2).

The article noted that Mr. Posada identified Gaspar Jimenez, who was jailed in
Mexico in 1976, as a Cuban exile who delivered money to him from Miami. (Exhibit

2).

The article further reported Mr. Posada’s belief that after the hotel bombings
began, American authorities did not bother to question him due to his longstanding
relationship with American law enforcement and intelligence agencies. (Exhibit 2).
The first article also reported that Mr. Posada denied any role in the Cubana airline
bombing. (Exhibit 2).

The Times published a second article the same day under the headline A Cuban
Exile Details the ‘Horrendous Matter’ of a Bombing Campaign. This article was
based primarily on an interview of Antonio Jorge Alvarez, a whistleblower in Posa-
da’s office who was alarmed by the bombing campaign.. (Exhibit 3). The Times also
published with this article a copy of the FAX that Mr. Posada had sent to Mr.
Alvarez’s office signed “Solo.”

Mr. Alvarez claimed that for nearly a year, he had watched with growing concern
as two of his Cuban partners acquired explosives and detonators, congratulating
each other whenever a bomb went off in Cuba. We reported that he said that he
overheard the men talk of assassinating Fidel Castro at a conference of Latin Amer-
ican heads of state to be held in Margarita Island, Venezuela. Mr. Alvarez reported
this to Guatemalan security officials and when they did not respond, he wrote a let-
ter that eventually found its way into the hands of Venezuelan intelligence agents
and the U.S. FBI. (Exhibit 3).

The article reported that the FBI showed little interest in Mr. Alvarez’s informa-
tion. According to Mr. Alvarez at the time we interviewed him in 1998, the FBI had
contacted him once by telephone, told him that his life was in danger and that he
should leave Guatemala, and never spoke with him again. (Exhibit 3).

The article reported that Mr. Alvarez told us about possible links between the
plotters in Guatemala and Cuban exiles living in Union City, N.J., who Mr. Alvarez
said were wiring money to Mr. Posada. (Exhibit 3). Mr. Alvarez said events in his
office rapidly made clear that Mr. Posada’s main interest was waging war in Cuba
against Fidel Castro. (Exhibit 3).

The article contained Mr. Alvarez’s detailed account and description of how Mr.
Posada moved explosives to Cuba. (Exhibit 3). It reported that in August, 1997, at
the height of the bombing campaign in Cuba, Mr. Alvarez had intercepted the FAX
that Mr. Posada had sent from El Salvador and signed “Solo” and that Mr. Alvarez
gave the FAX to Guatemalan intelligence. The FAX identified Abel Hernandez, who
is the owner of Mi Bandera (My Flag), a restaurant in Union City as well as a West-
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ern Union office, a Cuban-American community just across the Hudson River from
Manhattan. At the restaurant’s entrance, one of Mr. Posada’s paintings faced a pho-
tograph of Mr. Hernandez arm in arm with Jorge Mas Canosa, the late founder of
the Cuban-American National Foundation. Three other men named in the FAX also
lived in Union City and at least two belonged to the Union of Former Political Pris-
oners, an exile group whose members have served long and harsh terms in Cuban
prisons and are committed to Castro’s overthrow by any means. (Exhibit 3).

The two articles published on July 12, 2006, were accompanied by a timeline
chart of Mr. Posada’s life from his birth through the commencement of the Havana
hotel bombings in 1997. The last entry read, “APRIL 1997—Bombs begin to explode
at Havana’s better hotels, an operation Mr. Posada says he directed.” (Exhibit 2).

The following day, Monday, July 13, 1998, The Times published our third article
under the headline, Decades of Intrigue; Life in the Shadows, Trying to Bring Down
Castro. (Exhibit 4). This article provided a broader perspective on Mr. Posada’s life
and his involvement with U.S. law enforcement agencies over the course of four dec-
ades. (Exhibit 4). In the following passage, Mr. Posada explained why he did not
believe that the United States could prosecute him for his involvement in attacks
on the Castro regime:

As Mr. Posada sees it, because he does not stage his anti-Castro activities from
within the United States, his activities should be of no concern to the American
authorities. “What I do is from Latin America, and my targets are inside Cuba,”
he said. “I am not a citizen, so they do not have power over me.”

(Exhibit 4).
THE FAILED PROSECUTION

On August 25, 1998, a United States grand jury in Puerto Rico indicted Jose
Rodriguez Sosa, Alfredo Otero, Angel Alfonso Aleman, Angel Hernandez Rojo, Juan
Bautista Marquez and Francisco Secundino Cordova were indicted on various
charges, including conspiring to assassinate Fidel Castro. See United States v. Al-
fonso, No. 3:97-cr-00257-HL-1 (D.P.R. Aug. 25, 1999) (D.E. 123).

Mr. Rohter and I then prepared a further article for the Times which was pub-
lished on August 26, 1998, under the headline, Cuban Exile Leader Among 7 Ac-
cused of Plot (Exhibit 20). The article reported that the lawyer for Mr. Alfonso, Ri-
cardo Pesquera, stated that the Government was “opening a Pandora’s box they’re
going to regret” and that he vowed to demand access to every CIA and FBI docu-
ment on nearly 40 years of plots, some of them Government-organized, to kill Mr.
Castro. (Exhibit 20).

Later, the prosecutor decided that Mr. Alfonso’s confession—that the rifles found
on La Esperanza were intended to assassinate Castro—would not be used as evi-
dence because its legality was too vague. (Exhibit 21). The defense, based on the
United States support of efforts to overthrow Castro, evidently worked because six
of the defendants were acquitted on December 8, 1999, by the jury in Puerto Rico.
See United States v. Alfonso, No. 3:97-cr-00257-HL-1 (D.P.R. Dec. 8 & 21, 1999)
(D.E. 344 & 348). The seventh, Mr. Bautista had been severed because he was ar-
rested in Miami before the trial for smuggling cocaine. United States v. Alfonso, No.
3:97-cr-00257-HL-1 (D.P.R. Nov. 21, 1999) (D.E. 306).

LUIS POSADA ARRESTED IN PANAMA, THEN RELEASED & RETURNS TO THE UNITED
STATES

In November 2000, Mr. Posada, along with three collaborators, was arrested in
Panama regarding an alleged plot to assassinate Fidel Castro. (Exhibit 14) (R&R
at 5). The charges were dropped, but on April 20, 2004, he was convicted in Panama
of crimes against national security and counterfeiting public records. (Exhibit 14)
(R&R at 5). He was sentenced to eight years of imprisonment, but was released on
August 25, 2004, after outgoing Panamanian President Mireya Moscoso pardoned
him. (Exhibit 14) (R&R at 5). His pardon followed intense lobbying from several
hardline exile groups and leaders in Miami, including several representatives to
Congress.

On or about April 13, 2005, Mr. Posada’s attorney filed an application for political
asylum in the United States, not long after Mr. Posada was seen in and around
Miami. His lawyers subsequently would claim that on March 26, 2005, Mr. Posada
had entered the United States illegally by crossing the border from Mexico near
Brownsville, Texas and then made his way to Florida. (Exhibit 14) (R&R at 5).

. In the midst of the news of Mr. Posada’s return to the United States, an FBI
agent phoned me and asked if I voluntarily would share my copies of FBI and CIA
files regarding Mr. Posada. When I asked why, he said, “Do us a favor. We can’t
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find ours.” Later, I would learn that the Miami bureau of the FBI had closed its
file on Mr. Posada and that the closure had greenlighted or allowed the destruction
of extensive evidence regarding Mr. Posada, reportedly some five boxes of materials.
On May 3, 2005, the Venezuelan Supreme Court approved an extradition request
for Posada. Speaking the same day in Washington, D.C., State Department Assist-
ant Secretary, Bureau of Western Hemisphere Affairs Roger Noriega stated some-
what incredibly that Posada might not have been in the United States and that
charges against Posada “may be a completely manufactured issue.” (Exhibit 22)
(BBC News).

THE GOVERNMENT’S FIRST SUBPOENA TO ME

On May 6, 2005, the Immigration and Customs Enforcement Division of the U.S.
Department of Homeland Security issued two subpoenas duces tecum commanding
The New York Times and me to produce to it “Copies of all tape recordings and doc-
uments relating to the interview of Luis Posada Carriles by Ann Bardach, which
was conducted in June 1998, excerpts of which were published in the New York
Times on July 12 and 13, 1998.” (Exhibit 23).

I regarded the subpoena as an attack on my independence as a journalist because
I had conducted the interview of Mr. Posada in my role as a professional journalist.
I had not promised Mr. Posada confidentiality, but I believe that I was able to ob-
tain the interview because Mr. Posada did not view me as a tool of U.S. law enforce-
ment agencies. He granted me an interview in my role as a reporter for The New
York Times, not as a prosecutor for the US government.

Coincidentally, on May 10, 2005, The National Security Archive (NSA) compiled
information that it had assembled regarding Mr. Posada in a single briefing book
called, LUIS POSADA CARRILES THE DECLASSIFIED RECORD CIA and FBI
Documents Detail Career in International Terrorism; Connection to U.S., National
Security Archive Electronic Briefing Book No. 153. The National Security Archive,
an independent non-governmental research library located at The George Wash-
ington University, collects and publishes declassified documents obtained through
the Freedom of Information Act and is accessible online at: http:/www.gwu.edu/
?nsarchiv/. One can read hundreds of documents relating to Luis Posada at http:/
/www.gwu.eduw/?nsarchiv/NSAEBB/NSAEBB153/ index.htm.

On Monday, May 16, 2005, I filed a petition in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Florida asking the Court to quash the subpoena as it
had been issued in violation of constitutional and common law protections of jour-
nalists, the Department’s own guidelines for subpoenaing journalists, and constitu-
tional protections of privacy rights. (Exhibit 24). I pointed out in a declaration filed
in support of that motion that “the Department already is in possession of abundant
materials concerning the actions of Mr. Posada Carriles upon which it could dispose
of the petition.”

The following day, May 17, 2005, Mr. Posada appeared at a news conference in
Miami-Dade and announced his intention to leave the United States. He was then
detained by Immigrations & Customs Enforcement agents of the Department of
Homeland Security. (Exhibit 14) (R&R at 5). Posada’s arrest presented diplomatic
problems because his extradition had been sought by both Cuba and Venezuela. His
arrest also coincided with large anti-Posada protest demonstrations in Havana, esti-
mated in the hundreds of thousands. (Exhibit 26). Relatives of the victims of the
Cubana bombing also protested in the US.

The Department of Homeland Security placed Mr. Posada in detention in a fed-
eral facility in El Paso, Texas shortly after his arrest and reportedly charged him
with entering the country illegally. On August 8, 2005 the Justice Department with-
drew its subpoena of me instead of responding to my petition to quash. (Exhibit 27).

MR. POSADA’S LIMBO

On September 27, 2005, an immigration court denied Mr. Posada’s request for po-
litical asylum and found him removable from the United States either to Cuba or
Venezuela for violating the immigration laws of the United States. (Exhibit 14 at
1-2).

On September 28, 2005, the same immigration judge ruled that Mr. Posada could
not be deported because he “faced the threat of torture in Venezuela.” The Ven-
ezuelan government reacted by claiming that the United States had a “double
standard in its so-called war on terrorism.” (Exhibit 28). The judge had no recourse
as th(f U.S. government did not produce a single witness in its prosecution of Mr.
Posada.

After a petition for political asylum is denied and an alien is found to be exclud-
able, the Attorney General is required to remove the alien from the United States
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within 90 days. See 8 U.S.C. § 1231(a)(1). It is my understanding that an alien may
obtain a deferral of removal beyond 90 days, however, by showing a substantial like-
lihood that he would be tortured or killed upon his removal to his countries of na-
tionality. 8 CFR §208.17 (implementing article III of the Convention Against Tor-
ture). Mr. Posada applied for and obtained such a deferral. (Exhibit 14 at 2).

The Supreme Court has held, however, that detention after a removal order may
not continue indefinitely and that an alien generally must be released if after six
months of post-removal order detention he or she can establish that his or her re-
moval is not reasonably foreseeable. See Clark v. Martinez, 543 U.S. 371 (2005);
Zadvydas v. Davis, 533 U.S. 678 (2001).

Although the six-month period following entry of the Mr. Posada removal order
would expire on March 25, 2006, the Department of Homeland Security determined
in an interim decision on March 22, 2006, to maintain Mr. Posada in custody for
the purposes of effectuating his removal to a third country that would be willing
to accept him. (Exhibit 14 at 2).

On September 11, 2006, U.S. Magistrate Norbert J. Garney entered a rec-
?nﬁmendation that Mr. Posada must be released. (Exhibit 14). The order began as
ollows:

Petitioner is a 78-year-old native and citizen of Cuba and naturalized citizen
of Venezuela. As observed by the IJ, Petitioner’s “case reads like one of Robert
Ludlum’s espionage thrillers, with all the plot twists and turns Ludlum is fa-
mous for.

The Magistrate further noted that 8 U.S.C. §§ 1531-37 establish the Alien Ter-
rorist Removal Court and that upon receipt of classified information that an alien
is an alien terrorist, the Attorney General may seek removal of the alien by filing
an application with the removal court and may take the alien into custody indefi-
nitely, but that the Attorney General had not provided the certification required by
this statutory mechanism. (Exhibit 14 at 20-21). Specifically, the Magistrate pointed
out: “In this case, Petitioner was never certified by the Attorney General as a ter-
rorist or danger to the community or national security.”

The Magistrate also observed that 8 C.F.R. §§241.13(e)(6) & 241.14 allow for con-
tinued detention if the Attorney General certifies that there are special cir-
cumstances that require continued detention, but again the Attorney General had
not certified any such circumstances exist. (Exhibit 14 at 21-22). These procedures
authorize continued detention of an alien for additional periods of up to six months
of any alien whose removal is not reasonably foreseeable and who has engaged in
terrorist activities or otherwise presents a threat to national security et al.

In sum, the Magistrate concluded that the Government had any number of alter-
native legal means for ensuring that Mr. Posada would continue to be held, but that
it had chosen not to employ any of those means. This seemed to demonstrate that
the Government did not regard investigation or prosecution of Mr. Posada as a com-
pelling interest. Instead, it appears to be the view of the current Administration that
because Mr. Posada’s actions historically have been directed against overthrowing
Fidel Castro, an objective which appears to be consistent with the interests of the
United States, that Mr. Posada should not be prosecuted. It also appears that the
Government is hesitant to state this view openly due to the criticism that it likely
would engender.

The Government’s hesitancy to express its true views regarding Mr. Posada mani-
fested itself in the nominal objection that the Government filed to the Magistrate’s
recommendation to release Mr. Posada. There, the Government stated that he had
not yet decided whether to make the certifications allowed under the various stat-
utes and regulations authorizing continued detention, but that it may do so in the
future. (Exhibit 30).

THE GOVERNMENT’S RENEWED INTEREST IN MY JOURNALISM

While Mr. Posada and the Government were arguing about whether he would be
removed, detained, or released, my attorney Thomas R. Julin of Hunton & Williams
LLP heard again from attorneys for the Government. On October 31, 2005, an as-
sistant United States Attorney assigned to the Counterterrorism Division of the Jus-
tice Department contacted The Times’ attorney to let him know that the Justice De-
partment might seek a grand jury subpoena to require me to turn over materials
relating to my interview of Mr. Posada.

If the Government had been serious about criminally prosecuting Mr. Posada on
the basis of the statements he made in June, 1998 and that had been reported on
the front page of The New York Times and other national newspapers, it could have
done so long ago.
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MORE EVIDENCE

In June 2006, I received a copy of a document written by Mr. Antonio “Tonin”
Llama, a former director of the Cuban American National Foundation, who had
been indicted and acquitted in the Esperanza case in 1998. In it, Mr. Llama de-
manded that the CANF “deliver the titles and assets that I bought and paid for the
campaign that we carried out when I was a director, with the purpose of desta-
bilizing Castro’s communist government that has been in power in Cuba for almost
half a century.” He explained that he needed the assets to deliver them to the Inter-
national Finance Bank, “which lent me part of the money to buy 10 airplanes, 8
ships and armaments, since I have not been able to pay them after having filed for
bankruptcy.” (Exhibit 31 is the original document sent by Mr. Llama in Spanish and
Exhibit 32, is an English translation of that document).

When I became aware of Mr. Llama’s admissions, it seemed to me that the Gov-
ernment then would be able to obtain extensive information from Mr. Llama regard-
ing whatever the Grand Jury might be investigating. Indeed Mr. Llama has since
been interviewed by the FBI in Miami. Antonio Alvarez was another obvious alter-
native source of detailed eyewitness testimony concerning Mr. Posada and those
who had been working with him during the 1997 bombings. I was confident the Gov-
ernment would end its efforts to obtain materials or information from The Times
or me because that evidence seemed so unnecessary either to any investigation, to
obtain an indictment, or to prosecute those involved. But that was before I learned
that the Miami FBI office, evidently bowing to local political pressure, had done the
unimaginable.

THE GOVERNMENT DESTROYS ITS OWN FILE

I learned from sources inside the FBI that in August 2003, the Miami FBI had
closed its investigation of Mr. Posada. The closure of his case allowed a green-light-
ed destruction of the evidence that conscientious FBI agents had so meticulously
gathered against him for many years—including some of the original cables from
Union City to Posada. FBI spokeswoman Judy Orihuela, confirmed the destruction
but explained it as a “routine cleaning” of the evidence room. Once a case is closed,
she said, it is greenlighted for destruction in order to free up space in The Bulky,
as the evidence room is known. Ms. Orihela initially said that the Bureau believed
that Posada had disappeared from sight, and was out of action, with his location
unknown. Therefore, their reasoning went, it no longer warranted keeping his case
file open. However, Posada had rarely been more active and it had been front page
news as to his exact location. He and his three comrades were sojourning in a Pan-
amanian prison for their attempted assassination on Castro at a summit held in
Panama.

Ms. Orihuela, told me that the supervisory agent in charge or SAC, Hector
Pesquera, and the U.S. Attorney’s Office of Marcos Jimenez would have had to “sign
off” on the file closure and destruction. Ms. Orihuela added that the file has been
reopened in May 2005 after Posada had reentered the country “and is now a pend-
ing case.” However, I learned from staff in the Miami FBI office that five boxes of
some of the most crucial data regarding Posada and the Havana bombings had been
destroyed. One can only wonder why would the FBI Special Agent in Charge and
the US Attorney agree to close, then destroy much of the Posada files and evidence?
Does this not raise the question of possible obstruction of justice?

Moreover, the Posada file closure and subsequent destruction struck me as com-
pelling evidence that the Government had no real interest in prosecuting Posada
and that at that time (2003), it may have taken intentional steps to make sure that
Posada could not be prosecuted.

At the time that the file closure took place in August, 2003, Mr. Posada was being
held in jail in Panama for attempting to assassinate Fidel Castro. (Exhibit 33). Sev-
eral months earlier on May 8, 2003, several South Florida members of Congress,
including Reps. Ileana Ros Lehtinen and Lincoln Diaz Balart, had written on Con-
gressional stationery to Panamanian President Mireya Moscoso asking for her to re-
lease Posada. (Exhibit 33). The Congressional leaders reportedly then sent a second
letter again asking for Mr. Posada’s release on November 5, 2003. (Exhibit 33). This
sequence of events demonstrated to me that important U.S. public officials were far
keener on securing Mr. Posada’s release than in pursuing a criminal prosecution of
him or those working with him against Fidel Castro notwithstanding their aware-
ness of the material that The New York Times and other media had published about
him in 1997 and 1998.

Preserving case files and evidence against Posada and his comrades has proven
challenging in several countries. As far back as 1988, President Carlos Andrés Pérez
asserted that “the [Cubana bombing] file had been tampered with.” His successor,
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Hugo Chavez, likewise complained that in the days before he assumed the presi-
dency in 1998, many sensitive DISIP files were destroyed, including Cubana case
records, according to Jose Pertierra, who has represented Venezuela in its case
against Posada.

In 1992, a fire at the police station in Port of Spain, the capital of Trinidad and
Tobago, destroyed many of the files in the Cubana bombing. When I called Dennis
Ramdwar, Trinidad’s former police commissioner, who had interviewed Hernan Ri-
cardo and Freddy Lugo, he was initially helpful. But during subsequent calls,
Ramdwar, now 82, said, “I don’t want to talk about it. I don’t want to get in between
Chavez and the U.S.” Nor did he want to comment on his files on Bosch and Posada.
‘(;They h,’ave powerful friends who protect them,” he said. “They did then and they

0 Now.

There were other thorny details in this case. To give you a sense of how chal-
lenging the environment in Miami is consider that the Miami-Dade Police Depart-
ment’s liaison to the FBI’s Joint Terrorism Task Force is a detective named Luis
Crespo Jr. Although well-liked, he is the son of Luis Crespo, one of the most famous
anti-Castro militants, known as El Gancho, or The Hook, because of the hand he
lost to an ill-timed bomb.

Working alongside Crespo Jr. is detective Hector Alfonso, whose father is also a
legendary anti-Castro militant, Hector Fabian, who also hosts a radio show. As-
signed to the MDPD intelligence unit, Alfonso has access to the most sensitive infor-
mation on homeland defense, including all materials on Cuban exile militants. “Say
you had a tip for the FBI about a bombing,” mused one former agent who worked
on Posada’s case. “Would you want to give it to a guy whose father is Luis Crespo?”

THE ATLANTIC MONTHLY ARTICLE

On October 3, 2006, The Atlantic Monthly magazine published a new article that
I wrote concerning Mr. Posada and others entitled Twilight of the Assassins. (Ex-
hibit 34). Relying on newly declassified FBI and CIA files, I reported that 30 years
after the downing of a Cubana airliner that still more evidence implicated Mr. Po-
sada. For example, I reported that the two Venezuelans arrested for placing a bomb
on the Cubana airliner made their the first call after the attack to the office of Luis
Posada’s security company.” The article also reported for the first time that the
Miami bureau of the FBI had closed its file on Mr. Posada and that this had cleared
the way for destruction of evidence gather by the FBI concerning Mr. Posada’s oper-
ations.

Shortly after publication of my Atlantic Monthly article, the NSA released still
more documents that it had obtained from Government files including new inves-
tigative records which the NSA stated “further implicate Luis Posada Carriles” in
the downing of the Cubana airliner (http:/www.gwu.edu/?nsarchiv/NSAEBB/
NSAEBB202/index.htm). Among the documents posted is an “annotated list of four
volumes of still-secret records on Mr. Posada’s career with the CIA, his acts of vio-
Lence, and his suspected involvement in the bombing of Cubana flight 455 on Octo-

er 6, 1976.”

THE GRAND JURY SUBPOENAS ME

On October 6, 2006, my attorney, retained by The New York Times, received a
grand jury subpoena which directed me to appear and testify before the grand jury
and to produce all tape recordings that I have of the 1998 interviews of Posada. My
attorney, Mr. Julin continues to fight to keep me out of the Grand Jury on First
Amendment grounds. At stake, is not only my right, but the right of the public to
continue to have access to information that is critical to its participation in our de-
mocracy. In this case, my independence as a professional reporter allowed me to
bring to the public through The New York Times information showing that a private
war was being conducted against a foreign nation and the Justice Department was
doing little, if anything, to prevent it notwithstanding the availability of abundant
evidence that could be used to prosecute those involved in that effort.

The United States Government has compiled extensive information concerning
Luis Posada Carriles and his activities since he openly opposed Fidel Castro shortly
after the Cuban Revolution in 1959, left Cuba in February, 1961, and volunteered
for training by the Central Intelligence Agency-backed Bay of Pigs invasion two
months later.

My knowledge of the Government’s extensive files is based in part on The New
York Times’ review of declassified CIA and FBI documents, a good deal of it com-
piled by the National Security Archive. The NSA has publicly stated that the Gov-
ernment has hundreds of other documents relating to Mr. Posada and the Cubana
airliner downing which it refuses to release to the public.



57

The declassified FBI and CIA documents show that the Government has extensive
alternative sources of information concerning Mr. Posada’s involvement in actions
that the Newark Grand Jury—convened in 2005—appears to be now investigating.

If the Government were seriously interested in prosecuting Mr. Posada or others
associated with him for criminal activities for attacks against Cuba, it has had
ample evidence so for a very long period of time but it chose not to do so. Instead,
it has forestalled any prosecution of him and others and has sought to compel evi-
dence—thus comprising the reporter’s privilege—from me only after it has destroyed
its own files regarding Mr. Posada.

In early May, 2007, US District Judge Kathleen Cardone dismissed the sole
charge brought by the US Justice Department against Luis Posada. The charge was
not for acts of terrorism , but for having illegally entering the country. Just days
before his trial was to begin in El Paso, the judge issued a blistering rebuke against
the US government, chastising prosecutors for “fraud, deceit and trickery” in their
attempt to try a terrorism case in an immigration court proceeding.

Posada’s lawyers had made much of a woeful interpreter who had conducted an
extended interview with Posada about his career as a militant. Citing several errors
in translation, they won the judge’s ire, who also was irked that prosecutors were
shopping for information against Posada in the wrong legal venue. However, no one
pointed out the that Luis Posada did not need a translator—having learned English
as a young man and who later served as a translator during Iran-Contra for US
servicemen. I had interviewed him mostly in English, as did Blake Fleetwood for
New Times in 1976, and at no time did Posada indicate to either of us that he did
not understand something. In fact, his attorney, Matthew Archambleault, who han-
dled his arraignment, spoke to him in English.

With all immigration charged dropped against him, Luis Posada walked out of jail
on May 8th a free man—albeit one branded by the U.S. Justice Department as “a
dangerous criminal and an admitted mastermind of terrorist plots.” Pressure
mounted as to why former U.S. Atty. Gen. Alberto R. Gonzales refused to declare
Posada a security threat and arrest him under The Patriot Act, legislation he craft-
ed and so ardently supported. Former Attorney General Gonzalez and the Bush Ad-
ministration have consistently refused to do so.

Soon after his release, Posada was seen celebrating at El Club Big Five, an exclu-
sive private club popular with many of Miami’s political elite. With Posada was his
old comrade and former cellmate, Orlando Bosch. In early 1972, Mr. Bosch was con-
victed of acts of terrorism and sent to federal prison. He later became a fugitive and
was charged in the bombing of the Cubana plane downing in 1976. He spent 11
years in prison then returned to the U.S. Over the objections of the FBI, CIA and
the Justice Department, Bosch was granted US residency by Pres. George H.W.
Bush.

It was not until Nov. 6, 2007, that DOJ prosecutors announced that they would
appeal Judge Kathleen Cardone’s ruling dismissing charges against Posada regard-
ing his immigration status.

Call me a strict constructionist, but somehow I do not believe that our founding
fathers intended that our government be allowed to raid the news media for their
work files after it bungles a case and destroys crucial evidence. And that is exactly
what happened in the case of Luis Posada Carriles

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Ms. Bardach. And now I am going
to go to Mr. Kornbluh. Peter, please proceed.

STATEMENT OF MR. PETER KORNBLUH, SENIOR ANALYST,
THE NATIONAL SECURITY ARCHIVE, THE GEORGE WASH-
INGTON UNIVERSITY

Mr. KORNBLUH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank you
for holding this important hearing today. I want to thank you for
the opportunity to testify on what history records as the first major
act of international terrorism involving a civilian airliner in the
western hemisphere, an atrocity that quite frankly still demands
an accounting more than 30 years later. And for that reason, my
office, Mr. Chairman, my organization, the National Security Ar-
chive, has made it a priority to centralize as many of the investiga-
tive records on this act of international terrorism as possible.
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In my testimony today I want to present just a handful of these
documents to the committee. And before I do that, let me just share
with you the cumulative weight of the evidence: One, that Luis Po-
sada Carriles, a demolitions expert, as Ann Louise Bardach has
just said, trained in the 1960s by the CIA, had clear foreknowledge
of the bombing of this civilian Cuban airliner. Two, that Posada
was in possession of what can only be described as a terrorist tar-
get list, essentially a scouting report on potential sites related to
Cuba that included the route of the Cubana Airlines flight 455 that
was eventually blown out of the sky.

Three, the Venezuelan who drafted this report, whose name has
come up in the earlier part of this hearing, Hernan Ricardo Lozano,
was employed by Mr. Posada in Caracas. Ricardo, along with a sub-
ordinate named Freddy Lugo, placed the bombs on the plane before
it took off from Barbados. Four, as soon as the mission was accom-
plished, Ricardo actually placed phone calls to both Luis Posada
and Orlando Bosch, his co-conspirator, to say that the mission had
been accomplished. And five, within hours after the plane went
into the ocean, our own intelligence community began reporting
that their sources in Caracas had identified specifically Luis Po-
sada kCarriles and Orlando Bosch as the engineers of this terrorist
attack.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Kornbluh, let me interrupt you right there
for a moment, because I want to correct the record. There was ear-
lier testimony by Arturo Hernandez regarding Mr.—and I think it
was mistaken, unintentionally, that it was Luis Posada Carriles
was on the plane and actually planted the bomb.

Now, I have reviewed most of the documents here. There never
has been, at least to my understanding, an allegation or an asser-
tion that Luis Posada Carriles was ever on the plane, but that he
and Bosch were the intellectual authors.

Mr. KORNBLUH. The intellectual authors of this crime, using

Mr. DELAHUNT. Are you aware of any document that has put Po-
sada Carriles on the plane?

Mr. KOoRNBLUH. No, it has always been understood that people
working for him carried out, using equipment that may well have
come from him, this attack. And I think that is going to become
evident as we go through just a handful of these documents, lit-
erally a handful of these documents. And document one is already
mounted over here. This is just two pages of a five-page CIA intel-
ligence report which gathered detailed intelligence in Caracas both
before the bombing took place and then in the week following the
bombing.

And before the bombing took place, the CIA was reporting from
a high level Venezuelan source on a fund-raising dinner, $1,000 a
plate, which in 1976 was a lot of money. I think that many people
in Congress would consider it a lot of money today for a fund-rais-
er. But this was in Caracas in late September 1976. It was held
for Orlando Bosch, who had just arrived a few weeks earlier to Ca-
racas, like Posada considered a godfather of anti-Castro violence.
And this cable reports that Posada actually met Bosch at the air-
port when he arrived in Caracas in September, and that Bosch was
actually being hosted in Venezuela by the intelligence sector of
Carlos Andres Perez’s government. The CIA source tells the CIA
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that at this fund-raiser Orlando Bosch is overheard to say, “Now
that our organization has come out of the Letelier job looking good,
we are going to try something else.” The reference to “the Letelier
job” has been discussed earlier in this hearing.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me just interrupt again. I think just for
housekeeping purposes I would move that all of the documents that
you are referring to be incorporated into the records of this par-
ticular hearing. And it is so ordered without objection. Please pro-
ceed.

Mr. KORNBLUH. The documents are attached to my testimony.
And we have provided a professional translation of one of the key
documents that is in Spanish. At any rate, Orlando Bosch is over-
heard referring to “the Letelier job,” which was the assassination
just days earlier in Washington, DC, of Orlando Letelier and Ronni
Moffitt, which you, Mr. Chairman, referred to earlier. He refers to
going to “try something else.” And the source that the CIA has
then reports that a few days after the fund-raiser Luis Posada
Carriles adds that key detail of what the “something else” is. He
states, “We are going to hit a Cuban airplane, and Orlando has the
details.” And that is right there in this document that is mounted
there.

The second document that I brought is actually, as I refer to it,
a scouting report. It is a handwritten report. I brought the first
page of it. It is in Spanish, but we have provided a professional
translation in English for members of the committee and for the
record. This is a rather extraordinary report. It gives you a sense
of how terrorists go about doing their dirty job, their dirty work.
Somebody goes out with a camera, stakes out certain sites, watches
what happens, who goes in, who goes out, reports on security ar-
rangements. And in this case the scout was Hernan Ricardo
Lozano, Luis Posada’s employee, who was sent apparently in the
spring of 1976 throughout the Caribbean area and in countries like
Panama and Colombia to find what he referred to as sites “with
links to Cuba.”

And he described these sites in Barbados, Colombia, Panama,
and Trinidad, and provided details right down to the make, model,
color and even license plate numbers of the cars that Cuban am-
bassadors were using in these capital cities of the countries that he
was conducting surveillance in.

It is important to note that in this document, which is six pages
long, there are a number of sites that actually were struck by ter-
rorist violence in the summer of 1976. Some of those sites are the
sites that Posada and Orlando Bosch eventually told your earlier
witness, Blake Fleetwood, about.

But the most important site on this list is actually the route of
the Cubana flight 455. If you look over to the right-hand side
where the highlighting is, you will see a description of the planes,
the Cubana flights that come to Barbados. And there is a descrip-
tion of two of them. And the second one was flight 455, which came
from Caracas, carrying a Cuban Olympic fencing team, stopped in
Guyana, where it picked up Roseanne Nenninger’s brother and six
other Guyanese medical students on the way to Barbados, and then
to Jamaica, and then on to Havana. The bombs that were left on
the plane between Trinidad and Barbados went off approximately
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5 minutes after take off from Barbados, and the plane was unable
to make it back to the airport before crashing into the ocean.

What is important to note, Mr. Chairman, about this document
is that it was found in the possession of Luis Posada after Ven-
ezuelan authorities raided his home and his office in Caracas. They
raided his home after his employee was captured in Trinidad, con-
fessed during interrogation, and named Posada as his employer.
And this information was provided back to authorities. As one
would expect in an effort to find intellectual authors of a heinous
crime, it was relayed back to authorities in Venezuela. Posada’s of-
fice was raided, his house was raided, and in a drawer this docu-
ment was found in his possession.

Document three is actually part of the confession that Hernan
Ricardo Lozano made in Trinidad when he was being interrogated
there. He actually drew a diagram of the detonation device that
was used and actually listed a series of steps that someone who
wanted to blow up a plane would take in order to carry out this
type of operation.

And it is hard to see—but the document is attached to the testi-
mony that you have in your packet—but on the left-hand side of
the document is a list of six things to do. They include getting
“false documentation.” And indeed, Hernan Ricardo traveled under
a false passport on this trip, and was initially misidentified actu-
ally in intelligence cable traffic and news reports with a different
name. It lists the acquisition of “C—4 explosives” on the list of
things you would need to blow up a plane.

But the major part of the diagram is what is known in the trade
as a pencil detonator. And this is a very small device that one in-
serts into a plastic explosive. It has, depending upon which device
you use, it has a certain time frame in which it triggers and then
the explosive is set off.

In the interrogation report, which Congressman Rohrabacher
asked for, he asked for the confession, and which my office is going
to be happy to provide to this committee, the deputy police chief,
Dennis Ramdwar, wrote that Ricardo described the detonator, and
I am quoting now, as “a pencil-type with chemicals which could be
flimed for 8 minutes, 45 minutes, 1 hour, 2 hours, 3 hours, and 24

ours.

“He said that these pencil-type detonators were various colors,
depending upon the time at which the bomb was to be detonated.
He said that a certain chemical was filled in a tube of Colgate
toothpaste after the toothpaste was extracted.” I just want to add,
Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, that when you even-
tually get declassified Luis Posada’s CIA file, which is known as a
201 file, you will see repeated references to his expertise in, and
acquisition of, possession of both C—4 explosives and pencil-type
detonators.

There is a CIA report that when Posada moved from the United
States to Caracas in 1967 he actually took U.S. equipment that in-
cluded 10 pencil detonators.

The other accomplice who left the bomb on the plane with
Hernan Ricardo was also interrogated and confessed in Trinidad.
And he added details about watching Hernan Ricardo actually put
plastic explosives into a toothpaste tube. He also described how
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Mr. DELAHUNT. Can you identify that individual?

Mr. KORNBLUH. Yes. His name is Freddy Lugo.

Mr. DELAHUNT. My information is that he is currently living in
Caracas, Venezuela.

Mr. KORNBLUH. He is a taxi driver in Caracas. He was inter-
viewed recently by the New York Times. He is ambiguous in terms
of what he now says happened. But he confessed, and not under
any torture or stress position in Trinidad, but during 3 or 4 days
of interviews, interrogations by the police there. And he described
how this happened, who did it. He described how Hernan

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me just be clear with you, Mr. Kornbluh, this
committee will give serious consideration to interviewing both Mr.
Lugo, if we can identify his whereabouts, as well as Hernan Ri-
cardo, and update the committee’s information as to their view of
Mr. Luis Posada Carriles.

Mr. KORNBLUH. It is hard to know what they will say. They were
both convicted in Venezuela of being involved in this crime and did
serve over 10 years each there. They have both been subsequently
released. Let me just move to—well, let me just say that Ricardo
told a story that was really rather extraordinary. He was there—
Freddy Lugo told a story that was rather extraordinary. He was
there in the hotel lobby as Hernan Ricardo tried desperately to get
ahold of Orlando Bosch and Luis Posada.

He made two calls to Posada’s office after the plane went down.
He called Orlando Bosch also, who he referred to as “Mr.
Panyagua.” “Mr. Bread and Water” was the code name Bosch was
using. But what was most interesting when I read this description
and this confession is that Lugo reported that Ricardo called his
own mother and said to her, “Mama, please call Luis Posada. Give
him the telephone number of the hotel we are staying at and tell
him to call us.”

Document four is the very first FBI report after the plane bomb-
ing. I just want to say, Mr. Chairman, Congressman Flake, that
the men who committed this terrorist attack were quite well known
to both CIA personnel and FBI personnel in Caracas. In fact, only
5 days before the bombing the FBI Attaché, Joseph Leo, who par-
enthetically I think would make a very important witness for this
committee, actually gave Hernan Ricardo a visa to visit Puerto Rico
on this very trip he was taking 4 or 5 days later. Our FBI Attaché
gave this visa to Ricardo even though he knew that his employer,
Posada, was involved in violent operations against Cuban targets,
and he suspected Ricardo of actually helping him. But the FBI
Attaché, knowing all these connections, began gathering intel-
ligence on the bombing almost immediately. And these two pages—
or these are two, the first page of the October 7th cable and page
number 6 of that cable, in which he says that he had a confidential
source that “all but admitted that Posada and Bosch had engi-
neered the bombing of the airline.”

The source also suggested that a deleted service, which in my in-
terpretation is a reference to the Venezuelan Intelligence Service
DISIP, where Posada had a very deep relationship, that this intel-
ligence service was “arranging for Luis Posada and Orlando Bosch
to leave Venezuela as soon as possible.” They never did get out of
Venezuela. They were both arrested on October 12th or 13th.
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The very last document that I want to share with you is an FBI
summary report that was done for Secretary of State Henry Kis-
singer in early November, slightly less than a month after the
bombing of the plane. And in this report from Director Clarence
Kelly to Secretary of State Kissinger, he is updating him on the in-
formation the FBI has gathered. And he says that they have a
source who is in the Venezuelan Intelligence Service whose name
has come up in this hearing, Ricardo Morales, who actually has
told the FBI that the bombing—that “the bombing of Cubana Air-
lines DC—8 was planned in part in Caracas, Venezuela, at two
meetings, both attended by Luis Posada.”

And it was Morales, this particular source, that transmitted to
our intelligence community the coded message that Hernan Ricardo
was leaving for Luis Posada and Orlando Bosch after the plane
went down as he tried to reach them on the telephone. And that
Eﬁssdage was, “A bus with 73 dogs went off a cliff and all got

illed.”

Mr. Chairman, these are just a few examples of the historical
record that my Cuba Documentation Project has obtained on Luis
Posada and the bombing of flight 455. The evidence would seem
sufficient to have allowed former Attorney General Alberto
Gonzales to have designated Posada as a national security threat
under the PATRIOT Act. It would seem to be sufficient to grant
Venezuela’s petition that Posada be extradited back to Caracas,
where he remains an international fugitive for this very crime.

But I don’t want to leave you with the impression that we have
all of the documents and all the evidence. This is just the tip of
the iceberg. And there is much that remains secret and stored in
the archives of the national security agencies. There are hundreds
of documents, Mr. Chairman, that I believe this committee and the
American people have a need to know about, and indeed a right to
know about. I will work with your committee on what those docu-
ments are and where I believe you can find them.

I hope this committee, Mr. Chairman, will continue to investigate
the scandalous situation of having not just one of the individuals
that our intelligence community identifies as the mastermind of an
act of international terrorism living freely and unfettered in Flor-
ida, but having two, both of the intellectual authors identified by
our own intelligence community living freely in our country. And
I offer you any assistance that the National Security Archive can
provide in getting the entire historical record into your hands and
into the hands of the American public so that we can know the
truth and pursue a just end to this heinous crime.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Kornbluh follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MR. PETER KORNBLUH, SENIOR ANALYST, THE NATIONAL
SECURITY ARCHIVE, THE GEORGE WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY

LUIS POSADA CARRILES AND THE BOMBING OF CUBANA FLIGHT #455

MR CHAIRMAN, REP. ROHRABACHER, AND MEMBERS OF THE
COMMITTTEE: I WANT TO THANK YOU FOR HOLDING THIS IMPORTANT
HEARING. AND I WANT TO THANK YOU FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO TES-
TIFY ON WHAT HISTORY RECORDS AS THE FIRST MAJOR ACT OF INTER-
NATIONAL TERRORISM INVOLVING A CIVILIAN AIRLINER IN THE WEST-
ERN HEMISPHERE—AN ATROCITY THAT MORE THAN 30 YEARS LATER
STILL DEMANDS AN ACCOUNTING.
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LIKE YOU, MR. CHAIRMAN, I AM CONCERNED ABOUT HOW THE CASE OF
LUIS POSADA CARRILES—AKA “COMISARIO BASILIO,” “BAMBI,” “RAMON
MEDINA,” AND “SOLO,”—HAS BEEN HANDLE OVER THE LAST TWO AND
ONE/HALF YEARS BY OUR GOVERNMENT. BY ANY OBJECTIVE STANDARD,
POSADA IS ONE OF THE TOP TEN MOST PROLIFIC PURVEYORS OF POLIT-
ICAL VIOLENCE IN CONTEMPORARY HISTORY. YET, AS THE UNITED
STATES FINDS ITSELF WAGING A WAR ON INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM,
A MAN WHO OUR OWN JUSTICE DEPARTMENT HAS RECENTLY CALLED ‘A
TERRORIST ALIEN’ SO FAR HAS ONLY BEEN CHARGED WITH IMMIGRA-
TION FRAUD AFTER ILLEGALLY ENTERING THE COUNTRY? HOW IS THIS
POSSIBLE?

INDEED, HOW IS IT POSSIBLE THAT A MAN THAT OUR OWN CUSTOMS
AND IMMIGRATION ENFORCEMENT AGENCY HAS DETERMINED TO “POSE
A DANGER TO BOTH THE COMMUNITY AND THE NATIONAL SECURITY OF
THE UNITED STATES” IS TODAY LIVING FREELY IN MIAMI, FLORIDA?

WITH THE CREDIBILITY OF THE U.S. LEADERSHIP IN THE WAR ON TER-
RORISM AT STAKE, THESE ARE IMPERATIVE QUESTIONS FOR THIS COM-
MITTEE TO CONSIDER.

IN LEGAL PAPERS, CUSTOMS AND IMMIGRATION OFFICIALS HAVE IDEN-
TIFIED WHAT THEY CALL POSADA’S “LONG HISTORY OF CRIMINAL ACTIV-
ITY AND VIOLENCE IN WHICH INNOCENT CIVILIANS HAVE BEEN KILLED.”
AT THE CENTER OF THAT LONG VIOLENT HISTORY IS THE MID-AIR
BOMBING OF A CIVILIAN AIRLINER ON OCTOBER 6, 1976. SHORTLY AFTER
TAKE OFF FROM THE BARBADOS SEAWELL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT AT
LEAST ONE BOMB EXPLODED ON CUBANA FLIGHT 455, PLUNGING THE
PLANE INTO THE OCEAN AND KILLING ALL 73 CREW AND PASSENGERS
ABOARD—MANY OF THEM CUBAN AND GUYANESE TEENAGERS.

MR. CHAIRMAN, THIS WAS A CRIME OF TREMENDOUS CONSEQUENCE.
IT IS A CRIME THAT REMAINS RELEVANT TODAY BECAUSE OF OUR PRESS-
ING NEED TO UNDERSTAND HOW TERRORISTS ACTUALLY PLAN AND
COMMIT SUCH ACTS OF MASS MURDER AND BECAUSE THE MEN THAT
OUR OWN INTELLIGENCE COMMUNITY IDENTIFIED AS THE MASTER-
MINDS OF THIS ATROCITY ARE LIVING FREELY IN FLORIDA.

FOR THOSE REASONS, MR. CHAIRMAN, MY ORGANIZATION, THE NA-
TIONAL SECURITY ARCHIVE, HAS MADE IT A PRIORITY TO CENTRALIZE AS
MUCH OF THE INVESTIGATIVE RECORD AS POSSIBLE ON THE BOMBING
OF FLIGHT 455. BECAUSE IT WAS AN INTERNATIONAL CRIME, THE DOCU-
MENTATION DERIVES FROM A NUMBER OF COUNTRIES: THE BOMBING OF
THE PLANE WAS PLANNED AND ORGANIZED IN CARACAS, VENEZUELA,
AND THE BOMBERS WERE EVENTUALLY PROSECUTED THERE, SO THERE
ARE VENEZUELAN RECORDS. THE MEN WHO PLACED THE BOMB ON THE
PLANE WERE CAPTURED AND INITIALLY INTERROGATED IN TRINIDAD,
AND SO THERE ARE POLICE RECORDS FROM THAT NATION. THE UNITED
STATES WAS INVOLVED BECAUSE THE ANTI-CASTRO EXILES WHO
PLANNED THIS CRIME HAD PREVIOUS TIES TO THE CENTRAL INTEL-
LIGENCE AGENCY—IN POSADA’S CASE RATHER EXTENSIVE TIES—AND
BECAUSE POSADA AND HIS VENEZUELAN EMPLOYEE, HERNAN RICARDO
LOZANO, WHO PLACED THE BOMB ON THE PLANE, WERE WELL KNOWN
TO OUR FBI ATTACHE IN CARACAS. WE HAVE OBTAINED SOME OF THE
KEY CIA AND FBI INTELLIGENCE CABLES THAT WERE TRANSMITTED BE-
FORE AND AFTER THE BOMBING.

MR. CHAIRMAN, I WANT TO PRESENT JUST A HANDFUL OF THE THESE
DOCUMENTS WITH THE COMMITTEE. BEFORE I DO, LET ME SAY THAT
THE CUMULATIVE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THE FOL-
LOWING:

**LUIS POSADA CARRILES, A DEMOLITIONS EXPERT TRAINED IN
THE 1960S BY THE CIA, HAD FOREKNOWLEDGE OF THE BOMBING OF
THE CUBAN AIRLINER.

**POSADA WAS FOUND IN POSSESSION OF A TERRORIST TARGET
LIST—ESSENTIALLY A SCOUTING REPORT ON POTENTIAL SITES RE-
LATED TO CUBA.

**THE VENEZUELAN WHO DRAFTED THIS REPORT, HERNAN RI-
CARDO, WAS EMPLOYED BY POSADA IN CARACAS. RICARDO, ALONG
WITH A SUBORDINATE NAMED FREDDY LUGO, PLACED THE BOMBS
ON THE PLANE BEFORE IT TOOK OFF FROM BARBADOS.
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**AS SOON AS THE MISSION WAS ACCOMPLISHED, RICARDO PLACED
PHONE CALLS TO BOTH POSADA AND HIS CO-CONPIRATOR ORLANDO
BOSCH.

**WITHIN HOURS AFTER THE PLANE WENT INTO THE OCEAN, MUL-
TIPLE FBI SOURCES IDENTIFIED POSADA, AND BOSCH AS HAVING EN-
GINEERED THIS TERRORIST ATTACK.

LET ME SHARE WITH YOU SOME OF THE DOCUMENTS THAT REFLECT
THIS INFORMATION:

DOCUMENT 1: IN THE DAYS BEFORE THE BOMBING OF THE PLANE,
THE CIA GATHERED RATHER COMPREHENSIVE INTELLIGENCE ON A
FUNDRAISING DINNER—$1000 PER PLATE WHICH WAS A HELLUVA LOT OF
MONEY IN 1976—HELD IN CARACAS FOR ORLANDO BOSCH—LIKE POSADA
A GODFATHER OF ANTI-CASTRO CUBAN VIOLENCE.

THE CABLE REPORTS THAT POSADA MET BOSCH AT THE AIRPORT
WHEN HE ARRIVED IN CARACAS IN MID SEPTEMBER, AND WAS HOSTED
IN VENEZUELA BY THE GOVERNMENT OF CARLOS ANDRES PEREZ.

ACCORDING TO A HIGH-LEVEL CIA SOURCE, AT THE FUNDRAISER
BOSCH IS HEARD TO SAY: “NOW THAT OUR ORGANIZATION HAS COME
OUT OF THE LETELIER JOB LOOKING GOOD, WE ARE GOING TO TRY
SOMETHING ELSE.” (THIS IS A REFERENCE TO THE CAR BOMB ASSASSINA-
TION OF FORMER CHILEAN AMBASSADOR ORLANDO LETELIER AND HIS
COLLEAGUE RONNI KARPEN MOFFITT ON SEPTEMBER 21, 1976—A CRIME
COMMITTED NOT FAR FROM HERE ON MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE BY
AGENTS OF THE CHILEAN SECRET POLICE WORKING WITH MEMBERS OF
BOSCH’S VIOLENT ANTI-CASTRO COALITION, CORU.)

A FEW DAYS AFTER THE FUNDRAISER, ACCORDING TO THE CIA’S
SOURCE, LUIS POSADA ADDED A KEY DETAIL TO BOSCH’S REFERENCE TO
TRYING “SOMETHING ELSE.” POSADA STATED:

“WE ARE GOING TO HIT A CUBAN AIRPLANE” AND “ORLANDO
HAS THE DETAILS.”

DOCUMENT 2. THE TARGET SCOUTING REPORT: MR CHAIRMAN, THIS
RATHER EXTRAORDINARY DOCUMENT IS A HANDWRITTEN SURVEIL-
LANCE REPORT ON BUSINESSES, EMBASSIES AND OFFICES “WITH TIES TO
CUBA” IN THE CARIBBEAN/CENTRAL AMERICAN REGION—AMONG THEM
THE CUBAN STATE AIRLINES AGENCY CUBANA AVIACION. IT WAS
DRAFTED SOMETIME IN THE SPRING OF 1976 BY POSADA’S EMPLOYEE,
HERNAN RICARDO, AND PROVIDED DETAILED DESCRIPTIONS OF TARGETS
IN BARBADOS, COLOMBIA, PANAMA, AND TRINIDAD RIGHT DOWN TO THE
MAKE, MODEL, COLOR AND LICENSE PLATE NUMBERS OF THE CARS THAT
THE CUBAN AMBASSADORS IN THOSE NATIONS USED.

IT IS IMPORTANT TO NOTE THAT SEVERAL OF THE TARGETS DE-
SCRIBED IN THIS REPORT WERE SUBSEQUENTLY STRUCK BY ACTS OF
TERRORIST VIOLENCE IN THE SUMMER OF 1976, INCLUDING THE BRITISH
WEST INDIES AIRLINE OFFICE IN BRIDGETOWN ON JULY 14, AND THE
GUYANESE CONSULATE IN PORT-O-SPAIN WHICH WAS BOMBED ON SEP-
TEMBER 1, 1976. (POSADA’S EMPLOYEE LATER CONFESSED TO BEING IN-
VOLVED IN THOSE ATTACKS.)

BUT THE MOST IMPORTANT TARGET DESCRIBED ON THIS LIST THAT
WAS SUBSEQUENTLY BLOWN UP IS THE CUBANA AIRLINES FLIGHT. LET
ME DIRECT THE COMMITTEE’S ATTENTION TO THE RIGHT HAND SIDE OF
THE FIRST PAGE WHICH LISTS TARGETS IN BARBADOS, WHERE THE AU-
THOR NOTES THAT ON WEDNESDAY THERE IS A CUBANA FLIGHT FROM
JAMAICA THAT ARRIVES AT APPROXIMATELY 11AM, AND AT 12 NOON, AN-
OTHER PLANE ARRIVES FROM TRINIDAD, EN ROUTE TO JAMAICA.

THE LATTER FLIGHT WAS NUMBER 455, CAME FROM CARACAS CAR-
RYING THE CUBAN OLYMPIC FENCING TEAM, STOPPED IN GUYANA—
WHERE IT PICKED UP ROSEANNE NENNINGER'S BROTHER AND FIVE
OTHER TOP GUYANESE SCIENCE STUDENTS ON THEIR WAY TO HAVANA
TO STUDY MEDICINE—AND PROCEEDED TO TRINIDAD AND THEN TO BAR-
BADOS EN ROUTE TO JAMAICA AND HAVANA. THE BOMBS WENT OFF AP-
PROXIMATELY FIVE MINUTES AFTER TAKEOFF AND THE PLANE WAS UN-
ABLE TO MAKE IT BACK TO THE AIRPORT BEFORE CRASHING IN THE
OCEAN.

THIS DOCUMENT, MR. CHAIRMAN, WAS FOUND IN LUIS POSADA’S POS-
SESSION WHEN VENEZUELAN AUTHORITIES RAIDED HIS HOME AND
OFFICE AFTER HIS EMPLOYEE, HERNAN RICARDO, WAS ARRESTED IN
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TRINIDAD. POSADA HIMSELF WAS ARRESTED IN CARACAS SIX DAYS
AFTER THE BOMBING ON OCTOBER 12, 1976.

DOCUMENT 3. RICARDO’S SKETCH OF THE DETONATOR: MR. CHAIR-
MAN, WHILE IN CUSTODY IN TRINIDAD, HERNAN RICARDO AND FREDDY
LUGO BOTH CONFESSED TO PLANTING EXPLOSIVES ON THE PLANE. ON
OCTOBER 19, DURING AN INTERROGATION WITH DEPUTY POLICE
COMMISSIONARY DENNIS RAMDWAR, RICARDO STATED HE AND LUGO
WORKED FOR LUIS POSADA, THAT “LUGO AND HIMSELF BOMBED THE
PLANE.”

RICARDO ALSO EXPLAINED TO RAMDWAR THE STEPS A TERRORIST
WOULD TAKE TO PREPARE TO BOMB A PLANE AND HOW PLASTIC EXPLO-
SIVES ARE DETONATED; HE EVEN MADE A ROUGH DIAGRAM OF THE DET-
ONATOR USED FOR THE BOMB, WHICH I BROUGHT TO SHOW THE COM-
MITTEE. (SHOW DIAGRAM).

MR. CHAIRMAN, YOU WILL SEE ON THE LEFT HAND SIDE OF THIS
DRAWING A SERIES OF SIX STEPS THAT RICARDO LAID OUT, INCLUDING
OBTAINING “FALSE DOCUMENTATION” THAT EXPLICITLY COULD “NOT BE
CUBAN,” AS WELL AS OBTAINING “EXPLOSIVO C—4.”

THE DETONATION DEVICE HE DESCRIBED IS WHAT IS KNOWN AS A
“PENCIL DETONATOR.” ACCORDING TO RAMDWAR’S OFFICIAL REPORT ON
THE INTERROGATION, RICARDO

DESCRIBED THE DETONATOR AS A PENCIL-TYPE WITH CHEMICALS
WHICH COULD BE TIMED FOR 8 MINUTES, 45 MINUTES, 1 HOUR, 2
HOURS, 3 HOURS, AND 24 HOURS. HE SAID THAT THESE PENCIL-TYPE
DETONATORS WERE OF VARIOUS COLOURS DEPENDING ON THE TIME
AT WHICH THE BOMB WAS TO BE DETONATED. . . . HE SAID THAT A
CERTAIN CHEMICAL IS FILLED IN A TUBE OF COLGATE TOOTHPASTE
AFTER THE TOOTHPASTE IS EXTRACTED.

LET ME ADD, MR. CHAIRMAN, THAT DOCUMENTS IN LUIS POSADA’S CIA
“201” FILE SHOW THAT HE HAD EXPERIENCE WITH, AND POSSESSION OF.
PENCIL DETONATORS AND PLASTIQUE EXPLOSIVES. EARLY IN HIS CA-
REER OF SABOTAGE, POSADA HAS DESCRIBED USING “TIME-BOMB PEN-
CILS.” WHEN HE LEFT THE UNITED STATES TO GO TO CARACAS IN 1967,
ACCORDING TO HIS OWN CIA FILE, HE TOOK U.S. GOVERNMENT EQUIP-
MENT THAT INCLUDED TEN PENCIL DETONATORS.

MR. CHAIRMAN, THE OTHER VENEZUELAN, A PHOTOGRAPHER NAMED
FREDDY LUGO WHO WORKED PART TIME FOR POSADA, ALSO CONFESSED
TO RAMDWAR. HE DESCRIBED SEEING RICARDO FILL A COLGATE TOOTH-
PASTE TUBE WITH A WHITE PUTTY. IN THIS HANDWRITTEN AND SIGNED
CONFESSION, LUGO DESCRIBES HOW RICARDO TRIED TO CALL BOTH PO-
SADA AND ORLANDO BOSCH WHO USED THE CODENAME “SR PANYAGUA”
(MR BREAD AND WATER), IMMEDIATELY AFTER THE PLANE WENT DOWN.
AFTER NOT REACHING POSADA, RICARDO ACTUALLY CALLED HIS OWN
MOTHER AND TOLD HER TO “GIVE THE TELEPHONE NUMBER OF THE
HOTEL IN BARBADOS TO MR LUIS POSADA SO THAT HE COULD CALL
AND TO TELL HIM THAT THERE WAS A PROBLEM.”

DOCUMENT 4. FIRST FBI REPORT ON PLANE BOMBING: MR. CHAIR-
MAN, THE MEN WHO COMMITTED THIS TERRORIST ATTACK WERE WELL
KNOWN TO BOTH FBI AND CIA PERSONNEL IN CARACAS; ONLY FIVE DAYS
BEFORE THE BOMBING, THE FBI ATTACHE, JOSEPH LEO, ACTUALLY GAVE
HERNAN RICARDO A VISA TO VISIT PUERTO RICO EVEN THOUGH HE
KNEW HIS EMPLOYER POSADA WAS INVOLVED IN VIOLENT OPERATIONS
AGAINST CUBAN TARGETS AND SUSPECTED RICARDO OF HELPING HIM.
THE FBI ATTACHE BEGAN GATHERING INTELLIGENCE ON THE BOMBING
ALMOST IMMEDIATELY AND THIS IS HIS FIRST REPORT, DATED ONE DAY
AFTER THE ATTACK.

LEO REPORTED THAT A CONFIDENTIAL SOURCE HAD “ALL BUT ADMIT-
TED THAT POSADA AND BOSCH HAD ENGINEERED THE BOMBING OF
THE AIRLINE.” THE SOURCE ALSO SUGGESTED THAT A [DELETED] INTEL-
LIGENCE SERVICE—WHICH IS NO DOUBT A REFERENCE TO THE VEN-
EZUELAN SECURITY FORCE KNOWN AS “DISIP” WHERE POSADA HAD
WORKED AS HEAD OF THE DEMOLITIONS DIRECTORATE—“WAS ARRANG-
ING FOR LUIS POSADA AND ORLANDO BOSCH TO LEAVE VENEZUELA. AS
SOON AS POSSIBLE.”

DOCUMENT 5. FBI BRIEFING TO SECRETARY OF STATE HENRY KIS-
SINGER: THIS FINAL DOCUMENT IS THE FIRST PAGE OF ONE OF SEVERAL
BRIEFINGS ON THE FBI'S INTELLIGENCE THAT WAS SENT BY FBI DIREC-
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TOR CLARENCE KELLY KISSINGER. THE INFORMATION DERIVED FROM A
MEMBER OF THE VENEZUELAN INTELLIGENCE SERVICE, KNOWN AS
“DISIP,” WHO REPORTED THAT “THE BOMBING OF THE CUBANA AIR-
LINES DC-8 WAS PLANNED IN PART, IN CARACAS, VENEZUELA, AT
TWO MEETINGS,” BOTH ATTENDED BY LUIS POSADA.

THIS SOURCE WAS THE FIRST TO RELATE THE CODED MESSAGE THAT
THE BOMBERS HAD LEFT WHEN THEY PLACED CALLS TO BOSCH AND PO-
SADA AFTER THE PLANE WENT DOWN:

“A BUS WITH 73 DOGS WENT OFF A CLIFF AND ALL GOT KILLED.”

MR. CHAIRMAN, THESE ARE JUST A FEW OF THE EXAMPLES OF THE
HISTORICAL RECORD THAT HAVE BEEN OBTAINED AND DECLASSIFIED
ON LUIS POSADA AND THE BOMBING OF FLIGHT 455. I DARE SAY THAT
HAD THIS CRIME BEEN COMMITTED MORE RECENTLY AND IF POSADA’S
FIRST NAME WAS MOHAMMED RATHER THAN LUIS, THIS EVIDENCE
WOULD HAVE BEEN MORE THAN SUFFICIENT TO GET HIM RENDERED TO
GUANTANAMO BAY, CUBA.

AND IT WOULD SEEM SUFFICIENT TO HAVE ALLOWED ATTORNEY GEN-
ERAL ALBERTO GONZALES TO HAVE CERTIFIED POSADA AS A TERRORIST
UNDER THE CLAUSES OF THE PATRIOT ACT, RATHER THAN ENGAGE IN
A DUBIOUS AND FAILED ATTEMPT TO PROSECUTE HIM AS A SIMPLE ILLE-
GAL ALIEN. AND SUFFICIENT AS WELL TO GRANT VENEZUELA’S PETITION
THAT HE BE EXTRADITED BACK TO CARACAS WHERE HE REMAINS AN
INTERNATIONAL FUGITIVE FROM JUSTICE IN THIS CASE.

BUT THESE DOCUMENTS I HAVE SHARED ARE SIMPLY THE TIP OF AN
ICEBERG OF EVIDENCE—MUCH OF WHICH REMAINS SECRET AND
STORED IN THE ARCHIVES OF THE U.S. NATIONAL SECURITY AGENCIES.
EVEN THOUGH WE HAVE GATHERED DOZENS OF DOCUMENTS ON THIS
CASE, MR. CHAIRMAN, THERE ARE HUNDREDS MORE THAT I BELIEVE
THIS COMMITTEE AND THE AMERICAN PEOPLE HAVE A NEED-TO-KNOW,
INDEED A RIGHT-TO-KNOW. THESE DOCUMENTS FALL INTO SEVERAL
CATEGORIES:

FIRST, THERE ARE DOCUMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN DECLASSIFIED BUT
REMAIN HEAVILY CENSORED, HIDING INFORMATION THAT IS CRITICAL
FOR INVESTIGATING THE HANDLING OF THIS CASE.

SECOND, THERE IS A COMPREHENSIVE FILE COMPILED BY THE CIA ON
POSADA THROUGHOUT HIS CAREER AND TIES TO THE U.S. KNOWN AS A
“201” FILE. VOLUME FIVE OF THIS VOLUMINOUS SET OF PAPERS COVERS
THE PERIOD OF TIME OF THE CUBANA AIRLINES BOMBING AND SHOULD
CONTAIN USEFUL INFORMATION ON POSADA’S ROLE. (MY OFFICE HAS RE-
QUESTED THE DECLASSIFICATION OF THIS FILE BUT SO FAR THE CIA
HAS NOT BEEN RESPONSIVE.)

THIRD: THERE ARE SPECIFIC FBI DOCUMENTS THAT HAVE NOT YET
BEEN DECLASSIFIED RELATING TO THE BOMBING AND ITS AFTERMATH
THAT WOULD SHED MORE LIGHT ON HOW THIS CRIME WAS CARRIED
OUT.

AND FINALLY, MR. CHAIRMAN, THERE IS A DOSSIER MADE UP OF 700
STILL SECRET FBI AND CIA DOCUMENTS THAT HAS ALREADY BEEN COM-
PILED BY OUR GOVERNMENT AND WAS PART OF IMMIGRATION PRO-
CEEDINGS AGAINST ORLANDO BOSCH, POSADA’S CO-CONSPIRATOR IN
THIS CRIME. AS YOU KNOW, BOSCH WAS IMPRISONED IN VENEZUELA FOR
11 YEARS FOR THE PLANE BOMBING AND THEN RETURNED ILLEGALLY
TO FLORIDA IN 1988 WHERE HE WAS DETAINED FOR OVER A YEAR AS AN
EXCLUDABLE ALIEN. THIS DOSSIER WAS COMPILED AND SUBMITTED TO
THE IMMIGRATION JUDGE, AS WELL AS REVIEWED BY THE JUSTICE DE-
PARTMENT.

BASED ON THIS EVIDENCE, ACTING ASSOCIATE ATTORNEY GENERAL
JOE WHITLEY ISSUED A STRONGLY WORDED DECISION THAT CHARAC-
TERIZED BOSCH AS “RESOLUTE AND UNWAVERING IN HIS ADVOCACY OF
TERRORIST VIOLENCE . . . WHOSE ACTIONS HAVE BEEN THOSE OF A TER-
RORIST, UNFETTERED BY LAW OR HUMAN DECENCY.”

YET ON JULY 17, 1990, THE WHITE HOUSE OF GEORGE HERBERT WALK-
ER BUSH, OVERRULED ITS OWN JUSTICE DEPARTMENT AND ISSUED AN
ADMINISTRATIVE PARDON FOR BOSCH. FOR WHAT APPEAR TO BE CLEAR
POLITICAL REASONS, MR. CHAIRMAN, THE BUSH WHITE HOUSE SIMPLY
IGNORED THE ELOQUENT POSITION VOICED IN THE JUSTICE DEPART-
MENT REPORT THAT PREVIEWED TODAY'S DEBATE OVER THE POSADA
CASE:
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“THE UNITED STATES CANNOT TOLERATE THE INHERENT INHU-
MANITY OF TERRORISM AS A WAY OF SETTLING DISPUTES. WE MUST
LOOK ON TERRORISM AS A UNIVERSAL EVIL, EVEN IF IT IS DIRECTED
TOWARD THOSE WITH WHOM WE HAVE NO POLITICAL SYMPATHY.”

WITH BOSCH SET FREE IN 1990, AND THE SITUATION WITH POSADA
TODAY, MR. CHAIRMAN, THE UNITED STATES FINDS ITSELF IN THE
FRANKLY INEXPLICABLE POSITION OF HAVING NOT ONE BUT BOTH MEN
WHO OUR OWN INTELLIGENCE AGENCIES IDENTIFIED AS REPONSIBLE
FOR BRINGING DOWN A CIVILIAN AIRLINER LIVING FREE AND UNFET-
TERED LIVES IN FLORIDA. IN THE MIDST OF A WAR ON TERRORISM, THIS
HAS SIGNIFICANT REPURCUSSIONS FOR THE UNITED STATES.

I HOPE THIS COMMITTEE, MR. CHAIRMAN, WILL INVESTIGATE HOW
THIS SCANDALOUS SITUATION CAME TO BE. I URGE THE COMMITTEE TO
USE ITS POWERS TO SEEK THIS DOCUMENTATION, AND OFFER YOU ANY
ASSISTANCE THAT MY CUBA DOCUMENTATION PROJECT AT THE NA-
TIONAL SECURITY ARCHIVE CAN PROVIDE.

IN CLOSING, LET ME SAY THAT THIS IS A CRIME THAT ABSOLUTELY
DESERVES BOTH A HISTORICAL AND JUDICIAL ACCOUNTING. THE
REASONS ARE MANY AND VARIED:

IN THIS DAY AND AGE WHEN NONE OF US CAN BOARD A PLANE WITH
A BOTTLE OF WATER OR A DISPENSER OF DEODORANT, THE AMERICAN
PEOPLE DESERVE TO KNOW THAT ITS GOVERNMENT HAS RETRIEVED
AND EXAMINED EVERY DETAIL OF HOW TERRORISTS BROUGHT DOWN AN
AIRLINER USING A TUBE OF TOOTHPASTE.

THE INTERNATIONAL COMMUNITY NEEDS TO KNOW THAT OUR PRESI-
DENT IS SINCERE WHEN HE DENOUNCES ANY NATION THAT HARBORS
TERRORISTS, WHEN HE STATES, HAS HE HAS DONE IN THE PAST, THAT
“WEVE GOT TO SAY TO PEOPLE WHO ARE WILLING TO HARBOR A TER-
RORIST, OR FEED A TERRORIST, YOURE JUST AS GUILTY AS THE TER-
RORIST.””

AND FINALLY, THE FAMILIES OF THE VICTIMS OF THIS ATTACK—FAMI-
LIES LIKE ROSEANNE NENNINGER’S, AND THE 72 OTHER CUBAN, GUYA-
NESE AND KOREAN FAMILIES THAT LOST LOVED ONES ON THIS PLANE—
DESERVE AN ACCOUNTING. THEY DESERVE TO KNOW THAT AS THE
LEADER IN THE CAMPAIGN AGAINST INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM, THE
UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT WILL DO WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE TO
PURSUE BOTH THE JUSTICE AND TRUTH THAT HAVE BEEN SO ELUSIVE
IN THE BOMBING OF CUBAN AIRLINES FLIGHT 455.

THANK YOU.
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1. Barbados

On the island of Barbados there is a single place that has a link to Cuba, that point is in
the center of Bridgetown, which is the office of the airline BWIA. BWIA represents the airline
Cubana de Aviacion, it is situated between Bay Street and Probyn St., in the Sunjet House
building, across the street is the ‘Car Park,” a booth with two police, armed, engaged in
continuous surveillance.

The administrative offices of BWIA are in the same building, on the second floor. Ticket
sales and the advertising logotypes of “Cubana” are on the ground level.

At the Seawell airport there is a counter for La Cubana, which operates on Wednesday
each week.

Weekly on Wednesdays a Cubana airliner arrives from Jamaica, it arrives at
approximately 11:00 am. At 12 another airplane arrives from Trinidad, on a stopover on the way
to Jamaica.

2. Colombia
The pro-Castro activities are developed exclusively in the capital Bogota.

2.1 With regard to trips to Cuba, they are represented by Air Panama, situated in the Centro
Internacional No. 69.

Aereocondor, whose administrative offices are in the well-known Seguros del Valle
building, 10th floor.

Tt is possible to travel to Cuba in combination with Aereomexico situated across from the
Hotel Bogotd Hilton.

2.2 Prensa Latina:

Cuban news agency, situated at Avenida Jiménez Lopez 4-03. Lender Building Office
No. 904. (Across from the Hotel Continental) in the heart of downtown Bogotd. It has security,
an armed watchman (private) right by the doors to the building.

23 Cuban Trade Office

Commercial representation of the Cuban government.

Situated in the Seguros del Valle building, 8th floor. The elevator opens directly to the
receptionist’s desk, which is staffed by a Cuban woman.

The building in question has two armed doormen on the ground level, who ask visitors
where they are going in the building.

24 Cuban embassy:
Situated on Carrera 92A - Norte Chico,
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a fine residential sector of Bogotd. Two-floor building, with outside gates more than 2 meters
high. It has a police booth made of concrete and small windows for seeing.

Its access is in vehicles by carrera 92, crossing section A, which necessarily takes one in
front of the embassy, on arriving in front of the embassy it has a 45 degree angle crossing to the
left to continue to the parallel 93.

25 Ambassador’s vehicle
The ‘76 Cadillae, lead- gray, with a black vinyl roof with diplomatic plates CD-00406.

3. Panama

3.1 Travel offices
Apart from the two offices of Cubana de Aviacion there is another with links to Cubana
de Aviacién, which is AIR PANAMA, situated at Av. Justo Arosemena and Calle 34.

32 Prensa Latina

News agency, situated in the Bacena building, 6th floor, office 6B, Calle 41, across from
the Executive Panama Yacht Club.

The building in question is recently-built, has 14 floors, two apartments per floor, the one
occupied by Prensa Latina is to the right when exiting

the elevator.

At present the building has a doorman at the entrance to provide information on prices
and to show the offices for sale.

The personnel of Prensa Latina work behind closed doors, it is known that they
continuously stay there until the early morning hours.

33 Cuban embassy

Situated on Av. Cuba 41-E parallel to the offices of the Panamanian foreign ministry.

That embassy has a security system that is one-of-a-kind in Panama. This system includes
a videotaping system around it, security doors, and a system for entry of the ambassador’s
vehicle that consists of the arrival of the vehicle, positive verification of it by the video, the
opening (first) by the ambassador’s chauffeur of the metal door (Santa Maria) by means of a key
with three codes, once one passes the first door it locks shut, and the vehicle enters the internal
patio of the embassy, where the ambassador gets in.

The other vehicles of the diplomatic representation are parked in front of the embassy,
such as the red Ford Cortina pick-up CD 0211, CD0222, CD0414, CD0207, CD-0224 (vehicles
observed on two work days, one also observes spaces for more than 10 official vehicles).

34 There is no Cuban cultural association.
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35 The “76 LTD vehicle of light maroon color was detected two nights in a row CD
[ILLEGIBLE] in the parking lot of the Embajador building, situated at Av. 4 Sur across from the
Imperio Oriental restaurant.

The vehicle presumably spends the night in the parking lot, for in the checks that were
done it was observed there at different hours of the night.

3.5.2  In addition, the vehicle CD0222 was observed two nights in a row at Calle D 28, El
Cangrejo, it being presumed that a diplomatic officer lives there.

3.5.3 At the Bacena building on Calle 41 (Prensa Latina) the vehicle CD0224 was observed the
same two nights.

The outside surveillance of the Cuban Embassy is inoperative since on the left-hand point it has
an eatery, only at the corner (front) where the Chamber of Commerce, Industry and Agriculture
operates. Tt has a stationary police guard 24 hours a day.

In observations made of the [ILLEGIBLE] police from the public park, they are very
careless, for they walk 20 meters away from their objective, answer tourists’ questions, etc.

4. Trinidad
As regards Trinidad the pro-Castro link is reflected and represented in only two points:

1. The representation of Cubana is BWIA, situated in Sunjet House, 30 Edward St., and at
the airport.

In Trinidad the flights of the DC8 of Cubana de Aviacion (CU454 and CU453) make
stops on Wednesdays towards Guyana or returning from Barbados.

2. The consulate of Guyana in Trinidad, situated between Richamont Street and Park, with
No. 61.

That consulate is [[LLEGIBLE] to help, provide any type of help in problems that pro-
Castro Cubans in Trinidad might have. Matters of diplomatic pouch are handled there.
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Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Mr. Kornbluh. And let me assure you
that we will be welcoming that assistance. I don’t think it is a well
kept secret that my ranking member, Mr. Rohrabacher, and myself
disagree on just about everything, except we both have a profound
commitment to seeking the truth. And I have no doubt that he will
join me in that effort, as will every member on this committee, to
secure the truth and have full access to those records so that this
country can stand tall among the family of nations.

Last, but certainly not least, and I thank you, Ms. Nenninger, for
your endurance and your patience, and I know that I speak for
other members of the panel, both sides, Republican and Democrat,
that we share your loss, we want to express our condolences. This
is clearly a horrific tragedy. It is an act of terrorism that should
make us all aware of the consequences of war and the con-



94

sequences of violence, because it just simply does not end with the
victim, in this case your brother, but goes on for generations. So
please accept, on behalf of everybody who serves on this committee
and on the full committee, and Members of Congress, all of us, our
sincere condolences. Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF ROSEANNE NENNINGER, N.D. (NATUROPATHIC
DOCTOR)

Ms. NENNINGER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, Con-
gressman Flake, my name is Roseanne Persaud Nenninger. And
my brother, Raymond Persaud, was on flight 455. As you already
know, a horrific bomb exploded in mid-air, killing him and 72 other
passengers and crew. Let me just pause for a moment to show you
this photograph of Raymond. That is Raymond in the brown suit
specifically tailored for him for this trip, my other brother Trevor,
who is in California at the moment, and myself. I was 11 years old.
I am here today to put a human face to this tragic, untimely end
to my brother’s life. I want justice to be served for this dreadful act
of terrorism. I feel justice has long been overdue, not only for my
brother, but for all the victims who were aboard that flight.

I would like to share some cherished memories about my brother
Raymond. He was an academic scholar. He received the highest
marks on his exams. He was truly gifted at the study of science.
Because of his aptitude in science and overall scholastic achieve-
ment, the Guyanese Government selected Raymond to receive a
special full scholarship to study medicine in Cuba. Then and now
this is a coveted scholarship for any young Guyanese student who
dreams of becoming a doctor. At that time there were no medical
schools in Guyana, and Mr. Chairman, there are none now still. So
for my brother, having the opportunity to follow his dream was the
closest thing to a miracle.

Sorry, this is a little difficult for me.

Raymond had big dreams. He had dreams of becoming a doctor,
dreams of giving back to his country by coming back after grad-
uating and completing his residency in his homeland, to be of serv-
ice to Guyana. From a very young age, Raymond displayed traits
of strong leadership. He was always involved in helping others. He
was a group leader for youth organizations, class president in his
high school, and mentor to our community in Georgetown, Guyana.
He loved spending time with his family. And I have fond memories
of playing checkers together, of him helping me with my home-
work, reading novels and comic books to me. He was number five—
he was number two and I was number six.

So, you know, we had a bit of an age difference there. Raymond
was a great, wonderful big brother to me. My parents were so
proud of him, and so was I. Let me tell you why. Raymond was the
first of five siblings in the family to go to college, much less to go
to medical school. We had a wonderful farewell party for Raymond
the night before he left for his journey. My father borrowed 80
chairs from the church nearby to accommodate all the guests at
Raymond’s farewell party.

And only a few days later, those were the same chairs used for
his wake and memorial service. We never got to have a full funeral
because his body could not be recovered in the ocean wreckage. Let
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me account for you what happened that fateful day, October 6,
1976. It began with high hopes. My family and I went to the air-
port to bid Raymond farewell. He was dressed in a brown suit spe-
cially made at the tailor for his travels. My parents were feeling
so proud to have their son heading off to medical school. At the air-
port, we watched Raymond walk on the tarmac, heading onto the
airplane. He stopped, waved good-bye, and we wiped our tears from
our eyes and waved back. Raymond turned the corner and headed
into the plane. We headed back home sad, but excited at the same
time, and tired from the night before, so tired we all decided to
take a nap.

After a couple of hours there was a knock on our door. It was
our cousin. It was very odd for her to come to our home on a
Wednesday. She worked for the Department of Foreign Affairs. She
said she had some news to share with us and we all needed to be
sitting down. I had just woken up from a nap, I was very groggy
and I was sitting at the dining room table. My mom and dad were
there waiting to hear what my cousin would say. She said the
plane that Raymond was on off the coast of Barbados went down.
The next thing I remember was shrieks coming from my mother.
I am sure most of the neighbors heard those shrieks. Tears flowed
down my cheeks. It all seemed unreal. How was this possible? We
just saw Raymond.

My mom asked if there were any survivors. My cousin couldn’t
answer that question. More screams came from my mother. I will
never be able to get over that sound that came from my mother.

I am sure the committee can understand how October 6, 1976,
became the saddest day for us. At that moment my family realized
that all my brother’s dreams for his future and all our dreams for
him had gone down in the ocean, gone forever. At the time there
were no televisions in Guyana, so we depended on overseas infor-
mation through the radio to find out more information about the
tragedy that had struck our family and so many others.

Eventually my father started to piece all the information to-
gether and we realized that the plane crash was not an accident
but, in fact, terrorism carried out by fanatical anti-Castro Cubans,
chief among them Luis Posada Carriles.

Mr. Chairman, my brother Raymond Persaud was only 19 years
old. He was a young man with a wonderful and bright future. It
was all taken away with that terrible act of terrorism.

In 1979 my whole family immigrated to the United States. My
parents couldn’t bear the thought of another one of their children
heading overseas for graduate school so we made our new home in
New York. We are all now American citizens. And my brothers and
my sisters and I have all succeeded professionally and personally
in this great land of opportunity. Yet as an American citizen, I am
sure you can appreciate how outraged I am that a known terrorist,
a man who planned the act of international terrorism that killed
my brother, five of his fellow Guyanese medical students, and the
Cuban Olympic fencing team, is now living as freely as I am in the
United States.

My President says he wants all countries who are harboring ter-
rorists to be held accountable and that he is committed to bringing
justice for those who are involved in acts of terrorism. But for rea-
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sons that I hope this committee will help me understand, this is
not the case with Luis Posada. In his case there seems to be some
sort of exemption. As an involuntary member of a unique group of
families that have suffered an irreplaceable loss at the hands of
terrorists, I can honestly and clearly say that the handling of Posa-
da’s case has been a travesty of justice and a message of hypocrisy
amidst the ongoing U.S. war of terrorism.

I got so angry, Mr. Chairman, that as the 30th anniversary of
this crime approached last year I wrote a letter to the then-Attor-
ney General, Alberto Gonzalez, appealing to him in the name of
justice for my brother Raymond and the other passengers on that
doomed airplane, to certify Posada as a terrorist under the PA-
TRIOT Act and incarcerate him indefinitely. “Mr. Attorney Gen-
eral,” T wrote, “if Luis Posada does not meet the definition of a ter-
rorist, it is truly hard to imagine who does.”

Mr. Chairman, more than a year has gone by and I have never
received even a courtesy reply to my letter. Indeed, this committee
is the first government agency of my adopted homeland to have lis-
tened to my concerns about how this administration has turned its
back on the victims of a heinous crime of international terrorism.

Why, I ask you, are both Luis Posada and Orlando Bosch not be-
hind bars? My hope is that this committee will find the answers
that the Attorney General and the Department of Justice have re-
fused to provide for me and my family. It is now 31 years since my
brother Raymond died and no words can describe the pain, grief,
and loss we have faced. Our family, as I am sure you understand,
has never been the same since October 6, 1976. It is still painful
for us to sit and have conversations about Raymond’s death. We
wonder what kind of man Raymond would have been and how he
would have contributed to our complex world. My brother was an
amazing individual, full of hopes and dreams that were stolen for-
ever in an instant of an explosion. What a selfish act of Luis Po-
sada Carriles to kill innocent young lives for no other reason than
that they were traveling to Cuba.

Mr. Chairman, I hope my voice and those of other families of
flight 455 who cannot be here to speak today will be heard through
these words. We want justice now. We have waited far too long.
Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Nenninger follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROSEANNE NENNINGER, N.D., (NATUROPATHIC DOCTOR)
IN MEMORY OF MY BROTHER, RAYMOND PERSAUD

MR. CHAIRMAN, MEMBERS OF THIS HONORABLE COMMITTEE:

MY NAME IS ROSEANNE PERSAUD NENNINGER AND MY BROTHER RAY-
MOND PERSAUD WAS ON FLIGHT 455. AS YOU ALREADY KNOW, A HOR-
RIFIC BOMB EXPLODED IN MID AIR, KILLING HIM AND 72 OTHER PAS-
SENGERS AND CREW.

I AM HERE TODAY TO PUT A HUMAN FACE TO THIS TRAGIC, UNTIMELY
END TO MY BROTHER’S LIFE. I WANT JUSTICE TO BE SERVED FOR THIS
DREADFUL ACT OF TERRORISM. I FEEL JUSTICE HAS BEEN LONG OVER
DUE—NOT ONLY FOR MY BROTHER, BUT FOR ALL OF THE VICTIMS WHO
WERE ABOARD THIS PLANE.

I WOULD LIKE TO SHARE WITH YOU SOME CHERISHED MEMORIES
ABOUT MY BROTHER RAYMOND. HE WAS A ACADEMIC SCHOLAR. HE RE-
CEIVED THE HIGHEST MARKS ON HIS EXAMS AMONG HIS PEERS BUT WAS
PARTICULARLY GIFTED AT THE STUDY OF SCIENCE.
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BECAUSE OF HIS APTITUDE IN SCIENCE AND OVERALL SCHOLASTIC
ACHIEVEMENT, THE GUYANESE GOVERNMENT AWARDED RAYMOND A
SPECIAL, FULL SCHOLARSHIP TO STUDY MEDICINE IN CUBA. THEN, AND
NOW, THIS IS A COVETED SCHOLARSHIP FOR ANY YOUNG GUYANESE
STUDENT WHO HAS DREAMS OF BECOMING A DOCTOR. AT THAT TIME,
THERE WERE NO MEDICAL SCHOOLS IN GUYANA, AND, MR. CHAIRMAN,
THERE STILL ARE NONE.

SO FOR MY BROTHER, HAVING THE OPPORTUNITY TO FOLLOW HIS
DREAM WAS THE CLOSEST THING TO A MIRACLE. RAYMOND HAD BIG
DREAMS! HE HAD DREAMS OF BECOMING A DOCTOR, DREAMS OF GIVING
BACK TO HIS COUNTRY BY COMING BACK AFTER GRADUATING AND COM-
II:IL\AI%TING HIS RESIDENCY IN HIS HOMELAND, TO BE OF SERVICE TO GUY-

FROM A VERY YOUNG AGE RAYMOND DISPLAYED TRAITS OF STRONG
LEADERSHIP. HE WAS ALWAYS INVOLVED IN HELPING OTHERS. HE WAS
A GROUP LEADER FOR YOUTH ORGANIZATIONS, CLASS PRESIDENT IN
IéI{IGYIiNsACHOOL, AND MENTOR IN OUR COMMUNITY OF GEORGETOWN,

HE LOVED SPENDING TIME WITH HIS FAMILY AND I HAVE FOND MEMO-
RIES OF PLAYING CHECKERS TOGETHER, OF HIM HELPING ME WITH MY
HOMEWORK, READING NOVELS AND COMIC BOOKS TO ME. RAYMOND
WAS A GREAT, WONDERFUL BIG BROTHER TO ME.

MY PARENTS WERE SO PROUD OF HIM AND SO WAS I. LET ME TELL YOU
WHY:

RAYMOND WAS THE FIRST OF FIVE SIBLINGS IN THE FAMILY TO GO TO
COLLEGE, MUCH LESS GO TO MEDICAL SCHOOL! WE HAD A WONDERFUL
FAREWELL PARTY FOR RAYMOND THE NIGHT BEFORE HE LEFT FOR HIS
JOURNEY. MY FATHER BORROWED EIGHTY CHAIRS FROM THE CHURCH
TO ACCOMMODATE ALL THE GUESTS AT RAYMOND’S FAREWELL PARTY.
AND ONLY A FEW DAYS LATER THOSE WERE THE SAME CHAIRS USED
FOR HIS WAKE AND MEMORIAL SERVICE. WE NEVER GOT TO HAVE A
FULL FUNERAL BECAUSE HIS BODY COULD NOT BE RECOVERED IN THE
OCEAN WRECKAGE.

LET ME ACCOUNT FOR YOU WHAT HAPPENED THAT FATEFUL DAY, OC-
TOBER 6, 1976. IT BEGAN WITH HIGH HOPES. MY FAMILY WENT TO THE
AIRPORT TO BID RAYMOND FAREWELL. HE WAS DRESSED A BROWN SUIT,
SPECIALLY MADE AT THE TAILOR FOR HIS TRAVELS. MY PARENTS WERE
ggEIé%\IG SO PROUD TO HAVE THEIR SON HEADING OFF TO MEDICAL

HOOL.

AT THE AIRPORT, WE WATCHED RAYMOND WALK ON THE TARMAC
HEADING ON TO THE AIRPLANE. HE STOPPED, WAVED GOODBYE AND WE
WIPED THE TEARS FROM OUR EYES AND WAVED BACK. RAYMOND
TURNED THE CORNER AND HEADED INTO THE PLANE. WE HEADED BACK
HOME SAD BUT EXCITED AT THE SAME TIME. AND TIRED! SO TIRED, WE
ALL DECIDED TO TAKE A NAP.

AFTER A COUPLE OF HOURS, THERE WAS A KNOCK ON OUR DOOR. IT
WAS OUR COUSIN. IT WAS VERY ODD FOR HER TO COME TO OUR HOUSE
ON A WEDNESDAY. SHE WORKED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF FOREIGN AF-
FAIRS. SHE SAID SHE HAD SOME NEWS TO SHARE WITH US AND EVERY-
ONE HAD TO BE SITTING DOWN. I WAS IN A CONFUSED STATE, STILL
GROGGY FROM MY NAP, SITTING AT THE DINING ROOM TABLE. MY MOM
AND DAD WERE THERE WAITING TO HEAR WHAT MY COUSIN WOULD SAY.

SHE SAID THE PLANE THAT RAYMOND WAS ON WENT DOWN OFF THE
COAST OF BARBADOS.

THE NEXT THING I REMEMBER WERE SHRIEKS COMING FROM MY
MOTHER; I'M SURE MOST OF THE NEIGHBORS HEARD TOO. TEARS
FLOWED DOWNED MY CHEEKS. IT ALL SEEMED UNREAL. HOW WAS THIS
POSSIBLE? WE JUST SAW RAYMOND A FEW HOURS AGO. MY MOM ASKED
IF THERE WERE ANY SURVIVORS. MY COUSIN COULDN'T ANSWER THAT
QUESTION. MORE SCREAMS CAME FROM MY MOTHER. I WILL NEVER BE
ABLE TO GET THAT SOUND OUT OF MY HEAD.

I'M SURE THE COMMITTEE CAN UNDERSTAND HOW OCTOBER 6, 1976,
BECAME THE SADDEST DAY FOR US. AT THAT MOMENT MY FAMILY REAL-
IZED THAT ALL OF MY BROTHER’S DREAMS FOR HIS FUTURE, AND ALL OF
OUR DREAMS FOR HIM, HAD GONE DOWN IN THE OCEAN . . . GONE FOR-
EVER.

AT THE TIME, THERE WERE NO TELEVISIONS IN GUYANA SO WE DE-
PENDED ON OVERSEAS INFORMATION THROUGH THE RADIO TO FIND
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OUT MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE TRAGEDY THAT HAD STRUCK OUR
FAMILY AND SO MANY OTHERS. EVENTUALLY, MY FATHER STARTED TO
PIECE ALL THE INFORMATION TOGETHER AND WE REALIZED THIS PLANE
CRASH WAS NOT AN ACCIDENT, BUT AN ACT OF TERRORISM CARRIED
OUT BY FANATICAL ANTI-CASTRO CUBANS—CHIEF AMONG THEM LUIS
POSADA CARRILES.

MR. CHAIRMAN, MY BROTHER RAYMOND WAS ONLY 19-YEARS OLD.
HE WAS A YOUNG MAN WITH A WONDERFUL AND BRIGHT FUTURE.
AND IT WAS ALL TAKEN AWAY WITH THAT TERRIBLE ACT OF TER-
RORISM.

IN 1979, MY WHOLE FAMILY IMMIGRATED TO THE UNITED STATES. MY
PARENTS COULDN'T BEAR THE THOUGHT OF ANOTHER ONE THEIR CHIL-
DREN HEADING OVERSEAS FOR GRADUATE SCHOOL SO WE MADE OUR
NEW HOME IN NEW YORK. WE ARE ALL NOW AMERICAN CITIZENS AND
MY BROTHERS AND MY SISTER AND I HAVE ALL SUCCEEDED PROFES-
SIONALLY AND PERSONALLY IN THIS GREAT LAND OF OPPORTUNITY.

YET, AS AN AMERICAN CITIZEN, I'M SURE YOU CAN APPRECIATE HOW
OUTRAGED I AM THAT A KNOWN TERRORIST, THE MAN WHO PLANNED
THE ACT OF INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM THAT KILLED MY BROTHER,
FIVE OF HIS FELLOW GUYANESE MEDICAL STUDENTS, AND THE CUBAN
OLYMPIC FENCING TEAM, IS NOW LIVING AS FREELY AS I AM IN THE
UNITED STATES.

MY PRESIDENT SAYS THAT HE WANTS ALL COUNTRIES WHO ARE HAR-
BORING TERRRORISTS TO BE HELD ACCOUNTABLE AND THAT HE IS COM-
MITTED TO BRINGING TO JUSTICE THOSE WHO ARE INVOLVED IN ACTS
OF TERRORISM. BUT FOR REASONS THAT I HOPE THIS COMMITTEE WILL
HELP ME UNDERSTAND, THIS IS NOT THE CASE WITH LUIS POSADA. IN
HIS CASE THERE SEEMS TO BE SOME SORT OF EXEMPTION. AS AN INVOL-
UNTARY MEMBER OF A UNIQUE GROUP OF FAMILIES THAT HAVE SUF-
FERED AN IRREPLACEABLE LOSS AT THE HANDS OF TERRORISTS, I CAN
SAY HONESTLY AND CLEARLY THAT THE HANDLING OF POSADA’S CASE
HAS BEEN A TRAVESTY OF JUSTICE AND A MESSAGE OF HYPOCRISY
AMIDST THE ONGOING U.S. WAR OF TERRORISM.

I GOT SO ANGRY, MR. CHAIRMAN, THAT AS THE 30TH ANNIVERSARY OF
THIS CRIME APPROACHED LAST YEAR, I WROTE A LETTER TO THE THEN
ATTORNEY GENERAL ALBERTO GONZALES APPEALING TO HIM IN THE
NAME OF JUSTICE FOR MY BROTHER RAYMOND AND THE OTHER PAS-
SENGERS ON THAT DOOMED AIRPLANE, TO CERTIFY POSADA AS A TER-
RORIST UNDER THE PATRIOT AND INCARCERATE HIM INDEFINITELY. MR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL, I WROTE: “IF LUIS POSADA DOES NOT MEET THE
DEFINITION OF A TERRORIST, IT IS TRULY HARD TO IMAGINE WHO DOES.”

MR. CHAIRMAN, MORE THAN A YEAR HAS GONE BY AND I HAVE NEVER
RECEIVED EVEN A COURTESY REPLY TO MY LETTER. INDEED, THIS COM-
MITTEE IS THE FIRST GOVERNMENT AGENCY OF MY ADOPTED HOME-
LAND TO HAVE LISTENED TO MY CONCERNS ABOUT HOW THIS ADMINIS-
TRATION HAS TURNED ITS BACK ON THE VICTIMS OF A HEINOUS CRIME
OF INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM. WHY, I ASK YOU, ARE BOTH LUIS PO-
SADA AND ORLANDO BOSCH NOT BEHIND BARS? MY HOPE IS THAT THIS
COMMITTEE WILL FIND THE ANSWERS THAT THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
AND THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE HAVE REFUSED TO PROVIDE FOR ME
AND MY FAMILY.

IT IS NOW 31 YEARS SINCE OUR BROTHER RAYMOND DIED AND NO
WORDS CAN DESCRIBE THE PAIN, GRIEF AND LOSS WE HAVE FACED. OUR
FAMILY, AS I AM SURE YOU UNDERSTAND, HAS NEVER BEEN THE SAME
SINCE OCTOBER 6, 1976. IT IS STILL PAINFUL FOR US TO SIT AND HAVE
CONVERSATIONS ABOUT RAYMOND’S DEATH. WE WONDER WHAT KIND OF
MAN RAYMOND WOULD HAVE BEEN AND HOW HE WOULD HAVE CON-
TRIBUTED TO OUR COMPLEX WORLD. MY BROTHER WAS AN AMAZING IN-
DIVIDUAL, FULL OF HOPES AND DREAMS, THAT WERE STOLEN FOREVER
IN AN INSTANT OF AN EXPLOSION. WHAT A SELFISH ACT OF LUIS POSADA
CARRILES TO KILL INNOCENT YOUNG LIVES FOR NO OTHER REASON
THAN THAT THEY WERE TRAVELING TO CUBA.

MR. CHAIRMAN, I HOPE MY VOICE, AND THOSE OF THE OTHER FAMI-
LIES OF FLIGHT 455 WHO CANNOT BE HERE TO SPEAK TODAY, WILL BE
HEARD THROUGH THESE WORDS. WE WANT JUSTICE NOW. WE HAVE
WAITED FAR TOO LONG.

THANK YOU.
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Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you. And you have inspired us. And we
will try. And we will dedicate our efforts to your brother, to the
other victims, to your families.

Congressman Flake.

Mr. FLAKE. I want to thank you as well for the testimony. That
was extremely moving.

Let me just ask you, how does it make you feel, and the other
survivors and family members, when you hear Orlando Bosch or
Posada Carriles are hailed as heroes?

Ms. NENNINGER. It is indescribable. It makes no sense. I can’t
understand it.

Mr. FLAKE. You mentioned that you had heard fairly soon after
that Posada Carriles was involved. Was that pretty much accepted
by people at that point, or was it known early on that he was in-
volved?

Ms. NENNINGER. Yes. My father—because my father was the one
who really spent a lot of time figuring it out and doing the re-
search; and, yes, early on it was figured out that it was Luis Po-
sada Carriles.

Mr. FLAKE. Thank you.

Mr. Kornbluh, you mentioned that there is a lot of information
that we haven’t gotten to yet.

Mr. DELAHUNT. If the gentleman would yield for just a moment.
Before we ask our final questions here, I think I should note for
the record that as she stated, Ann Louise Bardach has been sub-
poenaed to the New Jersey grand jury regarding her work. To date
Ms. Bardach and the New York Times have strenuously and suc-
cessfully resisted said subpoena to appear before the grand jury.
However, because the matter is ongoing and the Department of
Justice has invoked the privilege of secrecy, she cannot comment,
neither confirm nor deny, on any aspect regarding herself and the
grand jury.

Jeff, go ahead.

Mr. FLAKE. Thank you.

Mr. Kornbluh, you mentioned that there are documents that we
still haven’t gotten yet. Why is it so difficult and what needs to be
done to have access to those documents?

Mr. KORNBLUH. Simply put, they are intelligence documents.
They reveal relations with people who are now renowned as pur-
veyors of violence, so they are embarrassing. And those people who
keep the secrets like to continue to keep them. However, the con-
gressional power of persuasion, whether it is political power or sub-
poena power, I think can free up these documents. What is, I think,
important is that a number of these documents have already been
centralized for a variety of reasons.

Orlando Bosch, very similar to Luis Posada, came to this country
illegally in early 1988. He was a fugitive from justice in this coun-
try, jumped bail, gone abroad. So when he got out of prison in Ven-
ezuela, he came back here without proper documentation. He was
arrested, he was put in immigration detention. He went through a
very similar process that Luis Posada has gone through. There was
a 700-page dossier of CIA and FBI documents that was put to-
gether by the Intelligence Community, given to the judge in the
case, and reviewed by the Justice Department, which concluded
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that he was an unrepentant and violent terrorist. They were very
clear in their ruling. That dossier should be available to the com-
mittee if it hasn’t been shredded as some of the other evidence has
been on Posada. Hopefully it is still in the possession of the court
that reviewed this case. And certainly the FBI and the CIA and the
Justice Department itself should still have a copy of it.

The end of that story, of course, Mr. Congressman, is that after
the Justice Department issued a very, very clear ruling on this,
stating that Bosch was irresolute and unwavering in his advocacy
of terrorist violence and his actions have been those of a terrorist
unfettered by law or human decency, the administration of George
Herbert Walker Bush issued an administrative pardon for Bosch,
overruled its own Justice Department’s decision and allowed him
to go free.

We have seen a very similar situation, not quite exactly the
same, but similar situation with Posada. And that is how we have
ended up with both Bosch and Posada living in Miami today.

Mr. FLAKE. Thank you.

Ms. Bardach, I have enjoyed your writings over the years——

Ms. BARDACH. Thank you.

Mr. FLAKE [continuing]. And appreciate what you have done to
make this more public. Can you elaborate?

You talk some in your testimony of the pressures that have come
on you because of the—I see you rolling your eyes—can you elabo-
rate a little on the kind of pressure that has come on you as a re-
sult of writing these articles?

Ms. BARDACH. Right. Well, I have been under one subpoena or
another for almost 2% years. It requires a huge amount of time to
deal with; various subpoenas, beat one and another one comes up.
If it were not for the New York Times being so dedicated to this
case and the attendant costs—which I can assure you that 2%
years of legal work and fencing with the Department of Justice are
considerable—I don’t know what would happen.

Because it began with FBI agents showing up at my house in
Santa Barbara. This is kind of ironic. Luis Posada showed up in
Miami. He is in Miami and has a press conference, but the FBI is
at my house in Santa Barbara. I never figured that out.

But it has been tremendous. There is not a day, hardly a day has
gone by in 2% years when I do not speak to lawyers. Sometimes
I do no work except talk to lawyers. I have had to basically become
a lawyer and assemble all this massive material.

Again, my position has been I am a reporter, I am a journalist,
I talk to anybody who will talk to me and I put their story down.
I am not a prosecutor, but I have a big problem that when there
has been considerable evidence assembled over 45 years or some-
thing, whatever it has been, let us just say 1976—let’s just take
Cubana—over 30 years, and the other bombings, and it is meticu-
lously put together by agents, tremendously dedicated agents in
the FBI, and the government chooses not to prosecute. Well, that
is their decision. Okay, they don’t want to prosecute.

But then they destroy their evidence and then they show up at
my house and say basically, “We have thrown it out, we need your
material.” As if I work for—as if I am a prosecutor. And that is
very troubling. It is very troubling about the First Amendment. I
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can’t tell you how much work I have not gotten done because this
is something I have to do. I obviously continue to write and publish
regularly, but it has been a big drain. Anybody who thinks a Fed-
eral subpoena that comes from the Department of Justice, National
Security Division, Counterterrorism, is not intimidating—which is
where mine come from—in my case Alberto Gonzalez himself signs
my paperwork, used to sign my paperwork, just in case I didn’t
know it was important. So this commands my attention. It is a
very problematic situation when the government doesn’t want to
use their own materials but wants reporters to do the work for you.
I can only speculate that they don’t want their own fingerprints on
this case.

Mr. FLAKE. I mentioned in the last panel it is very troubling to
me that the government doesn’t seem very curious about some of
these documents that are there, the tapes and interviews that have
been done. But it is worse than that; they seem interested enough
to get it and then destroy it.

Ms. BARDACH. Right, right.

Mr. FLAKE. So it is troubling.

Ms. BARDACH. There is no question in my mind, whatever hap-
pens in this case—and we hear about scandals with the U.S. Attor-
ney’s Office—that we need an investigation into what happened in
August 2003: The U.S. Attorney’s Office signed off on the closure
and destruction of evidence in this case and the special agent in
charge (SAC) at FBI also did. So you have two of the top law en-
forcement people. I mean, that is the procedure. If something else
happened, I would like to be illuminated. But the procedure is that
the special agent in charge of the FBI, supervisory agent and the
U.S. Attorney, who was then Marcos Jimenez, would have to sign
off for this to happen. How they could take the most important case
in that office and say that is the one we are going to clear out be-
cause we have to make some extra space around here. And then
green light it for destruction is astounding. And everything else I
hear about U.S. Attorneys doing this and that doesn’t come near
this situation. And that is what I would like to learn more about.

Mr. DELAHUNT. If the gentleman would yield for just a moment.
We do have a new Attorney General. Let us give him an oppor-
tunity. Because I intend, and I know that Mr. Flake shares my
view, as do other colleagues, that this is a priority and we will ap-
proach the Department of Justice and have a conversation in that
regard.

In the testimony of Mr. Hernandez, he indicated that some coun-
tries in Latin America should be or are grateful to Mr. Luis Posada
Carriles for his efforts. And yet I read the decision of the immigra-
tion judge and the magistrate, and in the order of removal it indi-
cates that he is to be deported through any country, other than
Cuba or Venezuela, that will accept him. I think there are some
seven countries that have rejected Mr. Posada Carriles: Canada,
Mexico, Honduras, others, El Salvador where he spent some time,
and Panama. And I found something interesting in the decision
that indicated that those who would make the decision about ac-
cepting him are under investigation in Panama for his departure
from Panama.
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In your research has anyone, either Peter or Ann Louise, have
you information regarding those in Panama who were involved in
his departure from Panama? For what reason are they under inves-
tigation, if you know?

Ms. BARDACH. I have some information. It may be, I am not quite
sure, there might be some I have already published in The Atlantic
Monthly. If it is not it is going to be in my new book.

There was an intense lobbying campaign, as I mentioned in my
testimony, letters appearing on congressional stationery from
Ileana Ros-Lehtinen and Lincoln Diaz-Balart beseeching a pardon
from Mireya Moscoso, the President. Two letters were written on
congressional stationery as I understand it. There was a tremen-
dous amount of lobbying behind the scenes without congressional
stationery. And in fact our former Ambassador to Panama, I be-
lieve Simon Ferro—I think it was Simon Ferro—and also he was
solicited to lobby. And also Herminio San Roman, the former head
of Radio Marti, Radio and TV Marti. And the two of them invoked
their privilege to lead a lobbying campaign in Miami.

According to some of the investigators I spoke with who were
very crucial in gathering the evidence in this case, one of them—
or more than one of them told me about an unsettling lunch. And
during that lunch the two men, Mr. Ferro and San Roman, made
it very clear that they did not want anyone at the FBI to block the
release of Mr. Posada and his three cohorts, one of whom you know
was indicted and charged with the Letelier case, Mr. Guillermo
Novo. They all had very, very long and storied track records, prison
records and/or convictions. The investigator said to me that this
was quite disconcerting, and said, “Here we were thinking we are
going to close this case, we are going to move for charges.” They
had been very hopeful that they were going to get a RICO action.
That was the plan that the FBI was pushing. I can’t underestimate
enough how important it is to separate the rank-and-file investiga-
tors who dedicate themselves to this, and the political appointees
or people susceptible to politics.

Most of the people on the Joint Terrorism Task Force team in
Miami are outstanding and they couldn’t have been more dis-
appointed and demoralized and distressed by what happened to
their hard-earned efforts. But they were particularly distressed be-
cause they felt that they were—they felt they were given a very
stern message; and that was, “Back off. Just back off. This is what
is going to be happening. We are going to push for this pardon and
we are going to get it.”

Of course, as I have written in my work, Mireya Moscoso has
strong social contacts in Florida. She maintains a home in Key Bis-
cayne and has personal relationships with these various people.

There are also many rumors. You can hear them everywhere
from both sides and all sides, and I have no idea nor can I attest
to their veracity. I don’t know. I have heard the rumors from right,
left, and center that a considerable amount of money changed
hands, but have no firsthand information. That is the common
scuttlebutt in Miami in Cuban circles, is that something happened.

Now, that would not be the first time in Latin America that
money changed hands regarding a judicial pardon. So that is basi-
cally what I know led to this, that there was this strenuous cam-
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paign. And after the first letter leaves, that is signed by Represent-
atives Ros-Lehtinen and Lincoln Diaz-Balart—remember, the letter
goes out and then—that is in May I believe, and in August the files
disappear. Now, I am not saying, but lots of things happened in the
summer of 2003 that remain inexplicable, particularly for such a
high-profile case.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Ms. Bardach, you indicated that you interviewed
Antonio Alvarez.

Ms. BARDACH. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And he had provided—and I think, Peter, you
have corroborated this, provided substantial corroboration to the ef-
forts that, purportedly, Luis Posada Carriles made in terms of
these bombings, one of which resulted in the death of an Italian
tourist, but nothing was done by the FBI.

Ms. BARDACH. Well, they did meet with Mr. Alvarez, as I said
in my testimony.

Mr. DELAHUNT. But there was no follow-up.

Ms. BARDACH. No. They met with him.

Well, he had to solicit them. Nobody came to him. First he told
people in Guatemala. Then he went to the Venezuelan authorities.
And then finally he went to the FBI and he said, “Look I work in
this office, this man is in this office, I am watching and listening
to various—there is explosive materials in the closet in our office.”
He actually told them that. And he wrote a very—and at that
point, somebody showed up from the FBI. I happen to know the
agents that went there. They were very, very impressed with him.
But like I said, the agents said that they found him very credible,
they thought they had a slam-dunk prosecution. But when they re-
turned back, they were told to back off.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Who is the—you use the term “chief.” Could you
identify who the chief was?

Ms. BARDACH. The special agent in charge at that time was
named Hector Pesquera. He had previously been in Puerto Rico. He
was actually involved with the Esperanza case. There was a lot of
good will when he showed up. People thought he would be very
gung ho. He was of Puerto Rican background. But the rank-and-
file became severely disillusioned. Complaints were made to him,
complaints were made about him. They felt that he had become
cozy with very political elements. Not just political elements, but
certain figures in the Miami political firmament who had been in-
dicted and convicted of various charges. And they took a dim view
of that, so much so that they complained to him about it and asked
him not to, for instance, appear in person, in public with certain
of these people. But what they felt is that it kind of dripped down
and affected his judgment.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And he made it back from receiving his award.
And I am going to ask him what the award was for. But before I
do that and yield to my friend from California, you heard the—you
were here present during the testimony of Mr. Hernandez.

Ms. BARDACH. Yes.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Would anyone—I am going to direct this to Peter
and to you, Ms. Bardach. If you have any comment on his testi-
mony, I would like to hear it.



104

I would note, and I do this for the benefit of Mr. Rohrabacher,
that I find it ironic—and, again, Mr. Hernandez—and I think well-
intentioned—indicated that there are governments and there were
his efforts in terms of walking, if you will, the infiltration of Com-
munists into particularly Central American countries, was a good
thing from his perspective. And yet today who is the President of
Nicaragua? Daniel Ortega. So for 30 or 40 years. I guess I am say-
ing what do we learn from that? But if you would care to comment
on anything in his testimony that you agree with or that you dis-
agree with.

Ms. BARDACH. Well, there are two points that sort of stood out
for me. And first of all, there were a couple of misstatements of
facts which are simply easy to verify. One of them, of course, is
that Joaquin Chaffardet actually hired Luis Posada at the DISIP.
Chaffardet was in a superior role. And then they were very close.
They subsequently became business partners in a private inves-
tigation company. Mr. Chaffardet, who I have also interviewed, is
a very close friend of Luis Posada. He has recently had to leave
Venezuela. So they have been very close friends, business friends.
They worked in the government together for many years, with
Chaffardet having initially had the higher position.

The second point that jumps out at me is I have heard many
things. This is a very smoke-and-mirrors arena. You hear every-
thing on Cuban issues. Something about the effect that there was
a Cuban agent that infiltrated the death of Letelier. I can tell you
that the four men, Dionisio Suarez, Virgilio Paz, Guillermo Novo
and his brother Ignacio, I can assure you at no time in history has
anyone accused any of those men of being a Cuban agent, least of
all the Cuban Government who has had them at the top of their
watch list for around 30 years as the most dangerous men and
never can they come into the country.

Dionisio Suarez is now in Miami, as is Virgilio Paz. They remain
committed and dedicated. Those two men did plead guilty and did
a significant amount of time. Previous to the murder of Letelier,
they had a long track group record with various militant anti-Cas-
tro groups. Never had I heard them referred to as Cuban agents.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I yield to my friend.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. How do you pronounce the Lete——

Ms. BARDACH. Dionisio Suarez and Virgilio Paz, which means
peace, P-A-Z.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Who is the—.

Ms. BARDACH. Letelier. Orlando Letelier.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I will submit at this point in the record an
article by Evans and Novak that came from an FBI source, sug-
gesting that in the vehicle was indications that he was on the
Cuban payroll.

Ms. BARDACH. Congressman Rohrabacher, I would encourage you
to read the full record assembled by the U.S. Attorney who handled
the prosecution, Propper. He has a book out called Labyrinth. That
is a widely discredited piece of information. It was condemned at
the time. It is discredited. But I am not an expert in that area ex-
cept to know that it was discredited enough that

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Neither am I, but I have also been around
long enough to know that anytime people came up with such infor-
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mation about someone’s connection with Castro or whatever, they
were always discredited.

Ms. BARDACH. Listen, I would be the first one to tell you that
Cuba has one of the most effective and successful intelligence
apparati in the world. I have written pieces about it in the Wash-
ington Post, that it is preeminent. That said, it almost makes one
laugh. These particular four people——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I wasn’t talking about those four people. I am
talking about that one person.

Ms. BARDACH. I am just saying we have never—I am aware of
what you are referring to.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. The Chilean Ambassador, is that who he
was?

Ms. BARDACH. Orlando Letelier was the former Ambassador from
Chile to Washington.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And to your knowledge, then, you are saying
that you believe that he was not a recipient of payments from the
Cuban Government?

Ms. BARDACH. I thought you asked me about whether one of the
four men was a Cuban agent. I have never seen that verified.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No. What the mention was, was that he
was—that that particular individual, which I have seen reports on,
was on the payroll of the Cuban Government.

Ms. BARDACH. I can’t speak to that, sir. But if you are trying to
suggest that somebody receives money from Cuba which would in-
volve millions and millions of citizens and that they deserve to be
blown up on Embassy Row, I would find that——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No. It just means that if someone is receiving
money from a dictatorship, that they must be doing the business
of the dictatorship. And Castro was a dictator. I am not saying they
deserve to be blown up.

Ms. BARDACH. At that point he was not a government official. He
had come to the United States to speak about the abuses of the——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Let me ask you this. If someone is on the
Cuban payroll, is he a government official?

Ms. BARDACH. I have no information he was on the Cuban pay-
roll, at no time. I have at no time seen that.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. There is other evidence to suggest that,
which I am putting in the record. If he was on the Cuban payroll,
is he a government official?

Ms. BARDACH. I think you have to kind of look at what kind. For
instance, as Ms. Nenninger has talked about, her brother was
going to go to Cuba to study because there were no medical
schools—you missed this testimony—but there are no medical
schools in Guyana, so he was very grateful to be able to go to a
medical school in Cuba as a young man. Now—and I guess by your
definition, then, he is accepting some kind of gift or money so
therefore is worthy of being a target.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, that is a totally ridiculous comparison be-
tween a guy who used to be an Ambassador of Chile versus some
honest citizen——

Ms. BARDACH. He was no longer a government official when he
was murdered.
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. I understand that. A diplomat who was on
the payroll——

Ms. BARDACH. He was not a diplomat.

Mr. ROHRABACHER [continuing]. Of a Cuban dictatorship is some
way comparable to just an individual person who wants to go to
medical school.

Ms. BARDACH. Well, that argument is made in Miami on almost
a weekly basis. That is how ridiculous you think it is. You can hear
it on Radio Mambi, that people who are the recipients of any mate-
rials or gifts from Cuba do not deserve the liberties we have. If you
think that is ridiculous, I suggest you tune into Radio Mambi.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. You are absolutely right. That position is ri-
diculous. And have you a double standard, because what you just
said is ridiculous.

Ms. BARDACH. I don’t have a double standard. Congressman,
with all due respect, I don’t know whether you are telling me—you
are telling me for the first time that a man who is dead may have
received money from the Cuban Government. I have never heard
that before.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. You have never heard that before?

Ms. BARDACH. No, no.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. How come that was very well known to me,
except I don’t know how to pronounce the guy’s name, that was
very well known to me for the last 10 years, and you have never
heard it before?

Ms. BARDACH. I have never seen a verified credible report.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Then let me note, Mr. Chairman, we will
submit for the record at this point several articles containing the
specific charge—it wasn’t a charge, it was a leak from the FBI, sug-
gesting that this former Chilean Ambassador was on the payroll of
the Cuban Government when he was blown up.

Now, by the way, does that mean he should be blown up? No.
But that makes it different than they are just taking——

Ms. BARDACH. What about the American citizen, Ronni Moffitt,
who was 20-something years old? Does that make her a worthy tar-
get?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, it doesn’t. You are the one with the dou-
ble standard here, not me.

Ms. BARDACH. What is the double standard?

o 1\}/311". ROHRABACHER. You are condemning the people down in
uba.

Ms. BARDACH. I did not condemn anybody. I have not said the
word “condemn” once. I am not a prosecutor, I am a reporter. I do
not have a dog in this fight.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I do not have a double standard about con-
demning them for that, and I would condemn anybody for doing
that, but I would not suggest that those people are on par with
someone who is a paid—someone on the payroll, a high-level dip-
lomat who is on the payroll of the Cuban Government.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Former.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. That is a question. Is he still a diplomat if
he is receiving payments from Castro? He may not be a diplomat
for Chile, but he is obviously a government agent somewhere if he
is receiving that pay.
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Mr. DELAHUNT. If.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. If he is.

Ms. BARDACH. There are a lot of “ifs” you are saying about a man
who has been murdered and cannot speak for himself.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I think this has been a very good exchange.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Right.

Mr. DELAHUNT. And in your absence, Mr. Rohrabacher, this was
faint praise, but I noted that you and I disagree on just about ev-
erything. But I did acknowledge that we both share a desire to get
to the truth and an effort to not rely on media reports and not to
even rely on intelligence reports, but to attempt to go to the origi-
nal source is something that I thought that you would agree with
and that we—we as a committee should make that effort.

I wish that and I know—and, again, I congratulate my friend
and my colleague on his award, but I wish that you could have
been here to hear Ms. Nenninger. And I know you as a human
being, and I know that you would have been as moved as I. I really
think that this is something that we can take on; make an effort,
an honest effort. We can work together and do the digging that is
required.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Listen, as I have stated about a dozen times
in the hearing now, if some scumbag, pardon the expression,
brought down a civilian airplane, he should be fried. I have no
problem with—and I don’t care what his ideology is, I don’t care
if he is anti-Castro or pro-Castro, I don’t care if they believe that
Allah is telling them how to do it, or whether or not there is some
Christian group that feels they are going to do it, if you are going
to target civilians in order to obtain or to achieve a political end,
you are a terrorist and you should be dealt with as that, and that
is a murderer. I have no problems with that.

But all I know in my experience is that quite often you got peo-
ple who are anti-Communist who end up being accused of things
that are beyond what they did. And there are exaggerations be-
cause there is an ideological—there was a huge ideological fight
going on. I am interested in the truth there.

And I will say, the witness that we had earlier, the so-called
journalist that was here—and I say “so-called” because after listen-
ing to him, I don’t believe that I would call him a journalist. But
I want to see the tape that he said he had, and I want to see the
transcript of that tape. But I also want to hear that tape and have
it translated myself, because I found his testimony to be filled with
words that were reasonable words, trying to make someone believe
that he had something on tape, and then when you ask him about
it he didn’t. So if this guy is guilty let us find out.

I don’t want our country to have a double standard either. 1
think that there is nothing that hurts us more than, as we have
talked about it—and if you say, hey, America has a double stand-
ard here, we are letting terrorists of the right go

Mr. DELAHUNT. Terrorists are on the left.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Terrorists on the left, that is wrong and we
need to make sure that we have one standard of that.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I hope, if I may, I hope that, Roseanne, you are
hearing this. Because I think this reflects the best about your
adopted land, the land that Dana Rohrabacher and I were born in.
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This is the best about America. It takes us a while to get it, it
takes us a while, but we will get there.

And I want to inform my ranking member that Mr. Kornbluh,
again who might share a different perspective politically than you
or myself or whatever, has talent in this regard. We can have our
staff on both sides work this in a way that we can vet it, we can
get the records. He presented documents that have validity, that
have validity, that are real. And if we do nothing more than just
simply demonstrate to the world that we are making this effort, I
think it bespeaks well of the institution of Congress.

And I—and you have heard me say again and again, and this is
not just the Bush administration; this goes back to the Clinton ad-
ministration, this goes back to both Republican and Democratic ad-
ministrations. It is the responsibility of the U.S. Congress to roll
back the veil of the curtain of secrecy that does not allow the truth
to emerge. And I know you share that and I share that. And what-
ever is there, it has to be exposed.

Ms. BARDACH. I just want to make one comment, Congressman
Rohrabacher, I have been sort of working in this arena for more
than 15 years of research from every side. I think I am one of the
few people who has actually interviewed most of the principals per-
sonally and have written accounts from their point of view. I just
wanted to just give you some indication of how smoke-and-mirrors
this arena is.

I am, of course, fed information all the time, and every day I
have to make a value judgment: Who says it, what is the motive,
what is the backup? I try to get what we call three-part corrobora-
tion—more than one time, more than five times, more than ten
times. This is how incredible this world is—I have been told that
Luis Posada Carriles is a Cuban agent. And I do not mean from
just somebody who is smoking a cigar and having too many drinks.
I mean educated people. That is how smoke-and-mirrors this is.

Now, that also speaks to two things: How effective Cuban intel-
ligence is, but it tells you also how much rumor and how careful
we all must be between what we can verify and rumors and anony-
mous leaks, even when they came from the FBI back then.

To your point I would encourage you to look at the official ac-
count in the book, Labyrinth, written by the U.S. Attorney and
Taylor Branch. They talk about that extensively. And then you can
contact them. They are both alive and living in this area. They
could give you the full background on that.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, I am not saying, by the way, he should
have been blown up or anything. I am just saying that you need
to

Ms. BARDACH. Right.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Anyway, during that time period, there
was—you know Castro was involved in killing people and anti-Cas-
tro people were involved in killing people. There was this warfare
going on.

Listen, I went down to Nicaragua and I personally was involved
with excavating a grave, a mass grave that nobody reported on,
that the Sandinistas had killed 30 people from this village. So I
went down there and actually dug up some of the bodies and talked
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to socline of the people in the village and they told me what hap-
pened.

Now, during the Cold War there were people who just felt they
were aligned with the progressive forces of the world or they were
aligned with the anti-Communists of the world and it secured their
ability to speak the truth.

Ms. BARDACH. Absolutely. The ideology has blurred everybody’s
vision on both sides.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Obviously—you know, I believe I am an anti-
Communist, but in reality I am someone who believes in freedom
and democracy and liberty and justice and truth. And so when I
am up here giving people on the left hell at times, because other
people don’t necessarily give them hell, I would be giving that same
type of thing to people on the right who are trying to, like you
say—believe me, anybody who would come in my presence and sug-
gest that anybody taking any money from the Castro regime to get
an education or whatever deserves to be treated like an enemy, I
would be the same—behind the scenes, I would be condemning
them as much as I would in front of the scenes.

Ms. BARDACH. It is true. It happens even today in Miami. You
can hear that.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. So I appreciate that we will—if the chairman
looks at this as an example of the type of double standard that we
had during the Cold War, that maybe we have now, maybe there
are residues of this double standard that are still involved with
what is going on today, even though this guy is an 80-year-old
man, if you want to clear that up and want to set the record
straight, hey, let’s listen. As long as it is the truth, I am going to
go for it and be beside you. But see what we come out with.

And T will put in the record the thing about whether or not this
former Chilean Ambassador was on the Cuban payroll.

Ms. BARDACH. Well, it is worth looking into. Like I said, these
things are often said. And back in the Letelier case there were
some unfortunate leaks that the State Department—they actually
reprimanded the FBI about some of those leaks. So it is worth look-
ing at firsthand, talking to the participants who are still alive, the
U.S. Attorney, and then making a determination on those issues.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Is Eugene Propper still here?

Ms. BARDACH. Yes. He lives locally. Actually I just spoke to him.
He is, I think, in South Carolina right now, but I believe he would
be available.

Mr. KORNBLUH. Mr. Congressman, even though you say that that
is not an issue that you are going to use to detract from the idea
that it was wrong to blow somebody up on the streets of Wash-
ington, in fact that issue was used that way in the press by Evans
and Novak, by Accuracy in Media, by all of the ardent conserv-
atives who wanted to somehow damage the integrity of the victim
and divert attention away from the perpetrators of that crime, the
Pinochet regime, which was a big ally of the anti-Communists in
those days, working with Cuban exiles, militant anti-Castro, vio-
lent Cuban exiles who have come up again and again and again—
Orlando Bosch being one, Guillermo Novo being another—and who
continued on well after that to be involved in efforts that can only
be defined by any objective standard as terrorism. And that is what
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is sad about spending time on that, what I would consider a total
diversion of what we are really here to discuss.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I guess the reason why it is important is if
this man was on the payroll of the Cuban Government at the time,
which was just—look, 10 years before that Fidel Castro was in-
volved with going out and shooting hundreds of people. And even-
tually it became the very same supporters that had helped him in
the mountains, no longer the Batista people, but the guys who had
helped him in the mountains who were not Communists, who did
not want to go the Communist direction. Fidel Castro ended up,
you know, yes, he got into power, and a lot of the people who
helped him overthrow Batista were not trying to set up a Marxist-
Leninist dictatorship. And within a short period of time he was
even killing people who had actually been in the mountains with
him. Talk about volatility, talk about

Mr. KOoRNBLUH. I fail to see what that has to do with the justice
of somebody being murdered on the streets of Washington, DC.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. What it means is it is not just somebody; it
is somebody who was directly on the payroll of a government that
was committing those kinds of crimes.

Mr. KORNBLUH. Sir, I can tell you, as somebody who has spent
considerable time working on the Letelier-Moffitt assassination, in
fact virtually the entire 30 years that I have been in Washington,
that Orlando Letelier was killed by Augusto Pinochet and the head
of the Chilean secret police, Manuel Contreras, who eventually was
indicted here in Washington. The U.S. asked for his extradition. He
did eventually, after democracy returned to Chile, serve time in a
Chilean jail for that crime. And Letelier was not assassinated be-
cause he was on the Cuban payroll, which he wasn’t, but because
he was the leading critic and the most effective critic of the mili-
tary dictatorship in Chile.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay. But let me ask you then, so you looked
into this, and you are telling me, you are saying right now there
really isn’t any substantial evidence, something that you would
think was legitimate evidence to suggest that he was on the Cuban
payroll?

Mr. KORNBLUH. It is hard to describe factually to someone who
seems to believe that anybody who is a member of a Socialist Party
or a Communist Party deserves violence in their life what the truth
of this situation was. I can do it if you want me to spend a mo-
ment.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I don’t know who you are talking about. You
think that I think that all Socialists are equal to Communists?

Mr. KORNBLUH. No, or all Socialists deserve to be killed.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No, you got somebody all wrong. You are
talking about some myth that you just created over here, some
straw man. I happen to respect democratic Socialists. Fidel Castro
doesn’t respect democratic Socialists. Fidel Castro puts them in jail
or executes them, democratic Socialists. There are differences.
There is a Marxist-Leninist concept that will permit them to have
a dictatorship of the proletariat.

Mr. KORNBLUH. It was the enemies of Fidel Castro that engaged
in blowing up a retired former diplomat on the streets of our city
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and killing a 26-year-old New Jersey woman who just got married
4 months before

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Yes, they are murderers. People like that are
murderers. They are murderers. And they are on the same moral
level as Fidel Castro.

Mr. KORNBLUH. One of them was arrested with Luis Posada in
Panama with yet another attempt to assassinate Fidel Castro in
the year 2000. So there is some issue of association there.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me

Mr. ROHRABACHER. But I did ask a question. So you believe there
is no substantial evidence to suggest that the gentleman that we
are talking about was on the Cuban payroll.

Mr. KORNBLUH. Orlando Letelier——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Yes.

Mr. KORNBLUH [continuing]. Was the leading figure in the world
of democratic opposition to the Pinochet military dictatorship. He
was a leading force in the Chilean Socialist Party.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay.

Mr. KORNBLUH. He traveled around the world. Allende’s daugh-
ter, Tati Allende, lived in Cuba and was the treasurer of the Chil-
ean Socialist Party.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay.

Mr. KORNBLUH. When this type of Solidarity work goes on, there
are funds that get distributed. They get distributed from govern-
ments. They get raised at events around the world, Solidarity
events. And the basis for the outrageous article that you plan to
put into the Congressional Record yet again, because I have to say
that some of your predecessors like Jesse Helms put those articles
into the Congressional Record back:

Mr. ROHRABACHER. So you don’t think there is any—there is no
substance to it.

Mr. KORNBLUH. No, I am telling you what the basis is. Orlando
Letelier just had his legs blown off, and his colleague has died,
drowned in her own blood from shrapnel from the bomb that was
detonated by two anti-Castro Cubans riding in a car behind their
car. As they are dying, the District police detective picked up Or-
lando Letelier’s briefcase and took it. And he went through it, and
he found communications with Allende’s daughter in Cuba about
distribution of Solidarity money. And on the basis of that, this de-
tective then went to the conservative forces and leaked the story
that somehow Orlando Letelier was an agent of the Cuban Govern-
ment and on the Cuban Government payroll. That couldn’t be more
false.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. And you are saying Solidarity money. You
are suggesting that the Solidarity money was the source of this
story and that it was not Cuban Government money.

Mr. KORNBLUH. That is correct.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay.

Ms. BARDACH. And there was a lot of criticism——

Mr. ROHRABACHER. That is a legitimate position. I will look at it
and see if that is accurate or not. You may well be correct. But it
took you a long time to get to say that.
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Mr. KORNBLUH. And if some of that money came from Cuba, it
doesn’t necessarily mean that he is a paid agent of the Cuban Gov-
ernment.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. It took you a long time to say the money he
was receiving from that source may not have been Cuban Govern-
ment money. Now I will go look into that. If you are right, I will
be the first one to say, hey, what we have got here is this collection
plate is going around for the people in Chile, and they are trying
to help with the democratic Socialists in Chile, and that money
came from that, and all of this was just something that was a mis-
representation.

Mr. KORNBLUH. I am reluctant to engage in this debate because
it has gone on for more than—because it has been raised, you
know, every 5 or 6 years by certain forces who want to discredit
the victim and somehow get the perpetrators off.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. No. The only way you are going to protect
anybody who wants to discredit the victims is to get the truth out.
And to suggest you don’t want to engage in a dialogue to get to
that truth because you just want to dismiss it is not the way to get
the truth out. But if indeed you are correct that this was a fund
that came from non—it was not a government fund, it was actually
some kind of a volunteer socialist thing that they were trying to
get together to support the socialist forces and people contribute to
it, hey, you are right then. That should get out.

Mr. KORNBLUH. How this is relevant into looking into the crimes
of Luis Posada and Orlando Bosch I am not sure.

Mr. DELAHUNT. It isn’t. I think we have digressed. But I think
it is important.

And Peter, I would suggest that these kinds of conversations are
very productive, are very, very productive because we all, all of us
have something to learn from them, okay and only with these kinds
of conversations that are done in the kind of exchanges that maybe
are passionate but are respectful and are civil, okay, do we move
forward. Because that is what democracy is about. I yell at him all
the time. Dan Burton, who was here earlier, I mean, he happens
to be a personal friend. I can’t find anything that I agree with him
on other than let us just work it out, bang it around, do the demo-
cratic thing and have these frank and open discussions.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Can I count on you to get me the information
that will secure in my mind that your point is correct when you
say that that was not—he was not on a stipend from the Cuban
Government? Then I can refute all my conservative, right wing
friends who ever suggested that. Right now, I don’t know that.

Ms. BARDACH. Congressman Rohrabacher, it also might interest
you that periodically I am told that—this just to give you an extent
of how incredible the information that comes to one, and why one
has to be so selective and so careful with what one publishes. On
the New York Times series, we really tried to get three sources to
agree on most points because really you have so much testimony
coming that people volunteer. This just tells you that I am told
every now and then, “You know who blew up that Cubana plane?
Fidel Castro blew up that Cubana plane.” People tell me this with
the same straight face that they tell me that Luis Posada is an
agent of Castro. And they are not uneducated people. But this is
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the environment that it is just rife with rumor, intrigue and incen-
diary stories. So, you know, Peter really does have the situation.
And you can read extensively about that situation and why that
was discredited in Labyrinth and also Assassination on Embassy
Row. There is a lot of literature that will give you background.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Listen, I don’t dismiss anybody who gives me
facts. And I will tell you this. It is easy to stereotype each other.
And I will tell you right now, this may break your mold of me, but
I was a very severe opponent of Pinochet. And I was a very severe
opponent of the tactic that was used to eliminate Allende, using a
Pinochet military dictatorship. I thought Allende would have been
overwhelmingly removed from office had they just waited. And I
think that if indeed the United States Government nodded to
Pinochet and his militarists when they came up here and asked
what they should do, if our Government under Nixon nodded to
Pinochet and said, “Go ahead and do it,” that was a terrible, im-
moral thing for our Government to do. And so don’t get me wrong
about that. I am anti-dictatorship, and Pinochet overthrew a demo-
cratically elected government.

Mr. KOoRNBLUH. When I was younger, in the early 1980s, when
the issue of the U.S. Congress passing legislation that would—
when I was younger, the issue of the Letelier case came up in the
U.S. Senate. And I sat as a U.S. citizen and listened to Jesse
Helms on the floor of the U.S. Senate waving the exact same arti-
cle that you are referring to, state on the floor of the Senate that
those who live by the sword die by the sword. And that was his
position on the assassination by car bombing of Orlando Letelier
and Ronni Moffitt. And I found that sickening at the time and

Mr. ROHRABACHER. If you are right and the money that he is
talking about was not a stipend from the Cuban Government, from
a dictatorship, just like the Pinochet dictatorship, if he was not on
a stipend of the Castro dictatorship, and instead this was money,
of Solidarity money that people voluntarily put into a fund to help
other Socialists, democratic Socialists out, my hat is off to you; you
are right, that is absolutely a horrible thing for anybody to suggest
any different. I am open-minded to seeing your arguments on that
and making, if you convince me, making those same arguments to
other people.

Mr. KORNBLUH. Why should we even be discussing it now?

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Don’t confuse me with someone who is
against socialism. If people want to elect Socialists, there you go,
that is fine. And again, Allende won the elections. He was the le-
gitimate government. Anybody who used force to take that govern-
ment out is an enemy of freedom.

Ms. BARDACH. Congressman, I wanted to point out, because you
were gone I think at the time, if you want sort of a comprehensive
primer, this piece I wrote last week in the At¢lantic Monthly called,
“Twilight of the Assassins,” it is sort of chapter and verse in a
10,000 word, you don’t have to read a whole book or 20 books on
what happened on the Cubana shootdown on all sides. Principal
sources to me were Luis Posada himself, Orlando Bosch and some
of their collaborators. I always try to interview all the parties con-
cerned. And you can find things in their own words here if you
want to. And also there is some background on the Letelier case
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and what happened there. And, you know, what Posada and Bosch
told me was, “Look, you know, part of our deal in working at DISIP
in Venezuelan intelligence is we were getting so much support from
the Pinochet Government; they would ask us to do them favors now
and then.” And one of the things Orlando Bosch said to me, and
this is only 2 years ago, he said, and I am paraphrasing him be-
cause I don’t have the quote right in front of me, he said, “Oh, my
God, the Pinochet people were always bothering us to knock off
Letelier.” And Guillermo Novo, who is a very good friend of both
men and was arrested with Mr. Posada more recently, he of course
was charged with the killing, but Orlando Bosch told me this sev-
eral times, that they were always bugging him because Pinochet
had given him sanctuary to operate in Chile when he got thrown
out of Venezuela for a while. Sort of tit for tat; now you owe us
something, get rid of some of our domestic pests. And this is in the
words of Orlando Bosch. So I recommend it to you. You can read
the direct quotes and that might put your mind at rest.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. By the way, I am not suggesting that these
people that we are looking into here, any of them, especially the
main focus of our hearing today, that he in any way shares a com-
mitment to democracy simply because he is an anti-Communist or
any type—again, if he brought down this airplane, I am interested
in hearing about it, and I think it should be made clear, and he
should be treated like a murderer.

Mr. BARDACH. Again, I think you may have missed this, Orlando
Bosch has been very clear on this, not just with me but in inter-
views with Andres Oppenheimer. He was on the television just a
year or 2 ago. And he is consistently clear that he regards himself
as a freedom fighter, that the cause of bringing down Fidel Castro
means that at any means necessary. And he specifically says,
whether they are civilian targets, bringing down planes, blowing
down ships; he says nothing is off, can be ruled out, because

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Sounds like a pretty bad guy to me.

Mr. BARDACH. No, he is just saying his point of view is this is
the primary goal, and nothing can be taken off the table to achieve
it. That is his point of view, and it is shared by people of the hard
line militant stripe in that community. There are not very many
of them, but that is their belief. And they say this in their own
words, and they don’t mince words.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I think what you are telling me is, I am sure,
accurate. And those type of people I have got no sympathy with.
But also I will have to note that I realize that I don’t discount the
stories of torture and of out and out murder that has gone on with
Fidel Castro and Che Guevara and that crowd who the left roman-
ticizes all the time. And I try to be consistent. If I say, look, I know
Che Guevara and Fidel Castro did these things, what you are tell-
ing me these other people who are against them did these things,
hey, I am not for these bad guys over here just like I am not for
the bad guys over there.

Mr. BARDACH. You must recall Orlando Bosch was a very impor-
tant military commander in the Veinte-Seis de Julio movement, the
26th of July movement of Fidel Castro. He was so exemplary that
he was given the governorship of Las Villas. He then breaks with
Castro because he feels Castro has betrayed the revolution.
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. There it was.

Mr. BARDACH. And he becomes a militant to bring Castro down.
And so, at one time, they were colleagues and cohorts, and then
only to break.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. He probably, and I am just saying probably,
if he was that high up, he probably had friends who Castro mur-
dered before he fled Cuba, and that turned him into a fascist as
well, that psychological type of thing. That is not an excuse. That
is just—and I would never excuse that.

Mr. BARDACH. I would encourage you, because he speaks exten-
sively to me in his own words, it was a tape recorded interview,
and you can read him in his own words in this particular Atlantic
Monthly article.

Mr. ROHRABACHER. I will take a look. Thank you.

Mr. DELAHUNT. This hearing has turned into a conversation. And
it is going to be adjourned. And I thank all of our witnesses.

And again, Roseanne, thank you for inspiring us. And we will
dedicate our efforts to you and to all of the victims in our effort
to discover the truth. We are adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 8:25 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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T openail-type 4 bonamrs were of varieus

diag en the bonb was Lo ba

ok a pencil from w(i told me ik

Mmi che of th Jmo‘wwrﬂ he had de
in chemical is filled i tube of

I

E

i

mt the Oxg
28 vpir wnd on h
denal ohnrt pf the 3 Thds documant is
'TLURL S ror .\.dsmmf),m\i,mm e told me that he
DOHGSIN from B Yados after the plene had cvashéd
hin "friend we have problers here in
up @ plane while it is 4n ¢
1 vhether ne wn prepared Yo pud this
ne tret he wolid Ehink about it

L omerning.

Mo raques
er he drew

an

Corpor
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LETTER SUBMITTED BY THE HONORABLE BILL DELAHUNT, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CON-
GRESS FROM THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS, AND CHAIRMAN, SUB-
COMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS, HUMAN RIGHTS, AND OVERSIGHT

Junuary 11, 2008

Subcatimitiee on afernatonal Organizations,
Haman Rights »
C sitted on 1
21 Raybura House £

Washington, D.C. 20515

ce Building

Dear Members of thé Sghcommities:

Druring our recent hearing on Luis Podada aid ite Cubarg wdrliner bov
istinguished Ranking Member, M. Rohrabacher, requested inforniation on the charge by
wewspaper codumnists in 1976 1977 that documents ¥ound i a briek helonging o
Crlando Letelier at ihe scene of his murder indicated that be received money from the Cuban
Government or in some way aciest as an agent of Caba. Specifically, the
this statement by the Runking Membey;

sbussador, Mr. Letelier, was o Cuban o
wient. Atleost that &s the information L hve. 1 will subinii thai for
i And if I am wrong by that, Ty ke thal out of the Fecord

While we cannot “take out” statements frony the record. the Ranking Member and aff ofber
members of the Subcomisitte

are alwa d to provide
Y ior, of elarification of thelr views. This memorandem will
also become parof the printed record for the hiaring. T Know gt Mr. Rohrabacher

ares my
commitment o 2 foll and o before the Suboommilice,

and { hope embers will conclude that this letter pr Fplovation,
The surmmary answer {o the question 16 found i the £
wil States District Court for the Disirict of €
i States Attorney whe prosecuted the murde

siatement on Decimber
unibia by Bugene Proprer, the
Dretails abourt the issne e
emorandum are available js

ginal trom the Suboommittes,

o the FBE went ever those documents quite varefully and fornd vo evide
Letelier wds working for any government, either Chidl wr Ciban, o8 ptherwise, or
aiyihing to suggest iz niight have been,
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Subcornmittee staff recently checked with Mi. Propper to see i
to change tis opinion during the interveuing 30 years. His ansy
Letehier to death,” that he wae tar
povernment, and that sHegation

he had received any information
er way that, “we investigated
eted because be was “a pain in the 5537 o fhe Chilean

that be was a Cubancagent weee “a load of erup.”

R R

Cielando Vetelior was the forpier Chilcan ambassador and defense minisier i the democratic
government that was overthrown by General Augusto Binochiet in 1972, He was iirdered in a
car bombing along v tis coflcague at the Institute for Policy Studies, Ronnt Moffit, at
Sheridan Circle on Massachusetts. Avente Here fn Washington, just one menth hefore the Cubana
bombing.

bt

The plot 1o murder Ambassador Letelior Is eertainly an appropriate topic to disciss in fhe
context of our Subcommittee’s mvestigation of the Cubana boinbing, A number of the alleged
plotters of the Letelier-Moffit murders, such as Orlando Bosch, and actual convicted
perpetratons, such as Guillermo Novo, ave been ac used, jaited, and i some cases comvicted
ahong with Mir. Posada io some of the dozens of acts of political violence against ¢ivilian gkt
that T hiay boen sccased ol in his 40-year career as 4 ferrorist:

* 4 declassified CIA cable displayed at the bearing by Peter Kombiuk of the National
£y Avchive stated that “a former Veneruehan Govertment offioial whe sgif

viose relationships with government officials. ..{and) is s usually reliable

told the CIA that ata dinner attended by My, Posada at some point between the

come out of te

This cable is Ty your

* The organization Dr. Bosch is referring to appears o be fhe anti-Castro militant
coalition CORL, which he established in June 1976 at s meeting of wilitant groups inthe
Dowrinican Republic. The Cuban National Movemest, whose members included
CGaitlermo Novo, took part fu this founding meeting and in the CORU coalition,
According to a tist compiied in one of the fwo detailed books on the Cubana borbing,

i .on Embassy Row, by Johin Dinges and Saul Landaw, CORU claimed credit
ang bombing, and CORU members planeed and cenducted a series of at keast
viotent aitacks un individuals and offices of Cuban entities (inctuding threg

attacks on Cnbana planes or offices prior to the bombing the subcommitive is
investigating) or of entities of governments thought to be fiteadly to Caba or Yostile to

CORU.

* & few days fator, according fo the CTA cable, the sane source reported that Mr. Posada
stated that "we are going to hit s Cubun airplane... Orlando haz the detaiin” Otiando
Bosch was arrested with Mr. Posads for plotting the Cabana hombing, bt was asquited
after a Venezuelan court rufed inadutissabie the case files from the police in Barbados
and Trinidad and Tobage. Thess files inctuded statements by the two men who wers
arrested for careying out the bomibing, and who were convicted of related charges in
Veremvels, Hernan Ricardo and Freddy Luges. These two men ackaovdledgod thas they
ployed by Mr. Posada and thar they tried to call im aud Dr. Bosch after the

. According to U.S. Government documetts, D, Bosch has been arrested for
wrnbings in the United States, convicted of u terrorist mitack 18 3 U8, court,
atified by Aitorney General Rickard Thoraborgh as an “unrepentant terrorist.
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* Aceording o snother witness at our hearing, iousnalist Ann Bardach, Yenezusian
wEpApers teported that police found a map of Washington, D, with Leickicr’s driving
 to work highliphted, i Posada’s horwe or office when searching 1t after arrestir
i for the Cibana nonvhmg Also i this search, us My, Kornbluhb testifisd, ihe police
ford a “scouting report” ’s vinployee Hernan Ricardo, which
i ails on the Cuby 4 of bombing. The

1 report was also displayed zzr he s it your hearing materials,

hearingq and

3, cenvicted (o the Lelelier-MofGit bombing, was alge convicted with
Mr. Posada in Panama in 2000 in a bomb plot,

while e was i
o wis cartied oul

dcv;_log,m catis d scw,u! in ml tina ch apie miui “i st Leads” i ihe uthw detailed
book on the Moffitc bombing, 1 xt'mnm v V{r I’re);? er and qm\.ﬁ Cm} !"Yi‘!s
historisn Taylor Braneh. Subconmmitic
comfirned that he bad t aw,l'a o Venezuelaas a z\,mheﬁ Ehes,cc N, aml \hfzt while he
was toable 1o arraiige an ; wi Bosch under conditions thal would be

fuks who had spokes w
1 an imiportant advance in his effort to solve the Letelior-Moffit

X pﬁ“ddn‘r\t of Venenaela,
Carios A A a5, Viron Vaky,
And e 4 E ich had "heen movxd i information regarding
Chil i

RRLEREE

it froms this record that the T u‘u,lwrvMof Fitt and Cubana bombings were rslated as
being part of the same series of violent sltucks against perceived enemies ca
daals in the mdlitant Cuban exile commumnity who were associated with (“(‘r?\U

indiy

sador Letilier™s b mfuaﬂ“ as nioted above, United States
ctof Cohunbia by Bugene Propper, the it Tinited States
Attorney who prosec ut-:zd sthb murder case, states that the FBI Jid ¢ the ents carefolly,
and detide that there was no substance to the charge that Ambassador

< funds or instructions or wag bn any way an agent of the Caban Governmest:

M g éq the cmfcnm of Ambias

the FBEwenr over those 1/(1< umenss guiie carefully ond found no evidis
‘e’!w Ry ,mmm:q 3 erament, either Chilean or Cuban, or ptherwise, o7
;[g;"zf s‘;a‘-;e? been.

Th icraenl i contained iy the offieial cowrt vecord of 2 Davembier 13, |
i Anerica va. Guillermo Nove Sanpol, Alvin Ross Di
kearing. attorneys for the defendants requested a
oureds that accerding fo newspaper colurras they

Saim

briefease, on the

miained evidene that
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indicaie that Ambassador Letelier bad “ties o {oreign governments and foreign intelligence
agencies, possibly. . (and) that My, Letelior was Tn contact with and perhaps working for the
Cuban Goveenment”

The defense atiomneys further stated that:

Therve yow o leiter supposed?y in the case from « Tari Allende, whe Tigd boen the
dasghier; ay ! understond, the daughter of the former presideny o)
; . 1 wndersiand theve was material in there indicated he vay
ing paid certain amounts of money., (1) such documents gre contadied within the
aiteschd case, they.are certainly velevant to M. Letelier's associarions with fore,
suvessments gy an alternarive theory af to ow he was assa
assassinied,

Chile bofore e hud

ign

sinated and why fie was

The defense aliorneys wore fnvoking a priticiple known as “Brady,” frowt a Supreme
Court case that stated that the grosecuting suthorities wust provide to the defense any materials
that would tend to assisi defendants. In opposing the request to provide the materials fo the
ase, which had been rofned as personal effects to the widow of Ambassador Letelier, the
wr, Propper, made the following stafement:

progecuto, §

I have personally viewed {the conterias) Your Hoswr. By that, T measn § e
viewed the Xero, wents. {took the original bricfease and yive is te: the FRI Pecause
v wimidzd fo check it for fingerprines and things like that, .. We will acknowledie (Tati
fej wrote to hip as a friends and we acknowledge the fewers in theve iy har,
And sheis mareied 1o somebody who lives in Caba state that the FBRI wens
er those docinents quite carefully omd found so evidence o M7, Litelier was
working for any government, citirer Chilean or Cribe ing to
KugRess e siight have Deen. Now, some people in the press pui Intespretaiions upew if;

@ personally

RN

this défi

wor the FBI ar the TS antorney’s office
for cxample, he had an addre
Hnited Shotes und all over the wor

found relevent 1o ihis tase ather Han e fact

n tigre with names of people olf overthe

b

Agzeording 16 As mbassy Row, the documenis that are being refe
the defense atlorneys appear 1o have been an account book and g felie
Thig book guotes the docunents, so 1 assume that the authers were provided sccess tn them by
the Lefelier family. According lo this book, at Jeast one of the two colums that cited and in
soive cases quoted fromn the decumients gppear to bave gotten aceess o thene from an aide to
Senator Jesse Huelms, who in ture recetyved then from a Washington, DO, homivide sergeant who
had made & copy of some of the conlents, According to this book, the accosnt book row
fetlows:

il i By
fonind in the brigfonse.

eixpense sheet - il Getober 1975, Received: ¥ for

petvmenis. gfte

33,060 af the Beginning of the veaers. and the othe 0 i My 1975, Totad voce
@0 Ay
$E, G0,

The fetter, from the danghter of the late President Allende, allepedly read ay follows:
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v,

& (875
Dewr Oiviando:

{ Retivwt Shot Adraumiranc wards to conlirissiicate with you fo offer a sedution i the
proplenss gl Tuve arisen there, and he has asked me to Infors: you that, from here, we will send
Yo, i the ndme ef the puvy, @ thowsand dollars ($1,000) per mongh to sipport vour work. am
sending vou five thousands now inorder not to-have to send it moniidy.

A big hug Jor vou wnd Ssabel Margasiia from, . Tani

Pleusis niote the followiig iden

= “Oplando” is clearly Ambassadar Letelier; |,

Teamienny” s Carlos Allamirane, the General Seeretany of the Chiléan Socialist
Parly, who is in exite and, ironically, also uader an assassitation ordey fions the
Chilsmy sectet police,

= “the party” wou
R tosup
fepitimate g

tappear to be the Chilean Soctalist Party, which raises money i
port the work of its adheronts who, of course, sl coosider themsalves 1
vernment of Chile,

‘s wif

kuame of Beatrice Allende, Allende’s daughivr, who mapried &

nd fived in Caoba at the dme.

= “laabel Margara” s Lete]
W “Toti” is the i

Lub

O Dreeimber 20, 1976, cotomnists Jack Auderson and Les Whitton stated i & coluia it The
i fed “Leteliers Havana Comnection,” that the briefease contained these two
dacunen y included a statement by Letelier’s widow, Isabel, that the funds in questi
camz from the Chifean political party, and not the Cuban Goversment, Anderson and Whitten
agreed that the Alewde letter made that clear, bur wrofe that: “Intetligence sowrees contend that
money-couldi’t ave been transmitted to Letelaior with Cuban government’s apy

- 16, 1977, colomnists Rowland Evans and Bobert Nevak printed & shinilar siory
tnglon Post tited “Letelior’s Political Fund.” According to Dinges and Landay, their
510 the dovumients was provided by Senator Helms® aide Yoha Ca
bas acknowledged him ds hissource-in bis recent autobiography. The Bl
vvak eiied the letter from “Tati” and said that the money she mentioned was & “payment
ba, approved by Altawirano.” On this basis, Evans and Novak coneloded thag
ported by “fimds from Cuba.”

i &

signed a reporter, Lee Lescaze, to investigate the story, and he

was provided access tw the briefease v Ambassador Leteliers lawyer. His concluston,

i o story o Pebraary 17, 1977, titled “Briefease Opened to Press; Tantalizing Hints Dimmed ™

was that the eolumaises “Toltowed the darkest interpretation of the scanty material” However,
Ar. Bvans continued o teake sach interpretations in his recerit aviobjography.

Another aathor, Rael Jeao Isaac, o the magazine piblished by the Theodor
Herd Foundation te 1980, reforred to the earlier cotunms and wrote that Ambassador Lotelier
was “ait ‘unregistered” agent recelving payments from Cuba,” Responding o that article, fhe
director and the chairean of the Board of Trustes of the Instinte for Policy Studies cited the
statement i open court by Assistant United States Aftorney Propper. and added:
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I fact she money which Letlier recei wd from Beairice Allende, Allena
at the dme lived in exile in Cuba with her Cuban usband, was p
ehairches end nnions Browghout Wesiern Enrope to suppart Chilean refugees ad the
bz fe Lhe New York Times and T o5t and

erent for o desceratic Chil
every other legitimete news sowrces whick has bwvestiguted the chargs hus ayreed that it
Japrivarion.

ie's danghier who
funds vaised froom

i a groundle:

Nobody, of oourse, van rule out the possibility that furids from govesaenis friendly to the exiled
Chileans found ihelr way into the coflers of the Chilean Socialist Party, Hves if they bad, this
would et necessarily indicate to me that Ambassador Letelier was an agent of such
govermugent. For example, the United States passed funds to pro-denitoeracy movements in
Eastern Hurope throughout the Cold Way, up (0 and including the Solidariiy trade union
movernent in Poland to fhe 1980°s. Both Sweden and the Soviet Union funded the aperations of
ihe Adrivan National Coagress during its years of exile, Yet ¥ would certainly never consider
Lech Walesa or Nelson Mandela, Noble Peace Prize winners recognized as heroes devoted to
their countries’ democratic futures, to have been agents of any forcign power, and my guess s
that the miembers of the Subcommiittee would agree with me.

BILL DELAHUNT

Chairman

Subcomnmuittee on
ntmnational Organizations,
Human Rights and Oversigit

Wirerfep
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LETTER SUBMITTED BY THE HONORABLE DANA ROHRABACHER, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

N CHRISTOMHER H. SN, R Jrnsry.
wSateA ONE SUNDRED 'ERNT1 CONGRENS Do, e

CONGRESS OF THE UNITED STATES
COMMITTEE ON FORTIGN AFFAIRS
LLS. HOUSE OF REFRESHNTATIVES
Wastangron, DC 20515

TE

HITP

GONEr (102) 225
GERIGMAFE

January 30, 2008

i i
P e s,

Members of the Iniethadonal Oreanizations, Fimai Rights,
and Oversight Subcomumittee

House Foreign Sffairs Committee

2170 Raybur House Office Building

Washington, DC 20050

Dear Subcotinnitiee Members:

During the November 15, 2007 subeommittes hearing info the statiss of Cub
Posada Carriies, 1 noted there were published reports suggesting that former Chilean ambassador
Orlando Letelier — whase assassination has been tied to Posada Carriles’s associates - Wi
hinself an agent of arou the payroll of the Cuban Conimunist dictaiorship.

Freadily admitted then, and do now, that 1 kave not done (he secessary reseatch 1o reach
a vonfident conclusion ou this charge. T is a charge, however, that dessrves consideration wheti
trying fo determine the nature of Luis Posada Carriles. Dn the time in quastion, the Cuban
dictatorship and iy agents were engaged in a murderous back and forth war with Cuban exiles
who soughi to brin
himsell, had fought with Castro and was betr when Castro ereated an iron fisted conunivnist
dictatorship and ailied tis regime with the Soviet Union and other Marxist Leninis: dictalorships.

down the Castro regime and restore democracy 1o Cube. Posada Careiles,

Castro had declared war on his own people, especiafly those exil
i, Not dissimilar was General Pinochet’s brutal anti-commusist d
these regimes committed horrible crimes against their people and were at war with exile
copymunities. When analyzing Posada Cariles or any other figure i the rky bloodletting of
that day, it is fair to ask as 1 the nature of those who were targeted. Yes, Castro targeted
democratic 4ctivists - not only Cuban exiles but also non Communist democrats in Venezola
and clsewhera in the Anwericas. If Letelicr, ther, was financed by the Castro vegime, it is
relevani,

¢s who dared 1o oppose
atorship in Chile. Botl of

T note fhat Chaivinan Delohunt has made 4 good case for the »
sot a Coban agent or on the payroll of the Cubas government. Letelior's murder, if Chairman
Delafunt is correct, was an act of terrorism, perhaps at the bohest of Pinochiet™s repressive

egime in Chile. While acknowledging that Chairman Delabunt may be cotrect, Lwould snggest,
itis not rrativiral to quostion that conclusion. As a former prosecutor, Chairman Delabunt may
be inclined o totally pt the avalysis of the federal prosecutor in the Posada Carriles case, btit

outent that Leteher was
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T am atways coucemed when evidence, tike the o
defense and characiorized as hrelevant by the

mtents of Letelior’s brief

ecution,

e, are kepi from the

In'the ¢ase made against Posada Cauiles, as Chairman Delahunt decumented, s
prosecutor characterized the evidence in Leteli fease as itrelevant, bt the defense never
saw . We know that some docuruents in the briefeuse revealed payment made to Letelier froni
the daughter of President Allende. She was residing in Cuiba. The Runds, iowever, could well
have been, as Chaioman Delalunt suggests, donations from non-compannist sources who were
sympathetic to the vawse of testoring democracy to Chile, Yes, that could well be true. After
reading Chairman Delabunt™s description, however, Tmust still conclude that Letelier may have
had a financial retationship with Casteo™s Cuban & 1ip, and that is not rrelevant. One ttem
that should be of concern was the refusal of the prosecutors to permit the defense {rom cven
seeing Lefelier's address book, which may have contatned the names of knows Cuban agents.

th

All of this comes as the eredibility of one of the primary witnesses in our Movember 15
2007 hearing, Blake Fleetwood, is sow called into question. This witness has. for decades, been
a source of serious accusations against Posada Carriles concernir leged vole in the
bombing of a Cubana airliner. Under questioning, it appeass that this witoess had, since 1976,
mischaracterized sintements allegedly made by Posada Cattiles about any role he may have
played in blow p the plane,

Contrary (o all the inferenc

5 of M. Fleetwood”s testituony, Posadae Cariles never
admitted to a personal involvement ia the bombing. In fact, under questioning in our Nov
15% hearing, Mr. Fleetwood stated that he never asked Posada Cavriles about his direct
fnvoivement in the bombing. However, a ttanseript of the inlerview revesls that not to be trug
and that Posada Carriles actually denied any snvolverment when asked several tivues about the
downing of the ait i
regime itself may we
support the wilness's suggestion that Posada Cawrtles had o hand in the sidine bombing,
Coincidentally, Posada Caerilés alse denivs nvolvement iu the Letelier bombing.

Al of this considered, nu one shiould conclude, us one of the witnesses obviousty did, that
Lam in any way sympathetic to the Pinochet dictatorship or that T would ignore sach inexcusable
acts of terrorism as the bombing of « Caban, or any other, airliner.

My strong belief i hutran rights alse leads e to demand the Guth and expect a certain
tevel of evidence before w series of charpes are aceepted as fact. With due adn on and
respect for Chadrmman Delabunt, the hearing of own our subcommiites was not definitive enouh
to convince nie fhat Luis Posada Carriles is. a mutderods terrorist instoad of a Cuban exile trying
to bring democracy {0 his country and prevent Communist dictatorships from taking hold in
other Latin Ametics countties. Did be cross the line into murderous terrorism? Our hearing did
not prove Hat,

Sincerely,

O, %ﬁﬂmﬁm&@u 4,

Dana Robeabacher
Ranking Migority Member

{.
o}
o,




